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Chairman’s Statement

ERHES

Going forward, the Group shall forge ahead towards
the set goals — “Narrating Hong Kong’s Story” while
achieving excellent performances and results as well as
aiming to become one of the leading media and
telecommunications network operators in Hong Kong.
Zﬁ’iiﬁﬂi%@%%i? MY B RKIE AT » [T BB
HWE | BRAEE  SHERATBAELHNEEBRER

e ,.\%%EP-%Z- WEREBE

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry
Chairman

ERALE L

By

Dear Shareholders,

As concluded in the Chairman’s Statement last year, “i-CABLE is ready
to embark on its new journey.” Time flies, we have ventured into this
new journey. The past year was a year of major global changes. Against
the backdrop of the Russian-Ukrainian war, inflation and interest rate
hikes, unstable international geopolitics and potential European energy
crisis, we faced the gloom while seeing the silver lining, entering the
post-pandemic era of the world. Moreover, 2022 was a year of bold
transformation for i-CABLE Communications Limited (the “Company”
or "i-CABLE"), its subsidiaries and consolidated structured entities
(collectively the “Group”). With the support of all staff and parties, the
businesses of the Group have experienced a positive growth and
development in various aspects and achieved a number of
breakthroughs and milestones, which not only laid a favorable and
solid foundation for the expansion of customer base, but also wrote a
new chapter for the media industry and broadcasting history in Hong
Kong.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHESE

We have to enhance and strengthen our own capabilities and
foundation against the increasingly challenging environment.
Therefore, in November 2022, the Group launched HOY Infotainment
(Channel 78), an all-new free-to-air news and infotainment channel, to
strengthen its media business and expand its influence. HOY
Infotainment has a young and energetic vibre, which provides
audiences with high-quality and diverse local and international
programmes, covering four major areas: news, global finance, sports
news and infotainment. Among which, the infotainment programmes
are produced by the dedicated and reputable i-CABLE News team,
which have always been highly regarded by Hong Kong audience.
Concerted team effort creates success and values for the Group. In
October 2022, another free television (the “Free TV") channel of the
Group, Channel 77, also underwent a complete rebrand with a new
channel name of HOY TV and a new channel logo. Programme line-up
has been upgraded to launch more outstanding programmes, bringing
a new identity, new experience and new enjoyment to the audience.
Many of the self-produced and acquired programmes launched by
HOY TV have gained favourable reviews. Channel 78 and Channel 77
are expected to escalate the development of the Group’s media
business to another new stage.

In fact, since the Group was officially approved by the government to
use the Free-to-Air TV spectrum as an additional means of transmission
in February 2022, coupled with the fixed network that has been in use
all along, it has enabled almost all areas in Hong Kong to receive the
Group's three Free TV channels. As of September 2022, the signal
coverage has reached approximately 99% of Hong Kong population. In
addition, as the content provider and exclusive commercial airtime
sales distributor for the MTR Corporation Limited (“MTR") In-train TV,
with the opening of the East Rail Line cross-harbour extension last year
and based on the average weekday patronage of the MTR in December
2022, it is estimated that an equivalent of approximately 4.4 million
people were watching our programmes every day. With “customer-
centric” and “quality focus” as our core purposes, we will continue to
produce high-quality programmes and acquire popular overseas
content for audience to win customers’ satisfaction and to increase our
viewership.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHES

The Internet world is another main battlefield for us. The Facebook
pages operated by the Group, in total, have accumulated more than 2
million followers as at 31 December 2022. The number of
engagements on the main Facebook pages (HOY, i-CABLE News,
i-CABLE Life and i-CABLE Health) reached approximately 110 million in
2022, representing an increase of 90% as compared to that of 2021. In
addition, we have successfully revamped our websites and mobile
applications of i-CABLE and HOY in 2022. Together with the content
enrichment, the monthly active users of HOY's website and mobile
application in 2022 increased by approximately 46% as compared to
that of 2021, and the monthly active users of i-cable.com in 2022 also
has an approximately 136% increment as compared to that of 2021.
We shall cherish and leverage our hard-earned achievements
effectively. The Group continues to consolidate its in-base business and
drive for future growth through enhancing its internet presence
continuously.

In view of the rapidly changing media landscape and the fierce
competition among the global pay television (the “Pay TV") operators
and paid TV content providers in recent years, after reviewing the
business portfolio, Hong Kong Cable Television Limited ("HKC"), a
subsidiary of the Company, was granted approval by the Government
for the termination (the “Licence Termination”) of the domestic pay
television programme service licence (the "Pay TV Licence”) on 14
February 2023. HKC expects to terminate its Pay TV broadcast on 1
June 2023. The Group will continue to drive for strategic transformation
by focusing its resources on media business more effectively, to
enhance the quality, competitiveness and influence of our Free TV
channels and multimedia services as well as to construct an open
media platform for Hong Kong's public. HKC's talents and resources
can be more flexibly utilised and invested in the business development
of Free TV programmes, multimedia platforms, broadband
telecommunications service, telephony services, network construction
and mobile services.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHESE

The turbulent year of 2022 has passed. Looking forward to 2023, in
which opportunities and challenges coexist, we will invest more
resources in exploring new areas in social network platforms and digital
media, as well as further develop and enhance the three Free TV
channels, including Hong Kong International Business Channel
(Channel 76), HOY TV (Channel 77) and HOY Infotainment (Channel 78).
With the advent of the third-generation Internet world, digital media
shall become the next new wave. | believe Free TV channels are still the
most watched media platform with the largest volume of audience as
well as greatest loyalty and influence. Moreover, we are committed to
make the best effort to broadcast “The 19th Asian Games Hangzhou
2022" (the “Asian Games”) in September this year. i-CABLE has secured
the exclusive broadcasting rights of the Asian Games in Hong Kong
region for seven consecutive years, which not only is an honor of the
Group, but also represents a proof of its capability. During the Asian
Games, apart from broadcasting this grand sports event through its
Free TV channels and multimedia platforms, the Group will also strive
to cooperate with various sectors in Hong Kong to promote this
important event, in order to bring an Asian Games fever to Hong Kong.
At the same time, it is expected to expand new audience base for the
Group and further consolidate its leading position as the best sports
broadcaster in Hong Kong.

This year marks the 30" year of i-CABLE business operations. We are
committed to our initial aspirations over these years. | would like to
express my sincere gratitude to all our devoted colleagues, loyal
customers, trusted business partners and shareholders. Only with your
continued strong support over the years, the Group is able to thrive
and flourish through hard times. Even in the past difficult year, we were
able to stand against the storm and scale the heights. Going forward,
the Group shall forge ahead towards the set goals — “Narrating Hong
Kong's Story” (& 45 &8 8 % ) while achieving excellent performances
and results as well as aiming to become one of the leading media and
telecommunications network operators in Hong Kong.

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2023
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Business Review
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WHO WE ARE

The Group is an integrated communications services provider in Hong
Kong, commanding one of the largest and most influential television
audience and communications service user base in town.

It owns and operates one of the near-universal wireline
telecommunications network in Hong Kong to provide media and
telecommunications services to over 2 million households.

It is also one of the producers of television and multimedia content for
distribution over conventional and new media based in Hong Kong,
with a particular focus on news and information, sports and
entertainment.

BUSINESS STRATEGY

The Group endeavours to sharpen its services to attain higher customer
satisfaction, which in turn drives business and revenue performance.
Specifically, the Group pursues the following:

(@)  toacquire, produce and distribute quality content meeting local
tastes and needs;

(b)  to invest in infrastructure, network and delivery platforms to
enhance service level and customer convenience;

() tounlock the value of our infrastructure as well as programming
assets for cross-platform and international distribution; and

(d)  to continuously better our processes and procedures to always
stay cost-effective.
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Business Review
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

2022 was another challenging year as Hong Kong was clouded by the
fifth wave of the novel coronavirus pandemic (the “COVID-19"). The
business operating conditions in all sectors were obstructed by the
stringent social distancing measures and the slowdown in economic
activities. The Hong Kong economy saw a continuous deterioration
and contraction. The prolonged border closures, the stagnant tourism-
related business and poor appetite in local consumption have led to
deeper contraction of the overall economy. Advertising revenue on TV,
together with the advertising revenue on the MTR In-train TV, of the
Group was severely affected in 2022. The increasing availability of paid
content produced by local, regional and global competitors continued
to drive down market price to consumers and stifle competition. The
evolving products and experience provided by other players continued
to draw customers from the Pay TV subscription base. Besides, the
media business of the Group remained tough in light of the intensified
competition among various multimedia platforms.
Telecommunications business activities were further hit hard by the
lockdowns and resultant social distancing measures. A sharp reduction
of customer flow affected the direct sales and promotion activities.
Services installation, network upgrade and construction plans have also
largely slowed down. Severe competition among the
telecommunications operators in Hong Kong has led to continuous

price reduction. Despite the tough operating environment, the Group’s
broadband customers base remained comparably stable in 2022 amid
the COVID-19.

Customers
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
Media

Though the Group was facing this tough economic and social
environment, the Group upheld professionalism and corporate
responsibility as one of the integrated communications service
providers in Hong Kong. With continuous investment, the Group
devoted resources in transforming media operations and bringing
better content and spectrum coverage to the respected audiences and
customers.

In summary, the Group has the following key media achievements in
2022:

Completion of the free-to-air TV spectrum coverage expansion
to approximately 99% of the Hong Kong population in
September 2022, enabling the Group to serve most local TV
audiences. Increased coverage provided it with more business
opportunities and deeper market penetration.

Produced a series of new customer-centric and diverse content
to improve engagement and promoted the importance of
“Narrating Hong Kong's Story” (54 iF & 7 15 ).

KERIE (#)
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (continued)
Media (Continued)

T MK oD 4r
KERIT (®)

HE @)

Successfully launched a new consumer facing brand "HOY” and
transformed Channel 77 “Hong Kong Open TV to "HOY TV,
representing that the Group aims high while keeping the
pronunciation “HOY” the same as “ [ " in Cantonese to retain the
cultural characteristics of Hong Kong.

Successfully launched a new free-to-air news and infotainment
Channel 78, "HOY Infotainment”, on 21 November 2022.

Acquired the exclusive broadcasting rights of the Asian Games in
Hong Kong, which will be held in Hangzhou, the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC") in September 2023. This year also
marked the seventh consecutive year of the Group being the
official broadcaster of the Asian Games.

Maximised viewership and media influence through upgrade
and revamp of digital media platforms.

FRIh i E AR B & M mEIHOY ] K77 el &
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These activities and initiatives raised public awareness of the Group's
presence in free-to-air TV platforms in late 2022 and undoubtedly
paved the way for the Group's media business in 2023.

19th Asian Games
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
Media (Continued)
Committing to Society

Leveraging the media power and influence, the Group shouldered its
own social responsibility to bring positive energy to the society and
Hong Kong citizens and has been the first broadcaster in Hong Kong to
produce a series of edutainment live programmes to support Hong
Kong people in the course of fighting against the fifth wave of the
COVID-19. Below are the key programmes the Group produced in 2022:

To entertain Hong Kong citizens who chose to stay at home
during the fifth wave of the COVID-19, the Group launched the
campaign of “CABLE x HKOTV Stay with you Fight Against
Pandemic’ (B 4% - BB ER FBIRERFLM), through
which the Group catered to Hong Kong citizen’s information
need in relation to the COVID-19 in multiple aspects.

A live programme, “Keep Fighting Virus” (2 3, $11 5& 3% e 1),
was produced which provided and clarified health information
and aimed to ease public concern.

A live programme, “CABLE Stars Lesson” (B R 2R 2 E @ &R
Z gym), was produced in which Hong Kong athletes were invited
to teach the public how to do exercise at home to stay healthy.

Over 150 celebrities were gathered to record cheering video
clips endorsed in the anti-epidemic project, and more than 40
medical professionals worked together to compose and perform
the song “Never Give Up" (" & i #) to salute our medical
community.

RERIT (@)
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
Media (Continued)
Committing to Society (Continued)

Viewer-centric programmes like "Cooking in Pandemic” (& E
H) & %), and “Anti-pandemic Quick Tips” (31 7% 8 A £) were
produced to provide viewers with cooking tips and health
information while staying home.

The Group also produced its first co-production documentary,
“Combat COVID-19" (J&EZRF Z)), in collaboration with Guangdong
Television.

Uniting and Narrating Hong Kong'’s Story

In celebrating the 25" anniversary of the establishment of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region (the "HKSAR") of the PRC, the
Group produced a series of special programmes including “A 25-Year
Journey” (ZE 8 25 FF) and “A 25-Year Journey: Exclusive Interview” (&
254 + B RF), which contained interviews with politicians and
business entrepreneurs who witnessed the changes of Hong Kong
over the past 25 years. A drama series, “Stories of Lion Rock Spirit” (%
F I T B9 ) E), were telecasted to tell the resilient and struggling
story of Hong Kong ordinary people over the past three decades,
representing the collective memory of Hong Kong people’s famous
“Lion Rock Spirit”. Grasping this moment, the Group created a series of
marketing solutions initiatives and tailored new advertising packages
to government sectors and commercial clients to support the
celebration of the 25™ anniversary of the establishment of the HKSAR
and noticed an upsurge in the advertising revenue on TV and
sponsorship revenue, and MTR In-train TV advertising revenue.

EREEENERAT —B-—EER

RERIT (@)

HEE |

HESHE)
BHUBBALNGE  GINGEERHES) K
(REBAD)  AERBRIZH=ZT+ REE
B o
AEBFAEREEEG A LFAREE DA R
S P (R ) o

BiE—B BIFEBHS

EENTBREEFNTRE((EEFRDKI-_tH
BEZE  AERERECGERSFIRCGEBLF &
FEIDEFE-RIERE R - BREBRRARRRE
T8 BEEEBEBFROEE - ERBIEHT

WIS E) BEF A NADEETBITH = TEHOK
2 E2RBFBATETEN BT ILEMN] - REEE
RBRE#  SBEAEEREREFHIE —RIEHER
TRIEEFFEEZNESER  NERBBRHEKL
“ThRF ERESBAREBRANAREHER
BERESBAKBRET -

13



14

i-CABLE Communications Limited Annual Report 2022

Business Review

¥ EER

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
Media (Continued)
Expanding Reach

The Group obtained formal approval from the Communications
Authority of Hong Kong granting Fantastic Television Limited to use
the free-to-air TV spectrum broadcasting as an additional means of
transmission for the delivery of the Group's Free TV service in February
2022.0n 1 April 2022, Channel 77 and Channel 76 were transmitted via
the free-to-air TV spectrum. On 21 November 2022, Channel 78 was
launched and transmitted via the free-to-air TV spectrum. The signal
coverage of the free-to-air TV spectrum successfully reached
approximately 99% of the Hong Kong population in September 2022.
Such substantial spectrum coverage enabled the Group to serve the
most Hong Kong audience and provide more diversified programme
choices to Hong Kong households. It directly enhanced the Group's
competitiveness and expanded reach among various multimedia
platforms.

Additionally, the Group had dedicated resources in developing digital
media channels to expand the reach and increase audience
engagement. The Facebook pages operated by the Group, in total,
have accumulated more than 2 million followers as at 31 December
2022, reaching over 43 million users. Together with the dynamic
content strategy in social media, the number of engagements on the
main Facebook pages (HOY, i-CABLE News, i-CABLE Life and i-CABLE
Health) reached 110 million engagements on Facebook in 2022,
representing an increase of 90% as compared to that in 2021.

The Group launched a new mobile application for HOY in June 2022 to
facilitate mobile viewing experience. Viewers can watch Channel 77
and 78's popular programmes on demand and enjoy 24-hour live
broadcast through the Mobile App “HOY". Mobile App “i-CABLE News
— News & Lifestyle” (B4R — #1E - M REFEFAFE) had
accumulated over 860,000 downloads while “i-CABLE Mobile” (i-CABLE
7t E) hR), containing subscribed content, had accumulated over 1.4
million downloads as at 31 December 2022.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (continued)
Media (Continued)
Continuous Transformation and Diversification

Following on the expansion of audience reach through free-to-air TV
spectrum and the multimedia channel delivery, the Group launched
consumer-facing brand "HOY" in the fourth quarter of 2022. First, “Hong
Kong Open TV Channel 77, was renamed as “HOY TV" in October 2022
to provide the channel with a new identity, personalities, and content
directions. Under the well-publicised campaign “ 2 H #1t  E 1K
M, HOY TV produced quality, diversified and viewer-centric programmes
to “Narrating Hong Kong's Story” ( 8247 &8 13 ). Second, HOY Infotainment
(HOYE &L &) Channel 78, was officially launched in November 2022 to provide
Hong Kong households with a new free-to-air news and infotainment
channel. To demonstrate the Group’s commitment to producing the
best quality free-to-air news programmes to the respected audience,
the Group has renovated the News studio in Cable TV Tower. In
addition to the original three LED screens, AR (Augmented Reality)
technology has been introduced, which expands the current studio
space as well as our visionary infinitely. Under the Group’s value
proposition of “Spotlight on Hong Kong. Eye on the World”, HOY
Infotainment joined hands with the reputable i-CABLE News team and
provided audience with first-hand quality local and international news
as well as global financial updates, sports news and infotainment,

which were very well-received by the audience. This brought the
Group’s media operation and Hong Kong television industry to a new
chapter. In addition, the Group has been realigning and diversifying
the contents of its three Free TV channels, including Hong Kong
International Business Channel (Channel 76), HOY TV (Channel 77) and
HOY Infotainment (Channel 78), to meet audiences’ needs.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (continued)
Media (Continued)
Content Enrichment

The Group has strived to maintain its competitive edge by providing
channel and content diversity to audience.

Below are some of the Group’s diverse and distinctive programmes
produced and acquired by HOY TV in 2022, which include drama,
lifestyle, health, infotainment and so forth, and have contributed to the
increase in viewership and attracted advertising revenue on TV and
sponsorship.

Drama: Hong Kong-produced drama “In the Storm” (B¢ @),
starring Raymond Lam (#£2 ) and Chrissie Chau (JEF5#5).

Lifestyle: "Theme Cook” (& & COOK), "Farmer Martin” (5 /8
JREK), “Noodle Bowls" (#2#5 R BI4E), “Departure Again” (37
i %), "Far Away from Home" (B 45 Bl # 59 # =), “Top 10 of
Asia Taiwan" (22 I TOP TEN & &) and “Good Deal in Japan
(Tokyo)" ( B [Bl 5 E g (RR)).

Health: ‘Fit to the Road” (FitfFd & {§& &), “Osamu Hayashi's
=S ER

Lecture” ({2 FEJR A 5% D) and "Kaka's Home Clinic” (32 53 28 /&
BBhIE).

Infotainment: "City Focus” (— 48 3 &), the first community-
centred programme of the Group, highlighting latest social
issues. In line with HOY TV's long-standing mission of “Serving
the Needs of Audiences”, the programme had revealed more
than 300 community issues by the end of December 2022.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (continued)
Media (Continued)
Content Enrichment (Continued)

ERRBRBANERAT —TE-FFR

RERIT (@)
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Reality Show: "YOUNIVERSE" (#72 & &), the first talent show
to provide a platform for Hong Kong young talents to discover
their dreams and excel their potentials.

Success story: “Girl Boss” (B & 1R ) and “Mui's Cafe 2" (Fi &
MIBEE 2) were produced to promote women's success stories.

HOY Infotainment provided audience with impartial and high-quality
local news, global finance, sports, and infotainment programmes,
including “World Living" (2t f B {E ), “Money and Wisdom” (B4 %5 -
E{F), "Let's Talk” (B2 A 1818), “China Express” (FR BIFE4R), “Anchor’s
Focus” (FEFER /). To create truly inclusive programmes for audiences
with different needs, HOY Infotainment also featured the first sign
language programme “News Report in Sign Language” (3 38 ¥ & &
&).

Hong Kong International Business Channel (HKIBC), Free TV Channel
76, provides audience with English news bulletins that cover the day’s
top local and international stories, Bloomberg, English business and
current events programmes including “All About Money”, “Talk the
Walk", and Mandarin financial programmes “Money Buzz", “Market
Express” and "Wealth Touch”. Live broadcasts of important events
including the “Global Financial Leaders’ Investment Summit” (B [ &
Bt <B M & & & &) were also televised through the channel.
Additionally, an all-new informative light-hearted English talk show
“Friday Beyond Spotlights”, was aired to provide the global business
audience with facts and insights from different business elites and
entrepreneurs.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (continued)
Media (Continued)
Content Enrichment (Continued)

On the sports front, the Group has always supported the development
of international and local sports events. The Group has successfully
acquired the exclusive broadcast rights of “The 19th Asian Games
Hangzhou 2022" in Hong Kong in October 2022. This year also marked
the seventh consecutive year of us being the broadcaster of the Asian
Games. A wide variety of exclusive world-class competitions were
broadcasted to viewers through the Group’s Pay TV, Free TV and
various digital media channels. Sports events included FIBA 3x3
Basketball World Tour 2022 Hong Kong Masters (FIBA 3x3 tt 57 (12 &
— & 7 K Bb %), the German Cup ("DFB-Pokal”) (722 B & @ Bk ),
Hong Kong Sevens (& 7 Bl & £ A B ERE), FINA World Swimming
Championships (5L k83122 ), Chinese Basketball League (H
B 2 EEIRES 2 ), FIVB Women's Volleyball Nations League (FIVB tt 52z
BEES: ), FIVB Men's Volleyball Nations League (FIVB it 57 55 HEB &)
and so forth. The Group continued to feature prominent football
leagues from around the world with professional analysis and
Cantonese commentary to its viewers. The Group leveraged the
multimedia platforms and broadcasted world-class sports events to
Hong Kong audience. Apart from world-class sports events, the Group
has been committed to producing and delivering local sports
competitions and news to viewers, including “Loving Sports” (Z-§& &)
which focuses on local sports and local athletes.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (continued)
Media (Continued)
Content Enrichment (Continued)

Channel 18 has maintained enormous popularity in the horse-racing
circle due to its well-received professional production and
commentaries of the horse-racing content in the Group's Pay TV
market. “Race Card Talk” (BE iz #F /&) provided first-hand race card
information to viewers. A series of professional horse racing analysis
programmes, including “Be a Big Punter” (% £ fit KX F), 'Race
Forecast’ (& & 78 JBl) and "18 Betting Tower’ (18 & X &), were
produced. “Trackside” (B % {% &) and “Racing Review” (1% 1§ Day)
continued to be popular among viewers. The Group had launched the
mobile application "Racing GPS" (£ 5 GPS), which provides live broadcasting,
on-demand archives of racing programmes, professional racing
information, analysis and membership scheme with exclusive events
and online engagement campaigns. “Give you a number” (£ {@
No.fR), a new programme launched in line with the new pool
campaign "% 5 AD I Trainer Challenge” of the Hong Kong Jockey
Club, provided viewers with more updated and precise data analysis
for placing bets. A fresh programme tour was launched to promote
horse racing programmes and to interact with Channel 18's fans.

Despite the Group’s continued efforts in content enrichment,
competition in the paid content business in Hong Kong was intense
and the customer base of the Pay TV subscription business continued
to contract, leading to a decrease in Pay TV subscription revenue. The
entry of new streaming services and various subscription platforms
with diverse content range and attractive pricing also affected the Pay
TV's subscription business. Coupled with the impact of poor market
sentiment as a result of the fifth wave of the COVID-19, revenue from
the media segment continuously decreased, as compared to that of
2021.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (continued)
Media (Continued)
Digital Media

To keep up with the digital transformation, the Group has hired a team
of high calibre professionals and has successfully revamped the
websites of HOY TV Channel 77 and i-CABLE in April 2022 and May
2022 respectively, and launched HOY Infotainment Channel 78 in
November 2022 to enhance user experience on digital platforms.
Following HOY Infotainment's premiere on 21 November 2022, a
combined website for HOY TV and HOY Infotainment hoy.tv was
introduced to provide a single convenient online platform to its loyal
viewers. With the adoption of cloud infrastructure, both websites of
HOY and i-CABLE have been providing more stable live streaming
experience with high scalability. Video on demand content was largely
increased on hoy.tv with over 1,800 episodes of dramas, entertainment
and informative programmes available. Apart from news, finance and
sports, the Group has expanded digital content pillars to lifestyle and
entertainment on i-cable.com and other social media platforms. With
website revamp and content enrichment, the Group recorded monthly
active users of 1.67 million and 0.187 million on its j-cable.com and
hoy.tv websites in December 2022, representing year-to-year growth of
2039% and 80% respectively.

MTR In-train TV Advertising

As the exclusive commercial airtime sales distributor and content
provider for the MTR In-train TV, the Group continued to provide
various contents, including instant local and international news,
financial news, sports news, entertainment news and infotainment to
passengers throughout the day. Due to the fifth wave of the COVID-19,
and hence the stringent social distancing measures and the slowdown
of economic activities, the demand for outdoor media has decreased.
The continuation of cross border closures at Lo Wu and Lok Ma Chau
also directly limited passenger flow from Mainland China to Hong
Kong. Tourism-related business sectors were still hard hit in 2022. Some
advertisers that mainly focus on cross-border customers still adopted a
conservative approach in advertising spending on the MTR In-train TV.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
Telecommunications

The Group currently owns and operates a territory-wide
telecommunications network which covers over 2 million households
in Hong Kong. For the broadband services, the fierce competition in
the broadband market presented immense price pressure on the
operators, while the business sentiment was worsened for fixed
network carriers under the fifth wave of the COVID-19 and tightening
of social distancing measures. Revenue from the telecommunications
business decreased as compared to that in the last year. With the agility
of the team and tremendous effort in creating value-for-money
campaigns and offers for the customers of the Group, the number of
broadband customers remained comparably stable in 2022. Diverse
service subscription packages with new contents, bundled products
and smart home solutions were launched to increase customer
retention of broadband services. Moreover, in year 2022, the Group
continued to expand its core network of fibre coverage and increase
core network capacity to cater for both residential and commercial
markets to drive for business growth, and also invested in the network
expansion of Gigabit-capable Passive Optical Network (“GPON"), in
order to provide Fibre-to-the-Home (“FTTH") high speed internet
services to more subscribers.

The Group continued to generate one of the major sources of revenue
through its strategic collaboration with China Mobile Hong Kong
Company Limited ("CMHK") spanning across different areas, including
network consultation and rollout, and mobile business. With the
Group's network development expertise and execution capabilities, the
Group will remain a valuable partner of CMHK.

To capture the accelerated growth of data centre industry in Hong
Kong, the Group has been leveraging its well-established network
coverage and technology to expand its services to cover data centre
connectivity since 2021. Moderate growth in terms of client number
and revenue contribution has been observed from our data centre
business. The Group continued to expand network coverage and core
capacity to meet new business needs and prepare for future growth,
through direct investment and strategic partnership with its key
business partners.

To keep up with the 5G coverage and strengthen product
competitiveness in the market of the Group, a new mobile partnership
has been established with the aim to bring 5G mobile services to the
customers.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties Facing the Group

The following principal risks and uncertainties are considered to be of
significance and have the potential to affect the Group’s businesses,
results of operations and financial conditions. However, they are non-
exhaustive as there may be other risks and uncertainties arising,
resulting from changes in the economy and other conditions over
time.

The media segment is experiencing intense competition in a crowded
marketplace with a super dominant operator and changing user
behavior. A wider range of contents is available on new platforms and
various mobile devices for users to select and view anytime and
anywhere. An abundant supply of contents intensified competition,
which further weakened the demand for our subscription content. At
the same time, competition is getting keener as a result of the fast
development of new media in the market. They combine to weaken
the Group’s operating results. Nevertheless, the Group will enhance its
competitiveness which is one of the essential elements to keep in pace
with the media market. The Group will make prudent and necessary
investment in its programmes and infrastructure to strengthen our
competitiveness.

The telecommunications segment is faced with fast-changing
technology and customers are constantly demanding for better quality
and higher-speed Internet service. The Group's operations depend on
its ability to innovate and upgrade its services and the successful
deployment of new technologies. The Group will continue to enhance
its network and bring better quality service to the customers. The
enhancement would strengthen our competitiveness and bring in
revenue growth potential.

Recurrent losses have weakened the Group’s financial position and
increased its dependency on external financing.

The Group is also exposed to certain financial risks which are set out in
Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BB HEREAEE

ABOUT THIS REPORT

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group is committed to
responding to the challenges of climate change by adopting
environmental protocols for its operations. The Group is also dedicated
to creating a favourable environment for its staff members; providing
resources to support their growth and development; as well as
promoting staff engagement in social undertakings and volunteer
work.

Reporting Scope

This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") report summarises
the efforts made and accomplishments of the Group in Corporate
Social Responsibilities (“CSR”) during the period from 1 January 2022 to
31 December 2022 (the “Reporting Period”) in accordance with the
“comply or explain” provisions of Appendix 27 Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Guide”) of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). With in-depth
consideration on various areas such as source of income and scale of
businesses which reflects the significance of ESG impact, the ESG
working group reckoned that scope of this ESG report covers the
Group's key business operations in the provision of media and
telecommunications activities in Hong Kong. Details of the
establishment and duties of the ESG working group are set out in the
section headed "ESG Governance”.

Reporting Principles
The preparation of this report adheres to four reporting principles

below, in order to provide an unbiased picture of the Group’s ESG
performance:

1. Materiality: Material ESG factors were being identified by the ESG
working group regularly during the Reporting Period through
annual stakeholder engagement. The final disclosures on ESG
issues have been reviewed and approved by the board (the
“Board") of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company.

2. Quantitative: The Group monitored various Key Performance
Indicators ("KPIs") during the Reporting Period with comparison
of the measurable historical data. In this way, the effectiveness of
ESG policies and management system can be evaluated and
validated. For all standards and methods adopted for calculating
the KPIs (if applicable), please refer to the relevant sections in the
ESG Report.

3. Balance: The ESG report provides an unbiased picture of the ESG
performance of the Group.

4. Consistency: The Group adopted consistent methodologies in
the data calculation by comparing historical ESG data over time.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued)
ESG Governance

The Group is committed to fulfilling stakeholders” expectations on its
ESG practices. The Board has the overall responsibility for the Group's
ESG strategy and reporting and is responsible for ensuring that
appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal controls
systems are in place.

The Board assumes the full responsibility of the Group’s sustainable
development and oversees key ESG issues, including formulating and
evaluating the risks and opportunities of the key ESG issues, reviewing
and to ensure the effectiveness of the relevant risk management and
internal control systems as well as endorsing the ESG report. The Group
has established an ESG working group, which reports to the
management of the Group and the Board, with representatives from
different functions, including the finance, human resources and
administrative departments of the Group, to collect the ESG data and
facilitate the ESG reporting process. The ESG working group monitors
issues that are material to the Group’s operations, sets and reviews
progress made against ESG-related goals and targets, and schedules
meetings in updating new policies and mechanisms in improving the
management of the Group's strategic goals in sustainable
development. In addition, the ESG working group evaluates the impact,
efficiency and effectiveness of policies that are already in place, and
takes remedial actions if the ESG policies are not properly
implemented. The management executes the ESG strategies
determined by the Board and performs ongoing monitoring of the
ESG-related risks. The Board oversees the ESG strategies and goals and
monitors the progress made on the execution. As part of the Group's
internal control systems, a professional consultant has been engaged
for ongoing assessment of the internal control and risk management
systems so as to identify any deficiencies and provide
recommendations for improvement accordingly.

The Group established several environmental targets drive further
improvement on its sustainability performance. The following table
displays the targets and results achieved during the Reporting Period:

BARAHE (@)

RiE - HERERARE
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FERHE - AEBDEY—FRE @ LERTL
BN TR NEMASEEERERESGHmE
ENEREAEBRNE ANBRRITBEHMENE
e EPImR R LAH&ZEEE% e RERSIRILE
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SEEBBURMFE BMERBHME - WHRIRE - 1
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AEECAIVZHERRAR - A~ *Fhﬂﬁ—ﬁii‘“’
BRI - TRIVRRERRZRHBFER

Target
B

Result as at 31 December 2022
R-ZB--F+-A=+—HW&ER

Replace all Euro IV diesel vehicles by year 2027
R =T SR SRR A B EE PU H Sk S

Replaced 10 new Euro IV diesel vehicles out of 23 such vehicles

BEEE23E6F R 106 HE RS m B

Implement a policy of reducing paper usage in year 2022

R-ZZZ—F B ARERNER

Policy established with the focus on centralised sourcing and
measurement of use, reduction of use via double side printing,
education and development of e-approval process for selected
internal documents

EHEHE  RERAETERMAEE RO ERH &
EENR ~ 25 R il 45 7E A EB X4 0 & F LR AR

Reduce the consumption of diesel by 3% by year 2027
to that inyear 2021
R-ZF—LFRHEORRAERR T - —FH 3%

Achieved, 49,355 litre in 2022 vs 56,094 litre in 2021
BEN T ZFR49352H HR=-ZZT=Z—F A
56,094 A F+

Maintain water consumption intensity level at year 2021's level
in year 2022

R-B - —FRFFKBENR T - —FHKF

Achieved, 2,277 cubic meter in 2022 vs 2,306 cubic meter in 2021
BER  ZEF R K BRI E = —F 52,306
LK
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued)
Stakeholder Engagement

BN AR E (@)
FHhESH

With the aim to align the Group's long term sustainability goals with its AT S AEENRATFEXEBIEEASHINES
current vision and mission, the Group recognises the importance of  R{F iR — 2 NEBER BRI BES HEH MO EHTEH
integrating its stakeholders’ expectations and requests and truly — RERIWIEY) THREZOEITINEEE -

understanding their concerns.

The Group actively engages its stakeholders and provides updates on ~ RNEEBIHRBRETHRXMRBEEBEFNDE - WiE
its recent developments through diverse engagement channels. The &R OEZHELE - TREGMAERN T E
table below highlights the Group’s key stakeholders and its )& R EBEEE -

communication channels:

Stakeholder Group
BHEER

Customers

®F

Investors and Shareholders

REERKRR

Engagement Channels

2RRE

Internal emails and publications
AR EB K kiR Y
Meetings and briefings
R

Training and workshops
Bl ke
Employee activities
BTEH
Performance appraisal
KB

Intranet

NG

Corporate website
NCIEER
Client meetings

e

Annual general meeting and general meetings
REBFREMBRRERRE

Annual and interim report

FRERFEBHE

Press release and announcements
HERRAE

25
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued)
Stakeholder Engagement (Continued)

BN AR E (@)

BEESHE@

Stakeholder Group Engagement Channels
FhEER SEHRE
pplie ontracto « Business meetings
and Business Partne Ea
L& RS SYSEST 7 . Site visits
B E R

Government and Regulators . « Email, phone and written communications
B REEHE B BEMEEABE
I

Social Groups and Public + Email and phone communications
HEEERARAL BHNEEBR

Volunteer activities

SRRERS

BB

Sponsorships and donations

Press release

FER
- Public events

NV

Materiality Assessment

Through the Group's established engagement channels, the Group has
identified relevant ESG issues and assessed their materiality to its
businesses as well as to its stakeholders.

The materiality assessment process is set out as follows:

Identification of potential issues: Screening of initial relevant
issues with reference to the ESG Guide, and peer benchmarking
ideas against suitable peer companies to pinpoint material ESG
issues performed.

Stakeholder evaluation: Internal and external stakeholders, who
demonstrate significant dependence of influence on the Group,
are invited to rank the importance of each ESG issue via
established engagement channels and interviews.
Prioritisation: The results from issues identification and
stakeholder evaluation are synthesised to generate ESG
materiality ranking.

Validation: The ESG working group of the Group validates and
confirms the key material ESG issues, and how they link to the
respective Aspects (as defined in the Listing Rules) and KPIs of
the ESG Guide.

BRI

BBERIMSEEE  AEBOEEEEORS -
HEREAFE W ETHHEGRBHENES
-

BEZRMFHEREFEIINT

BEBEERE - 2EC(RE L@ RERESD
IR )RR RE - W EEE RTRRSIE
EEED - UREEANRE HeRERZEED
T -

R EFHE  BBEABRNER T OKBELARE
ZONEFHNERECA2ERBRART AYE
BRI - e REARENEEIETHF -

FEE@ITRT « fRaEA# B R FN B EE
RMERE  HERERERMHF -

ZE  ARENRE #HeRkEaTEMMERE
WHERBAMRIRE HERELAEE ULE
MBI EGRE H e RERESDNSEHE
(B R LTRA) REASEMIEIZIAEEA -
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued)
Materiality Assessment (Continued)

In accordance with the results from the stakeholder engagement
exercises, the Group has placed greater emphasis on ESG issues
relating to product responsibility, employee safety, supply chain
management and environmental protection. The table below
highlights the ESG issues which were determined to be material to the
Group covered and arranged them in order of their relative importance
to the business continuity of the business and their overall importance
to the society in this ESG report:

BN ARRE (@)
BEEMFM @

REFSNESEIZPNGER  AEECEMNBREE
mEfE - BT%2 HEEEEMRIRFREABOR
B HeREREE  TREHMAERNRE HE
RERRETHREE/RHYAKEM S BEXNIRE
HERERZRE  HHETESLSHT LRBEHE
BOESEEENAYERERESTENEBERESR
EETTHES :

Material ESG Issues

# | EXRER - -HERELSE

Aspects in the ESG Guide
(RE  HERERBREES) Y HEE

Waste Management

1 . Service Commitment B6: Product Responsibility
AR 7% A EmEE
Intellectual Property Rights
FERE
Personal Data Policy
18 AERER

2 . Employee Health and Safety B2: Health and Safety
BTRERZ S fRREEZ 2

3 . Supply Chain Management B5: Supply Chain Management
HrEgEER IR E 2

4 . Air and Greenhouse Gas Emissions Al: Emissions
ZERMBERBH HERL

Bk EE

5 . Energy Management A2: Use of Resources
BEIRE IR BIRER
Water Management
FKER

6 . Environmental Impact Management A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
RIEPEEH REFBARER

7 . Climate Change Impact Management A4: Climate Change
RESYEEE TR

8 . Labour Practices B1: Employment
BITER =%
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued)
Materiality Assessment (Continued)

EﬁE’\‘ZIKﬁ%(ﬁ
EEMRT

Material ESG Issues

Aspects in the ESG Guide

# | EARIR  HERELREE (RE - HERERWMEES) SR
9 Employee Development and Training B3: Development and Training
8 TR Mgl R N IEF
10 Prevention of Child and Forced Labour B4: Labour Standards
BrlbE T K& T & T AR
11 Anti-corruption B7: Anti-Corruption
R&B R&E3
Whistle Blowing
2R e )
12 Community Support B8: Community Investment
Xt R ER HERRE
Community Engagement
FE H

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to develop its CSR work in line
with its business plans and strategies. This will not be possible without
the Group's colleagues’ efforts and dedication in upholding CSR values.

MATERIAL ESG ISSUES
1.

Product Responsibility

The Group observes the codes and guidelines for television
programme service and telecommunications service licensees,

along with various legislations including:

Broadcasting Ordinance (Chapter 562 of the Laws of Hong

Kong);

Broadcasting (Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance

(Chapter 391 of the Laws of Hong Kong);

Telecommunications Ordinance (Chapter 106 of the Laws

of Hong Kong);

Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the

Laws of Hong Kong); and

Competition Ordinance (Chapter 619 of the Laws of Hong

Kong).

The Group also has established various internal guidelines or
codes of practices for different functions and divisions, and
provided different trainings for staff development.

AR AEBESEERSLEAIRERABRRELE
HeEE HEABEAKBEEIMET LM R
HERUEREINER -

EARRE HERERE
1. EmER
AREBIEAEHRENE RIS L ENREISEARE

SFHEESTRIRIES| - REESF N EHES - 8215
CEBIEDIN(EBENE562F)
CERE GEBIESO BTN (BB AR FE3NE)
CEHIGEBINEBENE1065) ;
CRANER (FLE) B (BB A E486F)

K
(BFEOI(ERBEPIF19E) -

REBIIA — R 5 A TR #85 K 7B M &2 A9 A &6
ol TR) > KRB THREHREZIAEI -
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

e

Product Responsibility (Continued)
Service Commitment

The Group was awarded 1SO 9001:2015 Quality Management
System certification & ISO 10002:2018 Quality Management —
Customer Satisfaction certification, covering after-sales services
and customer cases management, by SGS Hong Kong Limited in
March 2022 which continues to be well-maintained in 2024. The
Group was awarded the 11th “Junzi Corporation Award” by The
Hang Seng University of Hong Kong to recognise its
contribution to the society, the spirit of Junzi and pursuit of
excellence.

The Group places customer experience as its priority. A quality
management system in line with the requirements of the ISO
standards is implemented to improve its hotline and customer
care services, and to uplift installation and maintenance
standards. The Group addresses customer complaints in a timely,
fair and unbiased manner. Customer views are regularly
collected and analysed through customer satisfaction surveys.
During the Reporting Period, 171 written complaints (2021: 221
written complaints) were received in relation to the television
services. The decrease in the number of complaints was mainly
due to improved communication with customers during sales
and renewal process of subscription of Pay TV services.

Engagement of provision of media and telecommunications
activities is not subject to any recall for safety and health reasons.

Intellectual Property Rights

The Group has the Corporate General IT Control Policies and
Procedures in place to manage, protect and monitor information
technology (“IT") systems and data. The use of unauthorised
software or copying of copyrights works is not allowed under
the Group's policy.

Personal Data Policy

The Group respects individuals’ legal rights to privacy, and strictly
abide by the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) in collecting, holding, processing and
using customers’ personal data. In addition to establishing
policies and operation guidelines, the Group issues periodic
reminders and deliver regular briefings to frontline staff to
remind them of the importance of protecting customer data.

The Group protects the confidentiality of its customers’ personal
data by implementing layers of security (IT controls) to prevent
loss or leakage of customer data. The Group's Corporate General
IT Control Policies and Procedures also ensure data security and
IT system user access control.

There was no incident of non-compliance with the
aforementioned laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business operations of the Group during the
Reporting Period.

EREE HE2RERZE@

1.

EmETE @

PR 7 A 5

R-EBE-_—F=ZF AEENERRSENERE
REBLERESBEARIREFERAREE
ISO 9001 : 2015 M B & I8 & £ 72 & X150 10002 :
2018mMEERE —BEMEERE TR
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K o REBNER - AERAENEEREER
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued) ERRE #HgRERBEE®
2. Employee Health and Safety 2. ETREHEZR
The Group is committed to providing and maintaining a healthy, REEMNWAZBEIRIESHEERGH T
safe, and hygienic workplace for all employees and related ZHWEBE T RERES —Hx2  BREIEE
parties that are likely to be affected by its operations and B TR AT o RSB S a% 7 AT 1Y I8 B pA 2 B
activities. The following four policies on health and safety have LZEMBER IR RN RS -
been established and posted on the intranet:
1. The Safety Handbook & Company Policy which sets out 1. #HIEBBEIIEELEHRENCEIZ2TAD
the requirements on work place safety; RAATERBE)
2. Typhoon & Rainstorm Policy which sets out the working 2. HIEKARRTILEZHN(BERERE
arrangement under special weather; RIERE)
3. Display Screen Equipment Assessment Policy which 3. EVEARBLEESIN(ERBTRER
provides safety guidelines for using equipment; and HEHITEFAD - &
4. Policy on Arrangement for Infectious Diseases Outbreak 4. FIEBRREEESI REBH(ERREE
which lays out guidance and measures in handling of ZHEBUER) o
infectious diseases.
To enhance employees’ awareness of the importance of safe BB ETHREL2ETZUHMNEDS  AEER
working practices, the Group has adopted the following key MTUATEEMNBERERLT DG
occupational health and safety measures:
Annual practice of mass fire drill in collaboration with the ESEFRE A ERE NEEE
Fire Department;
Periodic occupational safety and health training courses; TEHASR I R e 2 AR R BRGRIR
Demo video of physical exercise in department workplace RIERBENBR I ENTREBAE &
as reminder; and
Establishment of the Department Operational Guideline %'JE((*B FITtEHEBI) AIREE & % T1E I
on safety measures for working-at-height and lifting of BEVNLREE -
heavy tools and objects.
Any occurrence of incident would be timely reported to the BAEEMEHRKERRERERS - WAKIUR
management and follow up actions will be taken. There was no ETH RBEHANEREER(BELZ 2R
incident of non-compliance with the Occupational Safety and REAEBD(EBEGIE 098 ) MEH -
Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
during the Reporting Period.
Occupational Health and Safety Data BERERZZEE
Year Fatality number | Fatality rate™ | Injury rate® Lost days Lost days rate® | Absentee rate”
FE AIZRTAH FTERO TR BXRAH BXREHLXRS HREL R
202 -8B=-—% - - 00068 181 00006 00120
2021 —EBE-—F - - 0.00779 137 0.0005 0.0217
200 —ZE-FF - - 0.0093 503 0.0016 0.0215
Notes: Bat
(1) Fatality rate = Total fatality number/Total number of employees (1) ft%—f@EI%i/\ﬁ/é%?éI/ﬁ@?
©) Injury rate = Total staff affected/Total number of employees @) TERF=REETHL HBETAL
3) Lost days rate = Total number of lost days/Total days worked 3) [=ES El’ﬁﬁbt 1ERAEAE KT (EAE
(4)  Absentee rate = Total number of absentee days/Total days worked )] BhE FE =t B A BT IFAE
(5) The figure has been restated due to refined data collection process. (5) R ZS I E AR - RIS FARE ES -
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

3.

Supply Chain Management

The Group sources from trustworthy suppliers and contractors
for quality and sustainable products and services, under well-
defined procurement policy. The Group offers equal opportunity
to all potential business partners. Supplier selections and
procurement decisions would be made based on assessment
over certain criteria such as reputation, image, social and
environmental protection responsibilities of the suppliers, quality
and sustainable reliability of the products and services,
compliance with user requirements and/or specifications,
conformance to technical evaluation instituted by requisitioning
department, compatibility with/conformance to existing
operating systems, service level commitment etc. The Group
encourages suppliers and contractors to take green measures
and products that fulfill the 4Rs Rule: “Reduce, Recycle, Reuse
and Replace” in order to minimise environmental and social risks
along the supply chain. The Group also continues to monitor the
product and service quality of the suppliers to ensure the
suppliers’ compliance with the requirements of the Group.
During the Reporting Period, the Group is not aware of any
material environmental and social risks along the supply chain.

The Group sources from around the world with over 89% of
suppliers and contractors based in Hong Kong to reduce carbon
footprintin its supply chain, while supporting the local economy.
The number of suppliers of the Group from Hong Kong and
other countries during the year ended 31 December 2022 was
896 and 131.

Emissions

The Group recognised the importance of maintaining good
environmental protection behavior across the Group by
integrating environmental considerations into the business
processes of the Group. The Board believes that the Group is
responsible for the protection of the environment and adheres
to create a sustainable future for the stakeholders as well as the
community in which the Group operates by the continuous
contributions from its experienced management and employees.
To this end, the Group focuses on three main areas which
include emissions', use of resources, and the environment and
natural resources.

"' The Group did not generate significant sewage discharge during the Reporting Period.

FEBR G RN AR EE KRBT ©

EREE HE2RERZE@
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

4.

Emissions (Continued)
Air and Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The Group works strategically and collaboratively to identify
solutions for reducing greenhouse gas emissions, reducing
waste production as well as reducing energy consumption by
identifying rooms for improvement. The Group strictly follows
the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). During the Reporting Period, there was no
incident of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions and waste
management that have a significant impact on the business
operations of the Group.

The Group promotes the minimisation of greenhouse gas
emissions generated by the Group and encourages the
environmental care in its working environment. The Group
continuously takes the following measures to reduce the air and
greenhouse gas emissions:

Fuel consumption

Reduce the number of vehicles and optimise vehicle
utilisation;

Phase out pre-Euro IV diesel vehicles;

Regular maintenance to reduce carbon emission;
Conduct annual vehicle examination for vehicles to ensure
compliance with emission standards set by the
Environmental Protection Department of Hong Kong;
Provide guidelines on good driving practice; and

Green driving workshops conducted for the Group's
drivers.

EREE HE2RERZE@
4,

BER (#)

R REE R
AEBEBEHEBIERTEERENTRE - A
BB R RARHER - R EREE U R 8ER
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)
4. Emissions (Continued)
Air Emissions

NO, emissions RECOPHE
SO, emissions AN E
PM emissions R B R E

BEARE HE2RERZEm@m
4. BERu@

RN
2022 2021
—_E__

(in tonne) (in tonne)

(mg) (g)

0.35 049

0.001 0.002

0.034 0.046

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

BEREIER

2022

—E-—F
(in tonne) (in tonne)
(mg) (W)
CO, emissions — scope 1 (Note 1) ZabhxdEkE — E@E (faET) 267 295
CO, emissions — scope 2 (Note 2) Z@bhixdEkE — E@E 2 (faE2) 4,467 5110
Total 4a%E 4,734 5405

As compared to that in 2021, the Group recorded lower amount
of NO, SO, PM and greenhouse gas emissions in 2022. Such
reduction was mainly due to less frequent use, shorter travel
distance and decrease in the number of the Group's vehicles.

Notes:

1. Direct emissions (scope 1) includes greenhouse gas emissions from combustion
of fuels in company vehicle fleet. CO, emissions — scope 1 intensity was
approximately 0.23 (tonne/employee) during the Reporting Period (2021: 0.25
(tonne/employee))

2. Energy indirectly emissions (scope 2) includes greenhouse gas emissions from
consumption of electricity purchased from power companies. CO, emissions —
scope 2 intensity was approximately 3.82 (tonne/employee) during the
Reporting Period (2021:4.35 (tonne/employee))

3. The calculation of air emissions and greenhouse gas emissions was based on
the “Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

4.

BEARE HEREARAZE®@

Emissions (Continued) 4., BERum)
Waste Management BEREE
The Group has devoted substantial efforts to waste management AEBIRARNEBNETEREIE  BBEER
by minimising solid waste to landfills through waste reducing, A BEREF A & EER ] IR A m) M A R ik [
waste reusing and waste recycling. One of the essential Rkl c Hh—IE X B EBIE)I RHEE R
measurements is through promoting the importance of waste AEEETETEHEERBLIHNEEME - KEFRAK
reduction among the employees of the Group through training SEHETHEEEMACHAETNESZME - LHE
and education. Going paperless is always the Group's key EIFEREFHANIFREMEABYARFTED - AR
message passed to the employees of the Group and they are DIRE - REERDHEREANEERIEERE
encouraged to use electronic copies for filing purpose and use BIEFRBEREFIEERS -
recycle papers for printing in order to reduce waste. The Group's
efforts to reduce paper usage include implementing paperless
e-Leave and e-Payroll systems.
The Group is not aware of any significant generation of REEBW MBEMERNEEZEER - WREAR
hazardous waste and adopted suitable waste handling and SRR AR LN E E A EERRIE R D o
reduction measures in accordance with local laws and AEERREHANESEZERNEEREED R
regulations. The total amount and intensity of non-hazardous A ESWE K 0007, MEE(ZT=—%F : 55l
waste produced during the Reporting Period have decreased to B 55ME R 00478 BB ) - EEAXWIATA EERER
8 tonnes and 0.007 tonnes/employee, respectively (2021: 55 HHREAEMEETBEENE  REBEZATZLIR
tonnes and 0.047 tonnes/employee, respectively). All non- U g uf -
hazardous wastes generated are collected by the property
management of the office buildings and will then be transported
to public refuse collection points.
Types and amount of waste recycled EWEYEEREE
Production
Equipment,
Office
Equipment and Batteries and
Paper and Plastics Computers Charger
Paper Product (Video Tape) (piece) Accessories
(tonne) (piece) Cartridge BERE - (piece)
HRR B (piece) MAERE Btk
Year HEm (85%%) ¥ REK BERH
FE (m) (&) (&) (&) (80
2022 = &= 3 2,001 71 650 152
2021 ZEZ—4F 13 63,796 174 1,309 125

There was no incident of non-compliance with relevant
environmental laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business operations of the Group during the
Reporting Period.

RS R S A B RAARIR AR ROAR M A
SEXBLEBENERTENEM -
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

5.

Use of Resources

Being a responsible corporation to the environment and the
society, the Group focuses on exploring opportunities to
minimise the use of energy or natural resources among the
Group and with the new technologies and by improving the
efficiency of operating procedures that provide the best use of
production and office equipment. The management of the
Group believes that the efficiency of the use of energy and
natural resources can be improved from time to time.

Energy Management

The Group endeavours to make use of energy efficiently and to
encourage employees of the Group to use energy effectively.
The consumption of energy is monitored regularly and measures
were taken to identify any rooms for improvement. Another key
focus by the Group is on how to minimise the use of resources
and how to use wisely is through education and training:

reduce operation hours of public lighting, escalators and
lifts;

automate switching off air-conditioning and lighting;
retrofit lighting system using energy efficient T5
fluorescent tubes and LED lights;

adjust indoor temperature settings;

purchase energy efficient office equipment with electron
energy loss spectroscopy; and

provide staff with tips for green office.

Water Management

There was no water sourcing issue with the Group as the Group
mainly consumes municipal water. The majority of the water
consumption of the Group is for water-cooled air conditioning
system, basic cleaning and sanitation. The Group promotes the
use of water smartly by training and education. The
management of the Group continuously monitors the
consumption of water and explores ways to further reduce the
Group's water consumption. Owing to the Group's ongoing
education and efforts, the Group's water consumption for the
year 2022 has maintained similar level of 2,277 cubic meter as
compared to the consumption for the year 2021 of 2,306 cubic
meter.
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

5.

Use of Resources (Continued) 5.

Energy and Resources Consumption

EREE HBREAZE®@M

EREH @
EREBRETNES

Electricity (kilowatt-hour) B (FRNE) 11,454,969 13,810,209
Water consumption (cubic meter) AKE (2 HXK) 2,277 2,306
Diesel (litre) gem (AF) 49,355 56,094
Unleaded petrol (litre) mem (A FH) 51,107 51,692
Electricity intensity (kilowatt-hour/employee) BHBRE(TR/EEI) 9,799 11,753
Water consumption intensity (cubic meter/employee) F7K& (375K, 8 1) 2 2
Diesel per vehicle (litre/vehicle) Ll (AT EE) 1,452 1,650
Unleaded petrol per vehicle (litre/vehicle) | m (AT EHH) 2,044 2,068

Note:  Use of packaging material for finished product is not a material aspect of the

business operations of the Group

As compared to that in 2021, the Group consumed
approximately 17% less electricity because the Group had
adopted the use of more energy-saving appliances and more in-
house green initiatives such as reduced operation hours of
public lighting, escalators and lifts as well as automated
switching off air-conditioning and lighting.

With the Group's reduction of the size of the vehicle fleet and
fuel consumption initiatives mentioned in section 4 as well as
shorter distance travelled, the Group consumed 12% less diesel
and 1% less unleaded petrol in 2022 when compared to that in
2021.

HteE : R dn & A BEYH I IR EEF LB EAR

o

M-T - —FRL - AEEF DKL 17%E I8
TR AEEE A E S A R
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

6.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group explores the possibility of the usage of clean energy
or reusable resources and the opportunities to minimise the use
of energy or natural resources in every department in different
business operations of the Group. The Group continuously
adheres to the principle of minimising the impact on the
environment and natural resources. During the Reporting Period,
the Group is not aware of any significant impacts of activities
arising from the business operations of the Group on the
environment and natural resources.

The Group’s Environmental Friendly Programme was
implemented in the Group throughout these years to bring the
employees together with the management of the Group to
contribute to its society. The Group takes great emphasis in the
future development of its environment.

Climate Change Impact Management

The management of the Group will take adequate steps to build
its resilience to climate change by identifying and managing
climate change risks and opportunities and by developing
strategies, which are in line with global best practices to adapt to
and mitigate the impact of climate change on its operations.

In order to mitigate the impact of climate change, the Group
takes climate change issues into consideration during its annual
enterprise risk management process to evaluate if the significant
climate-related risks would impact its business operations.
Contingency business plans regarding the possible scenarios
under various extreme weather conditions are established, such
as installing uninterruptible power supply (“UPS”) in order to
provide emergency power when the input power source or
mains power including hub sites, Digital News System (“DNS”)
centre, Management Information System (“MIS") server,
broadcasting equipment, Multichannel Multipoint Distribution
Service ("MMDS") station, etc. fails. The Group also encourages
employees, suppliers and customers to reduce carbon emissions
in their operations in order to mitigate its supply chain’s
environmental impact as much as possible.
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

8.

Employment

The Group recognises employees as important assets to us. The
Group is committed to developing a positive and respectable
working environment that encourages collaboration between
employees and across departments. The Group strives to attract
and retain talents and aim to promote workforce diversity, in
terms of age, gender and nationality, as well as a culture of equal
opportunity.

The Group has developed the Employee Handbook & Human
Resources Policy which have been posted on intranet, governing
compensation, dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination and other benefits and welfare in accordance
with respective laws and regulations.

The following Hong Kong laws in relation to the Group’s
employment and labour practices are relevant to the Group:

Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong);

Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (‘MPFSQO")
(Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong);

Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the
Laws of Hong Kong);

Minimum Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the Laws of
Hong Kong);

Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480 of the Laws of
Hong Kong);

Disability Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 487 of the
Laws of Hong Kong);

Family Status Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 527 of
the Laws of Hong Kong);

Race Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 602 of the Laws
of Hong Kong); and

Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the
Laws of Hong Kong).

Working hours, leaves, remuneration and other employment
practices are reviewed regularly to ensure the compliance with
latest labour laws and regulations.

There was no incident of non-compliance with employment
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business operations of the Group during the Reporting Period.
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8.

EREE HE2RERZE@

Employment (Continued) 8. EEw@W
Employee Statistics EE#TEIE
The majority of our employees in both year 2021 and year 2022 BRSO EEE S FR_ZE__FHE
were employed and worked in Hong Kong. EREARTIE-
Total Workforce HMETAE
Employment Types
Alltypes of employee ERER Employee category Geographical region
fraREEN Permanent contract Temporary contract EEAE HE
RE&H BREH
Management|  Senior General
Year Male Female Total Male Female Male Female Staff Staff Staff HongKong | Others
FE 2 prg:d YN | 4 g3 i3 rgid EEE | BfBI | -MEI ] A
202-8-"F 753 416 1,169 746 405 7 n 44 279 846 1,065 104
W —F-F 784 391 1175 718 377 6 14 33 253 889 1103 72
Total Workforce by Age Group HETAH(RFRARED)
Below 30 30-50 Above 50
Year 30m AT 30 3% -50 5% 505 A £ Total
FE Male | Female | Male | Female | Male | Female | #& A%
B e 3 B kg B zi
2022
Total Workforce —E-— 104 137 389 211 260 68 1,169
BETAH 2021%
—E 98 110 413 212 273 69 1,175
Note: Ftat -

*

The figures have been restated due to refined data collection process

* HRTEBBKEERE R FELES
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

EREE HERERZE@

8. Employment (Continued) 8. EEw@W
Employee Statistics (Continued) EE &8I (&)
New Hires and Employee Turnover FABEIREERAR
Below 30 30-50 Above 50
Year 30m AT 30 5% -50 5% 505 A £ Total Rate
FE Male Female | Male Female Male Female | #& A% [ne:
B zH B i B 7
2022
New Hires —E=—= 91 99 17 97 38 27 469 | 0.4017
HMABET 20210
T —F0 66 89 89 45 28 9 326 02770
2022
Employee e 52 51 117 62 31 12 325 | 0.278®
Turnover o
EERAE 2021
—EZ—F0 74 98 114 79 56 15 436 0.371@
Employee Turnover Rate BERALL =
By geographical
By gender By age group region
Year Rl RERAR ZithE Total
FE Hong A=
Male Female | Below 30 30-50 Above 50 Kong Others
B g 3 3055 LT |30 E 505% | 505% A £ 58 Hty
2022
—FE- 0.171 0.107 0.427 0.298 0.131 0.267 0.011 0.278?
20219
—E-—F0 0.311 0491 0.827 0.309 0.208 0.360 0.542 0.371@
Notes: Bt
(1) New hire rate = Total number of new hires/Total number of employees (1) FABETHE=3ABE T/ 1EEHE%
©2) Turnover rate = Total number of employee turnover/Total number of employees 2 RALFR-BBESEE TESHEEH

(3) The figures have been restated due to refined data collection process

B  HRTEBBEKFERE BRARFCLES
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Employee Development and Training
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EREE HE2RERZE@

EEEREREI

The Group acknowledges the importance of training for
professional development of its employees. The Group places
adequate and appropriate resources on training and staff
development opportunities. The Group encourages vocational
education and training activities by providing tuition subsidies
and full funding training programmes.

During the Reporting Period, the Group conducted around 159
corporate training events (2021: 50 corporate training events)
involving 1,139 participants (2021: 1,068 participants) with a total
of 42,302 training hours (2021: 38,184 training hours) to enhance
working knowledge, safety compliance, service quality as well as
compliance of anti-corruption. To promote happy working
environment, the Group participated in Happy@Work 2022
co-organised by the Employers’ Federation of Hong Kong and
Hong Kong Disneyland.
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

Employee Training and Development Data

Percentage of employees trained

EEENEI @
EEEIRBEEEE
EEIEEFEA L

ERRE #HgRERBEE®
9. Employee Development and Training (Continued) 9.

By gender By employment category Overall
BB g Wl percentage
Male Female Management | Senior Staff | General Staff | of employees
(%) (%) Staff (%) (%) (%) (%)

Year B4 ZiE EEE BRET —RET ERESAIL

FE (%) (%) (%) (%) (%) (%)

2022 97 93 97 926 96 95
—E-F

2021 67 33 3 15 82 58
—E-—F

Remark:  Overall percentage of employees calculation — Total participated employees

divided by total number of employees

Average hours of training

5935 S B B

it - BEESASILHE 2 HE RSB L ES B

By gender By employment category Overall
4] RERER average
training
hours
per
employee
(hour)
Management
Male Female Staff Senior Staff | General Staff SR {ESNEE
(hour) (hour) (hour) (hour) (hour) F 15 RF &
Year B 7 EEE SHRET —RET
FE (NEF) (NEF) (/NEF) (NEF) (/NEF) (/NEF)
2022 37 35 39 30 38 36
g
2021 31 37 20 18 37 33
—E-_—F

Remark: ~ Overall average training hours per employee calculation — Total training

hours divided by total number of employees

it -

BHaE

B F 18 R A B R F 115 5 Bl at H —15 A8 65 20 fr LA 18
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)
10. Prevention of Child and Forced Labour

The Employment and Compensation & Benefits Policies are
established to meet or exceed the requirements of the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
and the MPFSO. The Group has adopted the following measures
to prevent recruitment of child and forced labour:

Except for child entertainers and summer interns, the
Group shall hold against hiring any candidate who is
under 18 years old;

For child entertainers, the Group renews permission to
employ child entertainers yearly from the Labour
Department; and

For summer interns, strict collection of sworn declaration
forms and school endorsement are required to prevent
child labour.

Any occurrence of incident would be timely reported to
management and follow up action will be taken.

There was no incident of non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations relating to labour standards during the Reporting
Period.

EREE HE2RERZE@
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

11.

Anti-corruption

The Group prohibits bribery and corruption practices. The Group
has established the Employee Handbook, in addition, the
Company Policy has posted on intranet web link regarding
standard code of ethics, which states the prevention of bribery,
gambling, collections and insider dealing, as well as the policy
on reporting potential non-compliance and conflict of interest.

Under the Group’s Code of Conduct, all staff are required to
abide by the laws on anti-corruption, such as the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The
Group strives to promote business ethics and raise awareness
during the Reporting Period, the Group provided trainings and
regular communications to the Directors and the new
employees as part of their orientation programme of the Group.
During the Reporting Period, the Group invited representatives
from the Independent Commission Against Corruption ("ICAC")
to deliver training to its frontline staff. The training course covers
topics from understanding anti-corruption laws and regulations
to avoiding violation of laws and regulations in its operation
practices.

There were no incidents of non-compliance with anti-corruption
laws and regulations and no concluded legal cases regarding
corruption practices brought against the Group or its employees
during the Reporting Period.

Whistleblowing

The Group operates a whistleblowing policy, which establishes
whistleblowing procedures for staff to report alleged material
non-compliance to the Company to investigate. Any possible
criminal offence cases will be referred to the audit committee of
the Company to decide further action with consultation from
the legal advisers of the Group. The whistleblowing channel is
set up in an anonymous manner for staff to report non-
compliance without the concern of retaliation. Any form of
retaliation against the whistleblower is prohibited. Staff is
obliged to report alleged material non-compliance to the
Company, which will be investigated.

EREE HERERZE@
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued) EARE HEREAEEm@

i

12. Community 12. &
Community Investment HERE

The Group attaches great importance to staff participation in
community activities, by motivating and encouraging colleagues
to extend a helping hand to the elderly, children and youths as
well as families in need of social support. During the Reporting
Period, the Group contributed HK$136,420 to its charitable
projects, such as donation of Pay TV services to Hong Kong
Children’s Hospital and sign language news.

Volunteer Services

Established in 2003, the Group’s staff volunteering team
continues to grow. Leading charitable organisations that the
Group worked with include The Community Chest of Hong Kong
and Youth Outreach. During the Reporting Period, the Group
donated to and installed receivers for Hong Kong Children’s
Hospital and enabled sick children and their families to provide
them accessibility to watch Cable News, 4 children channels and
HOY TV, especially during the COVID-19

Community Support

The Group offers support to the community since the Group is
concerned about its development. During the year, the Group (i)
supported Chief Happiness Officer Association Limited in its
"Happy DSE, Hong Kong Energy” Campaign to give
encouragement to Hong Kong Diploma of Secondary Education
Examination 2022 candidates; (ii) sponsored and took part in
charity 3x3 basketball tournament programme “Well Dunk”
organised by InspiringHK Sports Foundation; (iii) supported “Top
10 Outstanding Tertiary Students Award” to provide positive
energy to teenagers; and (iv) sponsored the 65" Annual General
Meeting of The Society of Rehabilitation and Crime Prevention,
Hong Kong to promote social harmony.
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12. Community (Continued)

Community Investment (Continued)

Community Engagement

The Group is dedicated to producing quality programmes which
enhance the connection with local communities and inspire
people to care for the society. Since the fifth wave of the
COVID-19 outbreak in early 2022, the Group had been dedicated
to producing quality programmes to combat the COVID-19 and
alleviate its devastating impact on the community. During the
Reporting Period, the Group produced (i) “Keep Fighting Virus”
(2 % 41 5 & UE D) to provide firsthand pandemic information
with live Q&A sessions to address questions from the viewers;
and (ii) “CABLE Stars Lesson” (B4R 2R EE « BEFEXR gym),
inviting Hong Kong star athletes to teach viewers about exercises
they could do at home. To address the needs of news coverage
for the hearing-impaired and facilitate social harmony, HOY
Infotainment (Channel 78) has introduced its first sign language
programme “News Report in Sign Language” (F :B#T E & ).
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(A) REVIEW OF 2022 RESULTS

Revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022

(A)

—EC_FEXRECORE
AEEBE-T-—F+-A=+—HILFEY

decreased by approximately HK$94 million or 10% to W AR > 4 94,000,000 7 7T 8K 109% ZE 49 895,000,000
approximately HK$895 million (2021: approximately HK$989 BIL(ZEZ—F : 49989,000000/87T) ° WA
million). The decrease in revenue was mainly due to the decrease DHEEHRERBSHFEENRARD HEE

in revenue generated from the media segment, which was
primarily due to the keen competition in the market.

The total operating expenses of the Group increased to
approximately HK$1,483 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 from approximately HK$1,298 million for the year ended 31
December 2021. In which, cost of services of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2022, including programming costs,
network expenses and cost of sales, increased by approximately
HKS$111 million to approximately HKS$1,137 million (2021:
approximately HK$1,026 million). Programming costs, network
expenses and cost of sales increased by approximately 2%, 32%
and 4% respectively as compared to the year ended 31
December 2021, which was mainly due to the recognition of
non-cash impairment losses on property, plant and equipment,
programming library, other related intangible assets and contract
acquisition costs for the year ended 31 December 2022 as a
result of the Licence Termination with effect from 1 June 2023.
Selling, general and administrative and other operating expenses
of the Group increased by approximately 27% as compared to
the year ended 31 December 2021, which was mainly due to the
recognition of the non-cash impairment losses on property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and contract
acquisition costs for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The above-mentioned impairment losses in aggregate
amounted to approximately HK$241 million (2021: HKSNil), of

RA AT SFHF I -

REEMCEERBEREE_S-—F+=A
=+ —HIEFE#91,298000000/8 T MEEHE
R F+ZA=+—H81EFE41483,000,000
BLeHep AEBEE_Z-_—_F+=A
=+ —HIEFERRTEM A (B IEE B RIER A -
WEE R R EKA) B IN49111,000,000% L=
#91,137,000,000 7 7L ( ZF = —4F : #91,026,000,000
EIT) o B0 B RUEM AR - B R RIHER AR
BEE-_ZT-—F+-_A=+—RHIEFEHHIE
IN&I2% ~ 32% J 4% TERPNEEE T ==
FRA—HEKIER Sz T -
+ H7+—E¢¢fM%¥\W%&aﬁ~ﬁ
HEMABEEREE NS HWRIEN A TER
#ﬁiﬂ@%ﬁ°$%.2%§‘_ﬁ‘ﬁﬁ&
HpeEmAuge - - —F+-A=1+—H
IEFEEEML27% TEHREBEE_T ==
T+ A=+ HULFERDE  BELEE F
RS E A HOREER AN ERIER S REEIE -

BHE_Z-_—_F+-A=+—HILtFE @R AH
TECCFXRA-HBEKRIEER FiURERE

which approximately HK$93 million (2021: HK$Nil), HK$77 million HBEEA)241,000000 8 (=T =—F : TEHT) -
(2021: HKS$NIl) and HK$71 million (2021: HKSNil) were included H AP #993,0000008 T (ZF = E THIT)
within programming costs, network expenses and selling, 77,000,000 T( = & = — $ TET)R
general and administrative and other operating expenses of the 71,000,000 /%TE(_’—; - $ D EETD) D RIEF AR

Group, respectively, for the year ended 31 December 2022 as a
result of the Licence Termination with effect from 1 June 2023.

Loss from operations of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 was approximately HK$588 million, representing
an increase of approximately 90%, as compared with the loss
from operations of approximately HK$309 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021.
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(A) REVIEW OF 2022 RESULTS (Continued)

On top of the recognition of the non-cash impairment losses on
certain assets mentioned above, the loss of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2022 included the recognition of fair
value losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL") of approximately HK$56 million for the year ended 31
December 2022, as compared to the net fair value gains on
financial assets at FVTPL of approximately HK$2 million
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Finance costs of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022 increased by approximately HK$10 million or 22% to
approximately HK$56 million (2021: approximately HK$46
million), of which approximately HK$39 million (2021:
approximately HK$36 million) was the total interest expense on
unlisted long-term convertible bonds issued in June 2019 (the
2019 LCS") and March 2021 (the “2021 LCS").

After the recognition of interest income, finance costs, non-
operating expenses, net and income tax, which included the
write down of deferred tax assets of approximately HK$176
million which was primarily due to the Licence Termination with
effect from 1 June 2023, the Group recorded a net loss of
approximately HK$886 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 (2021: approximately HK$364 million), representing an
increase of approximately 143%, as compared to the last year.
Basic and diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 December
2022 was approximately HK12.4 cents (2021: approximately
HK5.1 cents).

In view of the rapidly changing media landscape in Hong Kong
and fierce competition among the global paid TV content
providers and pay TV operators, the Group obtained approval
from the Government of the HKSAR on 14 February 2023 for the
termination of the domestic pay television programme service
licence with effect from 1 June 2023. During the year ended 31
December 2022, the revenue generated from the Pay TV
business (the “Pay TV Revenue”) contributed over one-third of
the revenue of the Group. Due to the future reduction of the Pay
TV Revenue as well as management'’s assessment of the business
prospect of the Group in light of the latest market environment,
impairment losses in relation to a group of assets of Pay TV
business and certain assets of the remaining business were
recognised.

(A)
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(A) REVIEW OF 2022 RESULTS (Continued) (A =B —FEEEORE®)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, impairment losses of
property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$40,726,000,
programming library of approximately HK$16,484,000 and
contract acquisition costs of approximately HK$6,526,000 were
recognised in relation to a group of assets of Pay TV business.
The estimated recoverable amount of this group of assets was nil
value, since the estimated cash inflows from the Pay TV business
is lower than the estimated cash outflows of the Pay TV business
from 1 January 2023 to the effective date of the Licence
Termination.

Moreover, impairment losses of property, plant and equipment
of approximately HK$98,158,000, right-of-use assets of
approximately HK$34,382,000, programming library of
approximately HK$39,440,000 and other related intangible assets
of approximately HK$5,138,000, were recognised in relation to
the cash-generating unit to which the remaining assets of the
Group are allocated. The estimated recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit was its value in use, which was equal to the
carrying amount of these assets after the impairment as at 31
December 2022. Management determined the value in use of
the cash-generating unit with the assistance of an independent
professional valuer, which is measured using the discounted
cash flow projections. The cash flow projections are based on
financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by the
Board of Directors. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using a long term growth rate. The valuation
method used was consistent with the requirements prescribed
by HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” and remained the same as
that of last year.

The key assumptions used in the cash flow projections included
forecast revenue at growth rates ranging from -25% to 18%
(2021: 9% to 14%) and forecast operating costs at rates ranging
from -13% to -2% (2021:
which are determined by considering both internal and external

-3% to 10%) over the five-year period,

factors relating to the businesses; long term growth rate of 2.5%
(2021: 2.5%) which is consistent with the forecast of the
businesses and the expected market development; and the pre-
tax discount rate of 17.44% (2021: 14.55%) which reflects specific
risks relating to the businesses. Changes in assumptions from
previous year's reflected management's latest business plans
and business prospect in light of the latest market environment.

More details are set out in Notes 4, 8 and 13 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.
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(B) SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

The principal activities of the Group comprise media and
telecommunications operations.

Media

The media segment includes operations related to the television
subscription business, domestic free television programme
service, advertising, channel carriage, television relay service,
programme licensing, theatrical release and other related
businesses.

Revenue derived from the media segment for the year ended 31
December 2022 decreased by approximately HK$76 million to
approximately HK$496 million (2021: approximately HK$572
million), which was mainly due to the lower subscription revenue
and the decline in advertising revenue.

Operating expenses before depreciation, amortisation of other
intangible assets and impairment losses incurred by the media
segment for the year ended 31 December 2022 decreased to
approximately HK$709 million (2021: approximately HK$760
million). As disclosed in “Segment Information” in Note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report, the loss
before depreciation, amortisation of other intangible assets and
impairment losses of the media segment for the year ended 31
December 2022 increased to approximately HK$212 million
(2021: approximately HK$188 million), which was mainly due to
the net effect of the decrease in revenue, the decrease in
programming costs and the increase in selling, general and
administrative and other operating expenses.

Telecommunications

The telecommunications segment includes operations related to
broadband internet access services, portal operation, telephony
services, network leasing, network construction, mobile service
and mobile agency service as well as other related businesses.

Revenue derived from the telecommunications segment for the
year ended 31 December 2022 decreased by approximately
HKS$18 million to approximately HK$399 million (2021:
approximately HK$417 million) due to the lower subscription
revenue.
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(B)

(@)

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Continued)
Telecommunications (Continued)

Operating expenses before depreciation, amortisation of other
intangible assets and impairment losses incurred by the
telecommunications segment for the year ended 31 December
2022 were approximately HK$264 million, at the similar level as
last year (2021: approximately HK$266 million). As disclosed in
“Segment Information” in Note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report, the profit before depreciation,
amortisation of other intangible assets and impairment losses
from the telecommunications segment for the year ended 31
December 2022 decreased by approximately 11% to
approximately HK$135 million (2021: approximately HK$151
million), which was mainly due to the decrease in subscription
revenue.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had cash and bank balances
and restricted bank balances of approximately HK$42 million and
HKS$17 million, respectively as compared to approximately HK$70
million and HKS$11 million, respectively as at 31 December 2021.
The decrease in cash and bank balances was mainly due to the
net cash used in operations and investing activities and
offsetting with the net cash from financing activities. The cash
and bank balances and restricted bank balances of the Group as
at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are mainly denominated in Hong
Kong Dollar ("HKS"). The net gearing ratio, measured in terms of
the total interest-bearing borrowings and convertible bonds less
cash and bank balances and restricted bank balances divided by
total deficit/equity, was a negative of approximately 146% (as
divided by total deficit) (31 December 2021: approximately 504%
(as divided by total equity)). As at 31 December 2022, the Group
recorded total assets of approximately HK$879 million which
were financed by liabilities of approximately HK$1,619 million
offsetting with the deficit of approximately HK$740 million. As at
31 December 2021, the Group recorded total assets of
approximately HK$1,486 million which were financed by
liabilities of approximately HK$1,340 million and equity of
approximately HK$146 million. The decrease in equity was
attributable to the loss for the year.

Consolidated net liability value of the Group as at 31 December
2022 was approximately HKS$740 million, while the Group
recorded a consolidated net asset value of approximately
HKS$146 million as at 31 December 2021.
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(C) LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND

CAPITAL STRUCTURE (Continued)

The carrying amount of interest-bearing borrowings
denominated in HKS as at 31 December 2022 was approximately
HK$591 million (31 December 2021: approximately HK$295
million), of which HK$295 million carried interest at variable rates
and was repayable on demand; approximately HK$296 million
are unsecured, carry interest at fixed rates ranging from 2.5% to
3.0% per annum and with a term of three years from the date of
respective loan agreements. The committed borrowing facilities
available to the Group but not drawn as at 31 December 2022
amounted to HK$105 million (31 December 2021: approximately
HKS$105 million) and subsequently, there was no related
committed borrowing facilities but not drawn as a result of the
revision of the limit of the renewed facility from HK$400 million
to HK$295 million on 24 March 2023.

The 2019 LCS

On 4 June 2019, the issuance of the 2019 LCS with the principal
amount of HK$568 million by the Company to Forever Top (Asia)
Limited (“Forever Top” or “Controlling Shareholder”), the
controlling shareholder of the Company was completed. The
2019 LCS would be convertible into 4,544,000,000 new ordinary
shares of the Company (the “Share(s)”) upon full conversion of
the 2019 LCS based on the initial conversion price (the
“Conversion Price”) of HK$0.125 per conversion share and the
coupon rate of the 2019 LCS is 2.0% per annum and payable
quarterly. Details of the 2019 LCS are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 25 January 2019 and 4
June 2019 and the circular of the Company dated 8 April 2019
(the “2019 Circular”). During the year ended 31 December 2022,
there had not been any conversion of the 2019 LCS.

The carrying amount of the 2019 LCS denominated in HKS as at
1 December 2022 was approximately HK$405 million (31
December 2021: approximately HK$386 million). Details of the
2019 LCS were set out in “Convertible Bonds” in Note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

The net proceeds raised from the issuance of the 2019 LCS have
all been utilised as at 31 December 2020 according to the
intended use of proceeds as disclosed in the 2019 Circular.
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(C) LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND Q) FBEL - UEERREAXRER @

CAPITAL STRUCTURE (Continued)
The 2021 LCS

On 31 March 2021, the issuance of the 2021 LCS with the
principal amount of HK$200 million by the Company to Forever
Top was completed. The 2021 LCS would be convertible into
2,941,176,470 new Shares upon full conversion of the 2021 LCS
based on the initial conversion price of HK$0.068 per conversion
share and the coupon rate of the 2021 LCS is 2.0% per annum
and payable quarterly. The Company may at any time on or after
the date of issue of the 2021 LCS by giving not less than 10
business days’ written notice to the holder(s) of the 2021 LCS to
redeem all or part of the 2021 LCS at the outstanding principal
amount of the 2021 LCS together with all accrued but unpaid
interest. Details of the 2021 LCS are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 27 January 2021 and 31
March 2021 and the circular of the Company dated 2 March
2021 (the "2021 Circular”). During the year ended 31 December
2022, there had not been any conversion or redemption of the
2021 LCS.

The carrying amount of the 2021 LCS denominated in HKS as at
1 December 2022 was approximately HK$141 million (31
December 2021: approximately HK$136 million). Details of the
2021 LCS were set out in “Convertible Bonds” in Note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

The net proceeds raised from the issuance of the 2021 LCS have
all been utilised as at 31 December 2022 according to the
intended use of proceeds as disclosed in the 2021 Circular.
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(C) LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND Q) RBET  MBERREARRE &
CAPITAL STRUCTURE (Continued)
The 2021 LCS (Continued) —EC-FRPTERES @)
The following table sets forth the information in relation to such TREYEFLEMERIEFHEARNER

use of the net proceeds:

Actual use of net Actual use of net Intended use of unutilised
proceeds during proceeds during the net proceeds raised from
Intended use of net proceeds raised from the year ended year ended 31 December the issuance of the 2021 LCS
theissuance of the 2021 LCS as 31 December 2021 as 2022 as originally asat 31 December 2022
disclosed in the 2021 Circular originally intended intended and expected timeline
RRERRRA RRERRRR HRBACRT-8=-F
BE-B--F Bz-B-c RETRRESES
tZR=+-H tZA=t-AL FERERER=2=2
CERC-FEAFRECRI-8C-F LEEREHE EERERE TZB=t-HeRERR
RETERESERMENEREZRERR BEZERRR BEZERRR RESRER
Approximately HK$198 million comprising: Approximately HK$173 million Approximately HKS25 million HINl
4919800000087+ B - 117300000087 #925000000 8¢ S
[0} Approximately HK$100 million for investments in capital [0} Approximately [0} Approximately HKS25 (i) HKSNl:
expenditure for the enhancement of network infrastructure and HKS75 million; millior;

other relevant capital expenditures;

#9100000000 BT RER AR BRERR 2 BASUL R 4175000000787 : 4125000000787 : TN
HiBBEAK
(i) Approximately HK$80 million for acquisition of programmes and (i) Approximately (i) HKSNil and (i) HKSNil and

programme production including: HKS80 million;
#180000000/E LR {ESV BRI REHERTE - A% ¢ 4180000000787 : TEL R T R
(i@ approximately HK$40 million for the funding requirements (i@  approximately

of acquired channels; HKS40 million;

94000000 BT RIEINBIEE L R ES - #)40,000000

AL

(i) approximately HKS20 million for the funding requirements (ii)b)  approximately

of live programmes, movies and dramas, and other HKS20 million;

entertainment pprogrammes;

92000000 B TRIFERER - B RRBNRE #)20000000
{RELE 2 LS BT
(i) approximately HK$20 million for the funding requirements (i) approximately
of self-produced programmes; and HK$20 million;
and
20000000 TLRIFEHER ZFIEAE R #120000000

B R
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(C) LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND (C) HEE: WKERREAZEE@
CAPITAL STRUCTURE (Continued)

The 2021 LCS (Continued) “EC-FREATBRRKRES @

Actual use of net Actual use of net Intended use of unutilised
proceeds during

the year ended

31 December 2021 as
originally intended

BRERBER -

Intended use of net proceeds raised from
the issuance of the 2021 LCS as
disclosed in the 2021 Circular

Bz-%--F
t=A=+-A
L EREHE
FE2RRAR

(i) Approximately HKS18 million for general working capital including i)
but not limited to salaries and benefits, rental and utilities,
government/music licence fees, other general and administrative
expenses

CEC-FRRAHECRTEC-F
RETERESEXFERETECREAS

1800000 B LR E—REEES (RERTRINE LKA
F BERABELER BN/ SLERE Ah-HR
THER)

The Group takes a centralised approach to the Group’s funding
and treasury management as well as optimisation of the funding
cost-efficiency. The management (i) strives to maintain a
balanced debt and capital financing structure; (i) ensures secure
and optimum return on the investment of surplus funds within
an agreed risk profile; (iii) oversees the treasury related financial
risks, including but not limited to interest rate risk, currency risk,
liquidity risk and credit risk; (iv) strives to diversify source of
funding and maintain a balanced maturity profile; and (v)
maintains an appropriate control environment to protect the
financial return under the fluid financial market conditions.

The Group's assets and liabilities are mainly denominated in HK$
and United States Dollars (“USS$") and it earns its revenue and
incurs costs and expenses mainly in HKS and USS$. As HKS is
pegged to USS, the Group does not expect any significant
foreign currency exposure arising from the fluctuation of the
USS/HKS or HKS/USS exchange rates.

Approximately
HKS18 million

#718,000,000387T

proceeds during the net proceeds raised from
year ended 31 December the issuance of the 2021 LCS
2022 as originally asat 31 December 2022
intended and expected timeline
EREREER - WABRZRIT-F=-F
BE-®-C RETRRESER
tZA=+-AL FEREFER-8-2F
EEMERE TZR=t-HZRERR
FECERAR RRARER
(il HKSNl (il HKSNl

THL TEL

AEBEHARENES REKERUALELLES
RABERREFRETR - BIRE ) RN#
FEMEHREANRELR  ()VEHENERS
BINBRBHESRENTE RRERR : (i) &
BHEESAROSRER  SREFRRFER
B SNERER  RBESREBRLEERR : (v
NEZTERESRIR - LRFHEO B EHOR
FWHFEENEERE  WESBRHBSRDIR
BYROGRAT N M4 B E R BT S DR -

AEENEERABIENELRET(ETD
FHE - 7T EL P BRER A WA A K% E A B PR % B 2
AIEBABTT REITRTHE - R T =X #
o AEBEEMAERXTEBTHBITLET
BEE K % BY EE AR (AR BRSNS R



56

i-CABLE Communications Limited Annual Report 2022

Management Discussion and Analysis

THEFRR S

(@)

(D)

(E)

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, capital expenditure
on property, plant and equipment amounted to approximately
HKS114 million (2021: approximately HK$120 million), the
additions to right-of-use assets were approximately HK$12
million (2021: approximately HK$6 million), the additions to
programming library were approximately HK$47 million (2021:
approximately HK$48 million) and the additions to other
intangible assets were HKSNil (2021: approximately HKS$0.2
million).

The Group financed its operations generally with internally
generated cash flows, the available credit facilities, the net
proceeds raised from the issuance of the 2021 LCS and loans
from the controlling shareholder of Forever Top.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any contingent
liabilities.

GUARANTEES

As at 31 December 2022, a corporate guarantee had been
provided by the Company to a bank of HK$400 million (31
December 2021: HK$400 million) in respect of the facility of
borrowing up to HK$400 million (31 December 2021: HK$400
million) to a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, of which
HKS$295 million (31 December 2021: HK$295 million) was utilised
by the subsidiary of the Company. On 24 March 2023, the above-
mentioned corporate guarantee provided by the Company to a
bank was revised from HK$400 million to HK$295 million in
respect of the renewed facility of borrowing up to HK$295
million to a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, of which
HKS$295 million was utilised by the subsidiary of the Company.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had made arrangements
with a bank to provide two separate performance bonds to
counterparties amounting to approximately HK$40 million (31
December 2021: approximately HK$34 million), of which
approximately HK$10 million (31 December 2021: approximately
HKS4 million) was secured by bank deposits. The performance
bonds are to guarantee in favour of the counterparties the
Group's performance in fulfilling the obligations under a contract
and the requirements as set out in the licence issued by a

regulatory body.

(@)

(E)

RBEE - UKERRELRRE@®

He-_T-_—F+-_A=+t—HILFE PWE-
B K 5% W) B AN S 491140000008 T (=&
— —%F 1 #7120,000,0007870) « ERNFERAEEEL
12,000,0008 70 (ZZF = —4F : #J6,000,00077T) *
ERNEAEE / ’347000000,%57u(_--:—¢' 49

48,000,000/ L) RIBAEMEFEESTBL(Z
T~ — 4 A% 200,000 7T) °
AEB—REUARNBEENRL R THEE

B BT -FRYVBRRESNAFRE
FEIMOKFTZEBRERZ EFRRE LB RIES -

HAREE

R-ZE_—F+-_A=+—8  AEELHEIM
HABE -

=R

R-EBE-_—F+-A=+—H AQXFH—HE2
%SMTJ% A]FTER A A B % 400,000,000 8 70 (=
T ——F+=F=+—H : 4000000005 T) &
,TMf, T8 [ — A ERT R & A #E1R 400,000,000 7%
T(ZZEZ—F+=A=+—H : 400,000,000
J0) ¢ AR R B A E B B A H A 295,000,000 7T
(:;:—¢+—ﬂ2+—5'295000000;‘%
L) e RZEZ=F=A=+WH  XAEMF—
IR 1T }m Y _E it A B #E{R 3 400,000,000 8 TT &
%T%z%oooooo;‘%ﬁ mARR—EE2EN B
N TE 1B 5 % 295,000,000 78 TTHI B R 0 ANA 7MY
BRI BB E A 295,000,000 7T °

R-E-_—F+-A=+—H8 AEEHE—[E
TLZHERMEFHFREMBEBLBLORED
400000008 T (ZFEZ—F+_A=+—H : &
34,000,000 7T ) © H A £910,000000%8 T( = &
——F+=ZA=+—H: #4000000%7T) LAR
THERIEER - BORBEEMYEF IRELRE
E#HETANE THETARESHIBENNE
SRATEIRIE o
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(F)

(G)

(H)

HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group had 1,151 full-time employees as at 31 December
2022 (31 December 2021: 1,155). Total salaries and related costs
before capitalisation and incurred for the year ended 31
December 2022 amounted to approximately HK$372 million (31
December 2021: approximately HK$405 million). The
remuneration of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”)
and the employees of the Group is determined with reference to
their qualifications, experience, duties and responsibilities with
the Group, as well as the Group's performance and the prevailing
market conditions. Besides, the Group regularly provides training
courses for the employees of the Group to meet their needs.
Under the share option scheme of the Company adopted on 24
May 2018 (the “Share Option Scheme”), share options of the
Company (the “Share Options”) may be granted to the Directors
and eligible employees of the Group to subscribe for Shares.

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

In view of the intensifying competition among various
multimedia platforms and the telecommunication providers, the
Group's revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022
decreased due to the decline in the subscription revenue and
the advertising revenue from the TV and MTR In-train TV.

Keen business competition in the market has continued to
contract the subscription customer base of Pay TV service and
the subscription average revenue per user (“ARPU") was affected.

For broadband service, due to a saturated market with price war
triggered by the incumbents, there was a slight decrease of
approximately 2% in the number of subscribers to approximately
198,000 as at 31 December 2022 as compared to approximately
202,000 as at 31 December 2021.

Charge on Group Assets

As at 31 December 2022, restricted bank balances of
approximately HK$17 million (31 December 2021: approximately
HKS$11 million) were made by the Group to secure certain
banking facilities granted to the Group.

(F)

(H)

ABER

R-BE-—_F+-A=+—H A£EEH1151%
PBREI(ZE—4F+=-A=+—H:1155
B BEZZEZ_FF+_A=-1+—HLTFEE
TEANFMEENTFHEEERAIAHED
372,000,000 (ZE=—F+_A=+—H: 4
405,000,000 70) e ARRIEE([EFE]) M AEE
BEINFHHIS2ERENER £5%  RAEE
MBS LBE  UERASBEMEERERNTRM
BT -t/ AEBTHARSEE TRENE
BEBEZNEIRRE - BREARFTR_Z—N\F
FAZTHAHEMMERET S BRRER
g MEZRAEEBAERE IR TIRER
MR B AR ([FEARRE ) -

RERIR

EREREZRBTFEREAHRER BB F M
o AEEBE_T-__F+_A=+—HILF
WA D - ThlRET P A R ER KB
HERERESRATE -

MHHEFEE - ERBEEERBNF AR
& AIPMEPFARA(ERFHRAD R

|| B2 488
BIE -

REMERBSHE - ARTIS2EERBNTISE
BERE  FIPHER_E_—Ft+_A=1+—
B 8 49202,000 % B HUR D B2 E T = =
+—A=+—HH#I198000% °

EEBEEEIRF
M-TB-—F+-_A=+—0 KAEERHEL
17,0000008 0 (ZE=Z—F+=ZA=+—H : &
11,000,000 70) B X PR BISRTT A5 68 - LATERANER
EFTEERS TIRITEREMERR -
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)

)

(K)

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
AND SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

There was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries,
associated companies and joint ventures or significant
investments of the Group, which would have been required to
be disclosed under the Listing Rules during the year ended 31
December 2022.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group will continue to invest in property, plant and
equipment and programming library as required by its business
operations, and explore the market and identify any business
opportunities which will be beneficial to its growth and
development, enhance its profitability, and strive for better
return to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

The Group’s ongoing capital expenditure will be funded by
internal cash flows generated from operations and the available
credit facilities.

OUTLOOK

The Group has been focusing on formulating and implementing
an organisational restructuring which included, among other
things, (i) identifying cost-saving initiatives through automation
and process re-engineering; (ii) promoting more locally-
produced high quality content and introducing new overseas
contents; (iii) exploring new television content co-operation
models for free television and other digital media platforms in
view of the increasing competition from alternative media
platforms; and (iv) performing strategic reviews on possible
restructuring of the Group to enhance business performance
and management efficiency, to promote synergies, and to
improve cost efficiency and profitability, and on the financial
performance of the Group. As part of a strategic review, the
Group has been and will continue to prudently evaluate any
potential partnerships and development opportunities of new
digital and enterprise solutions.

)

0))

(K)

EARBREHEREARE

HE-_Z-—_F+-A=+—HILFE #HEE
BEETABEREZEANBERHEARAES
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(K) OUTLOOK (continued)

With the relaxation of the COVID-19 measures, the reopening of
the Hong Kong-China border and the resumption of inbound
and outbound travel, the Group expects Hong Kong to gradually
return to normalcy with an increase in business activities and
consumer confidence. 2023 will continue to be a significant
year of transformation for its media business as the
Group transitioned out of its Pay TV business. On the
telecommunications side, the Group aims to build on its solid
foundation. Talents and partnerships remain its biggest assets in
helping it transform. Therefore, the Group’s focus for 2023 will be
retaining talents as well as recruiting new blood. The Group is
also looking to extend its business through mutually beneficial
partnerships.

Media

The global trend of reduction of subscribers on Pay TV platforms
and shift to online streaming media is unavoidable. In view of
the rapidly changing media landscape in Hong Kong and fierce
competition among the global paid TV content providers and
pay TV operators, the Group obtained approval from the
Government of the HKSAR on 14 February 2023 for the Licence
1 June 2023. HKC has put in place
satisfactory exit plans for its subscribers and will focus on the
execution of those plans for a smooth transition. After the
termination of the Pay TV services, the Group will continue to
provide Free TV programme services and operate other

Termination with effect from

(K)

qﬁm

Al 5 (%
LN T NBRES RO EEERE B
£ 0h B 2 5 R R RS P A B s A S B TE
BEZREEE RN B EEOEI - BB EE SR
BER - AEERKBERERER  —T-=
Ehmﬁmﬁ BTN EE 4 o EEIS
CREEMBIEARIBEOEY ATRE
@%%ﬁﬁLHmExQE A AEEN T
CEBEENRBAMERAL o b AEM
A BE BRI AL BERAREER -

e
WEEBRFAFI PR RERR ESERKENE
HREgERS ENFAREMBEBIRK
& iafﬂﬂz;%?fﬁ%ﬁwﬂf tER R W EEREER
agR AEEER T -_=F_A+N
EIZE SEARERBAMEE —T-_=FA—H
IR - BRERCAETPRELHRLL
i WHFENAITREE - LUEBUBRHE
B WEBEBRBLILE  AEESEENTIR
HEBERH B RGMELEMETR - BIRHE
AEESETHRBERNREERMB R RER
% ARMELBEEN—ZF AR BERTIS

businesses as usual. This marked a strategic step forward for the THETENE - ITiﬁﬁﬂjfﬁxﬁﬁﬁ—I%’lﬁ
Group in focusing its resources on media investment on its Free N o HZHBEEY REENBRIZEKLE

TV Channels and multimedia businesses. The local Free TV
market is no longer dominated and monopolised, and various
business possibilities and opportunities are evolving. Evident by
strong box office results of various Cantonese movies and shows,
demand for locally-produced content with originality and
diversity in Hong Kong is increasing. The Group will continue to
focus in producing exceptional local content and extending
their maximum reach to audiences via various channels. The
Group's further reach, influence and more diversified products
and intellectual properties will drive incremental advertising
revenue and other new revenue models.

AR BEm ¥T$i@*”{’ﬁﬁ’3;7ﬂlﬁ?aﬂwﬁﬁﬁ
FREREM - AEEFEESINEEBE R
WAR BRERREEFRANEREELSR
c AEBEBBEBABERELTEN  URE
ZIEMERRABER  BEBESEAER
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Media (Continued)

While the broadcasting business is rapidly changing and remains
competitive, the Group's core value and mission remains clear as
an influencing broadcaster to its viewers and to pursue and
promote the importance of “Narrating Hong Kong's Story” (& &
EBME). The Group cares for its audience and will continue to
produce authentic engaging content to resonate its audiences’
minds. In 2023, the Group will continue to actively seek suitable
opportunities for regional and international content
collaborations, as well as to explore the production of new
television series and new innovative formats of programmes.

As the first 24-hour TV news channel in Hong Kong, the Group
will continue to develop the “i-CABLE News" brand. i-CABLE
News will continue to be the news content provider of our three
Free TV Channels including Hong Kong International Business
Channel (Channel 76), HOY TV (Channel 77) and HOY
Infotainment (Channel 78). The i-CABLE News team will strive to
create an omnichannel and a one-stop media platform to live
stream press conferences and major events in the city.
New programmes such as “%EffiZ £ ", a talk show in Mandarin
interviewing corporate executives in Mainland China, “Closer
Look”, an in-depth English news programme, and “ZRZEK A3k ", a
programme focusing on fixing interior design problems will also
be rolled out gradually in 2023. Besides, the top rated
programmes like “City Focus” (—## &), “Let's Talk' (B £ B
518) and “Money and Wisdom” (1% - B{8), “World Living” (&
5 B {E) and “Anchor Focus” (= 1 13 A) Season 2 will be
released during the third quarter of 2023.

The proliferation of online content has been making the media
battlefield more intense, the Group continues to believe
embracing digital technologies is pivotal for it to turn around.
The Group will focus on enhancing features on its mobile
applications, including HOY Mobile App, i-CABLE News App, and
mobile websites to pursue a higher quality digital experience to
audiences. With rapid development of 5G wireless network and
popularity of content streaming on smartphones, the Group will
invest in content delivery technologies to enrich customer
experience in enjoying the content anytime and anywhere to
broaden the Group’s revenue streams. The Group will continue
to strive to improve its video streaming capacity and quality on
its digital platforms.

(K)
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(K) OUTLOOK (continued) (K) B = (&)

Media (Continued)

With the launch of the new consumer-facing brand HOY, the
increase in the signal coverage of free-to-air TV spectrum, and
the launch of all-new news and infotainment channel Free TV
Channel 78 HOY Infotainment, the Group expects to bring its
rich and diverse content to wider and more extensive audience
coverage in order to further drive incremental advertising
revenue from more diversified product sectors. The Group will
continue to invest in high-quality self-produced programmes
and acquire innovative programmes and design more integrated
marketing solutions services to further expand the Group's
revenue streams.

To further extend the digital experience of audience, Mobile App
“Racing GPS” (B F§GPS) will continue to provide more entertaining
and high-quality horse-racing programmes to cater for the
demand of current customers and attract new users despite the
Licence Termination.

The acquisition of exclusive Hong Kong region broadcast rights
of the Asian Games which will be held in September 2023, which
represents the seventh consecutive year that we will be
delivering the most anticipated sports events to the Group's
audience. The Group is committed to providing Hong Kong
audience with extensive online and offline interactive
experiences through multi-channel marketing. The Group will
broadcast contests of Hong Kong athletes and spread positive
vibes. On top of this important Asian sports event, the Group
had secured the exclusive broadcasting right of “Hong Kong
Sevens’ (&8 BB+ AMBERER), the world-class rugby tournament,
which will be held from late March to early April 2023 in Hong Kong.
Following “Hong Kong Sevens”, the Group will broadcast an
international volleyball competition “FIVB Women's Volleyball
Nations League” (FIVB tE SR ZZ HEB% 2 ) in June 2023.

The Group expects more business opportunities to be captured
in 2023 through provision of value-added integrated marketing
solutions services and multi-platforms media bundling services.
In this regard, the Group has been actively recruiting new sales
and digital solutions talents to provide fresh and novel insights
and marketing solutions to its advertisers. The Group will
continue to polish its sales and marketing strategies by adopting
creative selling strategy of content sponsorship and product
portfolio.
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Media (Continued)

As the exclusive commercial airtime sales distributor and content
provider for the MTR In-train TV, cross borders re-opening with
the Mainland China together with the uplift of restrictive social
and travel measures in early 2023 are anticipated to bring further
increase of patronage on the MTR and MTR In-train TV
advertising revenue to the Group. Advertisers of pharmacy,
health-related products and toiletries would expect to conduct
more active marketing and targeting activities to the increasing
number of cross-boundary passengers. Moreover, the full
commissioning of the cross-harbour extension of East Rail Line,
providing passengers with enhanced connectivity, will continue
to bring in more passenger flows. Together with the gradual
introduction of new MTR trains in 2023, the Group expects it will
further enhance the growth of revenue on the MTR In-train TV.

Meanwhile, the Greater Bay Area ("GBA”) presents an
extraordinary opportunity for the Group to shape and expand its
business by collaborating with major media and operators within
the region. With the growing business and job opportunities in
the GBA and the re-opening of the border between Hong Kong
and Mainland China, the Group will continue to explore and
capture more partnership opportunities in the GBA.

Telecommunications

With new housing projects to be launched by the Government
of the HKSAR in 2023, mild growth in the residential broadband
market is anticipated. The Group expects the market competition
among fixed-line operators to remain strong and the ARPU of
fixed-line broadband to remain under pressure in 2023. As a
territory-wide telecommunications network provider which
covers over 2 million households in Hong Kong, the Group will
continue to expand its core network of fibre coverage and
increase its core network capacity to cater for both residential
and commercial markets in order to drive for business growth.
The GPON enabling FTTH high-speed internet services will
continue to be the Group’s anchor product. The Group will
continue to explore opportunities in maximising the value of the
core fibre and communication network of the Group.
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(K) OUTLOOK (continued) (K)

Bl 5 (@)

Telecommunications (Continued)

Leveraging on its well-established infrastructure, the Group
continues to enhance its broadband internet access services
through expanding its network coverage. The Group expects to
see more resilience in the enterprise solution market as
corporates continue to catch up on enterprise digitalisation and
technological upgrade to facilitate the new normal of a hybrid
work mode. The Group expects that the trend will continue to
drive demand for its high-quality and reliable network and data
connectivity services in different industry verticals. The Group
will continue to invest in and expand the enterprise solutions
business in order to build this new income stream for the Group.

To capture the rising demand for mobile connectivity products,
a new mobile partnership has been successfully established with
an aim to bring 5G mobile services to its target customers. The
Group will take the opportunities and leverage potential
synergies to further increase new subscribers by cross-selling
within the in-base customers.

The Group entered into the network development agreement in
December 2018 in relation to a strategic collaboration with
CMHK in telecommunications and value-added media-related
services. The cross-platform collaboration could dynamically
integrate the strengths and creativity of the two companies,
develop outstanding quality, diversified telecommunications
services, and strengthen sales channels. The Group will target
further growth in revenue through closer collaboration with
CMHK. The two companies will continue to work together in
taking the development of the local telecommunications and
media market to a new level.

Looking ahead, the Group will rise to the challenges as Hong
Kong is on the path to recovery from the COVID-19. The Group
will continue to pay close attention to and ride on the post-
COVID-19 rebound, and deliver more value to its stakeholders
given its advantage as one of the major service providers in
information and communications technology in Hong Kong
with wide customer reach, competitive service offerings,
valuable business partnerships and an innovative and
experienced management team. The Group will continue to
pursue its plan to deliver high-speed broadband services
through network upgrades, and explore new business
opportunities. Simultaneously, the Group will diligently monitor
and review its spending on programming library, content
enrichment, and new media development.
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(L) EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 9 January 2023, HKC, as the borrower, entered into a loan
agreement with Celestial Pioneer Limited (a company holding
72.0% of the total number of issued shares of Forever Top) as the
lender, pursuant to which, HKC obtained an unsecured loan with
a principal amount of HK$80 million for a term of three years
from the date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of
5.0% per annum.

In view of the rapidly changing media landscape in Hong Kong,
and fierce competition among global Pay TV content providers
and Pay TV operators, HKC submitted an application for the
Licence Termination to the Government of the HKSAR. On 14
February 2023, the Chief Executive in Council has approved the
Licence Termination with effect from 1 June 2023. Following the
approval, HKC remains bound by the terms and conditions of its
Pay TV Licence until the termination, and thereafter HKC will
remain as a subsidiary of the Company and the Group will
continue to provide Free TV programme services and other
businesses as usual, including without limitations broadband
telecommunications services, telephony services, network
construction and mobile services, allowing a more flexible
utilisation and investment of HKC's talents and resources. For
details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 14
February 2023. Due to the Licence Termination, as well as the
assessment of the business prospect of the Group in light of the
latest market environment, the Group recognised the non-cash
write down of deferred tax assets and non-cash impairment
losses on programming library, property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, other related intangible assets and contract
acquisition costs for the year ended 31 December 2022. For
details, please refer to “Segment Information” in Note 7 and “Loss
before Taxation” in Note 8 to consolidated financial statements
in this annual report.

Save as disclosed above, the Group does not have any material
events affecting the Group's financial performance and/or
financial position significantly that have occurred since the end
of the financial year ended 31 December 2022.
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(M) COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there was no
incidence of non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations of the place in which the Group operates that has a
significant impact on the business operations of the Group.
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(A)

(B)

(€

ERELSRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices, and procedures and to
complying with the statutory and regulatory requirements with
an aim to maximising the Shareholders’ values and interests as
well as enhancing the stakeholders’ transparency and
accountability. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Company had complied with all applicable code provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”") as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, with the exception of the
deviation as set out under section (C) below.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. The Company, having
made specific enquiries of all the Directors, was not aware of any
non-compliance with the required standard set out in the Model
Code during the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Company has also applied the principles of the Model Code
for securities transactions to the employees of the Group.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and management of
the Group as well as promoting the success of the Group with
the objective of acting for the best of the interests of the Group
and the Shareholders as a whole by directing and supervising its
affairs in a responsible and effective manner. The key
responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the overall
strategies of the Group, monitoring the performance of the
management, and ensuring the duties delegated to respective
board committees of the Company are effectively performed.
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ERELSRE

(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Composition of the Board

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises
eleven Directors, of whom two are executive Directors, five
are non-executive Directors and four are independent
non-executive Directors. The composition of the Board is
set out below:

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry
(Chairman, Non-executive Director)
Tan Sri Dato’ David CHIU
(Vice-chairman, Non-executive Director)
Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick
(Vice-chairman, Executive Director)
Mr. LIE KEN JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng
(Executive Director)
Mr. Andrew Wah Wai CHIU
(Non-executive Director)
Mr. HOONG Cheong Thard (Non-executive Director)
Ms. NG Yuk Mui Jessica (Non-executive Director)
Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey
(Independent non-executive Director)
Dr. HU Shao Ming Herman
(Independent non-executive Director)
Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger
(Independent non-executive Director)
Mr. TANG Sing Ming Sherman
(Independent non-executive Director)
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(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Composition of the Board (Continued)

Biographical information of the Directors and the
relationship among the members of the Board are set out
in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” on pages 127 to 140 of this
annual report. Each Director has been appointed on the
strength of his/her calibre, experience and stature, and
his/her potential to contribute to the proper guidance of
the Group and its businesses.

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors a confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company considers that all the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

The Company has established effective mechanisms to
ensure independent views and input are available to the
Board including but not limited to, giving the Directors
access to independent professional advice to discharge
his/her duties in appropriate circumstances. Such
independent views mechanisms in place are subject to
annual review by the Board.
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ERELSRE

(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Operation of the Board

The Company is headed by an effective Board which
makes decisions objectively in the interests of the
Company. The management of the Group (the
“Management”) has closely monitored changes to
regulations that affect its corporate affairs and businesses,
and changes to accounting standards, and adopted
appropriate reporting format in its interim report, annual
report and other related documents to present a balanced,
clear and comprehensible assessment of the Group's
performance, position and prospects. Where these
changes are pertinent to the Company or Directors’
disclosure obligations, the Directors are either briefed
during Board meetings or issued with regular updates and
materials to keep them abreast of their responsibilities and
of the conduct, business activities and development of the
Group. The Company has ensured that the Directors can
participate in Board meetings in a meaningful and
effective manner. The Company has also provided
accurate, clear, complete and reliable information in a
timely manner to the Directors to enable them to make an
informed decision and to discharge their duties and
responsibilities as the Directors.

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the
Board and the Management. Decisions on important
matters are specifically reserved to the Board while
decisions on the Group’s general operations are delegated
to the Management. Important matters include those
affecting the Group's strategic policies, major investment
and funding decisions and major commitments relating to
the Group's operations.

If a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be
considered by the Board which the Board has determined
to be material, the matter should be dealt with by a
physical Board meeting rather than a written resolution.
Independent non-executive Directors who, and whose
close associates (as defined under the Listing Rules), have
no material interest in the transaction should be present
at that Board meeting.

ERRBBANERAT —TEZFFR

€ EE=gwm)

EEEEF
ARBA—ETZAERNEEERE &
EEFHTE  MERRTEARRAME ©
AEENERE(EREDERIERY
HEXEHEREBAEZENRGNES
AR et ERINES  YERMEENZ
BRARREPHRE FHREEMEAH
XA A AREBEERIR AR MATR (F
A BM R 2 AR Z o BARF R
HESNWRBEAEEHABENED  AINE=S
CEeRPENESTH®R AMNEFTEHE
MEHMEANRER BEEITKEBRESE
MEL UWRAKENER XHEHM
BR-ARFDHEREFHEAUNBERER
BRI A2HEETEEH - ARANE
ER RS EEREERE  BH - TBEA
FNEH BREZTUCEZERHEEHD
BRTETRE  WETHERESHR
BREME -

E=xeHEREENAEEFERENY REE
REENRIRERETESTE  MRE
AEE-REENETARETEERE -
EZEHERFERNSENREIERER
EARENRERENSTE  UREXE
BEBABMEARE -

HEFER/REFNESENTERZ
FHPPREANGER - AAREERK
REAEFSEH LRIEMIFUNEEIRE
RoBUNNTEEREETHEA(ER
REMRAD MY ERR S FEBEEKRF
o REBURTEFALRREES

P
El

69



70 i-CABLE Communications Limited Annual Report 2022

Corporate Governance Report
LRERESE

(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued) (C) EE=E )

lll. Number of Board/general meetings and n. EE®8 BRERASSEHEARE
Directors’ attendance EHESRRE

EEQAEYENRTNER MEFHR
TESHIIERTES ZHENRESE -
MESZENRERERMEAEEBER
2ER -BE_E-_—_F+=-A=+—H
IHHBREE  ARREEBTANEESS
HoTRERNNERESSSHETD
RU4BEN URERKeTERESES
FEELEmEEE - EE 2 HFELREHY
LU

The Board has a balance of skills and experience and a
balanced composition of executive and non-executive
Directors with diversity of skills and experience appropriate to
the requirements of the Group’s business. Five Board
meetings of the Company were held during the financial year
ended 31 December 2022. Notice of not less than 14 days
was given to all the Directors for the regular Board meetings
and the Directors were given an opportunity to include
matters in the agenda for the regular Board meetings. The
attendance records of the Directors are set out below:

Attendance/Number of Meeting(s)

HESSIY SEYE

Annual

Board General

Meetings Meeting

Directors EEeex BRRBFAE

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry BRuE+

(Chairman, Non-executive Director) (EfE - HFHTEE) 2/5 0/1
Tan Sri Dato’ David CHIU (Vice-chairman, NEE2ENES

Non-executive Director) (BI£/  FHTEE) 3/5 0/1

Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick (Vice-chairman, BRERE(FERE  HTEF)

Executive Director) 5/5 71
Mr. LIE KEN JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng ZEEEE

(Executive Director) (B77EF) 5/5 11
Mr. Andrew Wah Wai CHIU EfEER £ 4

(Non-executive Director) (FERTEE) 5/5 0/1
Mr. HOONG Cheong Thard (Non-executive Director) RELE (EHTEE) 5/5 11
Ms. NG Yuk Mui Jessica (Non-executive Director) RIBRLT (G772 F) 4/5 11
Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey ML E

(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHHTEE) 5/5 11
Dr. HU Shao Ming Herman TR+

(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHHTEE) 4/5 11
Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger EHEZEE

(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHNTEE) 5/5 11
Mr. TANG Sing Ming Sherman FEREE

(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHHTEE) 5/5 11
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ERELSRE

(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Number of Board/general meetings and
Directors’ attendance (Continued)

The external auditor attended the annual general meeting
of the Company on 14 June 2022 (the "AGM") to answer
questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation
and content of the independent auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence and the
chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) also held a
meeting with the independent non-executive Directors
without the presence of other Directors during the year.

The Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years in accordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company (the “Articles”) and the Listing
Rules. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election
at the annual general meeting of the Company. Any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall
hold office until the next following general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at such
meeting.

Each Director (including non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors) has signed a letter
of appointment with the Company for an initial term of
three years and renewable automatically for successive
terms of three years upon expiry of the then current term
of the appointment, unless terminated in accordance with
the terms of his/her letter of appointment. They are also
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Articles and the Listing Rules.

Code Provision C.1.6 of the CG Code stipulates that
independent non-executive directors and other non-
executive directors, as equal board members, should give
the board and any committees on which they serve the
benefit of their skills, expertise and varied backgrounds
and qualifications through regular attendance and active
participation. Generally, they should also attend general
meetings to gain and develop a balanced understanding
of the views of shareholders. Also, Code Provision F.2.2 of
the CG Code stipulates that the chairman of the board
should attend the annual general meeting.
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(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Number of Board/general meetings and
Directors’ attendance (Continued)

Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry (“Dr. Cheng") (the chairman of
the Board and a non-executive Director), Tan Sri Dato’
David Chiu (a vice-chairman of the Board and a non-
executive Director) and Mr. Andrew Wah Wai Chiu (a non-
executive Director) were unable to attend the AGM as
each of Dr. Cheng and Tan Sri Dato’ David Chiu had other
engagements at the time of such meeting and Mr.
Andrew Wah Wai Chiu was out of town for other
engagement. In the absence of the chairman of the Board,
Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick, a vice-chairman of the Board (the
"Vice-chairman”) and an executive Director, acted as the
chairman of the AGM to ensure an effective
communication with the Shareholders.

Director’s Induction and Continuous
Professional Development

Newly appointed Directors will be provided with induction
training. Each of them shall receive the information on the
duties and responsibilities of directors under statutory
regulations and the Listing Rules, and other information
on corporate governance matters. The newly appointed
Directors shall meet the fellow Directors and the
Management to ensure they have an understanding on
the Group’s operations and business. They shall also
receive materials relating to the operations and business
of the Group.

The Company will arrange for Directors to attend training
sessions and forums which place emphasis on the roles,
functions and duties of a listed company director, as well
as the development of regulatory updates and issues. The
Company will also provide the Directors with the latest
development of the Listing Rules, and the relevant laws,
rules and regulations relating to the Director’s duties and
responsibilities. All Directors had provided their training
records to the Company for the financial year ended 31
December 2022 and the training records are maintained
by the company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”).
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(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued) 0 EZEmW

IV. Director’s Induction and Continuous IV. EE2ABEEESXRE @)

Professional Development (Continued)
According to the records of training maintained by the BIEARQ T RGNS - N EE
Company, all the current Directors had, during the BEENFERIESEERmiEEay
financial year under review, pursued continuous BE - TEHEER IR T
professional development and relevant details are set out
below:

Type of continuous professional

development
FREXBRZED

Attending

Reading journals,  seminars and/or
updates and conferences
articles and/or and/or forums
materials, etc.  and/or E-training
MESH - BH  HEWHERS
B XER/H REERNRE

Directors BEHEE  R/IALE
Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry BRAELT

(Chairman, Non-executive Director) (X FHITEE) v/ -
Tan Sri Dato’ David CHIU (Vice-chairman, NirEeBmEs

Non-executive Director) (BIEE - EHTEE) v/ -
Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick (Vice-chairman, GLERE(FEE HITEF)

Executive Director) 4 -
Mr. LIE KEN JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng TEELE

(Executive Director) (H77EF) 4 4
Mr. Andrew Wah Wai CHIU EPER L4

(Non-executive Director) (FHTEE) 4 -
Mr. HOONG Cheong Thard (Non-executive Director) — fLEEE R4 (FEHTEE) v/ 4
Ms. NG Yuk Mui Jessica (Non-executive Director) RMELL(FHTEE) v -
Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey e S

(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHHTEE) v/ v/
Dr. HU Shao Ming Herman TR E LT

(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHHTEE) v/ v/
Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger EHzEE

(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHBTEE) v/ v
Mr. TANG Sing Ming Sherman BT

(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHNTEE) v/ -
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(D) CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

On 7 March 2022, Mr. Wong See Yuen was appointed as the
chief executive officer of the Company. For details, please refer
to the Company’s announcement dated 7 March 2022. Mr. Wong
See Yuen is responsible for developing strategies for Board’s
approval, executing strategies as agreed by the Board and the
general operations of the Group.

Dr. Cheng is the Chairman during the year. Dr. Cheng provides
leadership to the Board and is primarily responsible for
monitoring the Board's efficiency.

The Board also believes that the balance of power and authority
is adequately ensured by the operations of the Board which
comprises experienced and high-calibre individuals.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Under the Articles and the Listing Rules, all Directors are subject
to retirement at an annual general meeting of the Company at
least once every three years and are subject to re-election. The
Board may from time to time appoint a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any such new
Director shall hold office until the next following general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election at such meeting.

The re-election of each of the independent non-executive
Directors who has served on the Board for more than nine years
is subject to (i) a separate resolution to be approved by
Shareholders at the relevant annual general meeting of the
Company; and (ii) further information being given to the
Shareholders together with the notice of meeting regarding the
reasons why the Board believes the relevant Director is still
independent and should be re-elected.

Appropriate liability insurance for the Directors has been
arranged for indemnifying their liabilities arising out of corporate
activities.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES
()  Audit Committee

The Company has set up the audit committee of the
Company (the "AC") with majority of the members being
independent non-executive Directors. As at the date of
this annual report, the AC comprises Mr. Luk Koon Hoo,
Roger (an independent non-executive Director and the
chairman of the AC), Mr. Hoong Cheong Thard (a non-
executive Director) and Mr. Tang Sing Ming Sherman (an
independent non-executive Director).

No member of the AC is a former partner of the existing
audit firm of the Company during the period of two years
after he ceases to be a partner of the audit firm. All AC
members have sufficient experience in reviewing audited
financial statements as aided by the auditor of the Group
whenever required. In addition, at least one of the
member of the AC has the appropriate professional
qualifications or experience in financial matters as required
under the Listing Rules.

Two AC meetings were held during the financial year
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ended 31 December 2022. Attendance records of the AC - EBERZESRTEAMAEE KEX
members are set out below: HERERFFIBANT ¢

Attendance/
Number of
Meetings
HEERN
Committee Members RE EREE
Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger (Chairman) b= E () 2/2
Mr. HOONG Cheong Thard LEFELE 2/2
Mr. TANG Sing Ming Sherman mERRSA 2/2
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Audit Committee (Continued)

)

U]

The terms of reference of the AC, which are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company, are aligned with the provisions set out in
the CG Code and the recommendations set out in
“A Guide for Effective Audit Committees” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants. Given below are the main duties of

the AC:

(A) Relationship with the Company’s
external auditor

(a)

to be primarily responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and
removal of the external auditor, and to
approve the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditor,
and any questions of their resignation
or dismissal;

to review and monitor the external
auditor's independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with applicable
standards. The AC should discuss with
the auditor the nature and scope of the
audit and reporting obligations before
the audit commences; and

to develop and implement policy
on engaging an external auditor to
provide non-audit services. For this
purpose, “external auditor” includes any
entity that is under common control,
ownership or management with the
audit firm or any entity that a reasonable
and informed third party knowing all
relevant information would reasonably
conclude to be part of the audit firm
nationally or internationally. The AC
should report to the Board, identifying
and making recommendations on any
matters where action or improvement is
needed.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
() Audit Committee (Continued)

(i) (Continued)

(B) Review of financial information of the
Company

(a)

to monitor integrity of financial
statements of the Company and the
Company's annual report and accounts,
half-year report and, if prepared for
publication, quarterly reports, and to
review significant financial reporting
judgements contained in them. In
reviewing these reports before
submission to the Board, the AC should
focus particularly on:

(i any changes in accounting
policies and practices;

(i) major judgmental areas;
(i) significant adjustments resulting
from audit;

(iv)  the going concern assumptions
and any qualifications;

(v)  compliance with accounting
standards; and

(vij compliance with the Listing
Rules and legal requirements in
relation to financial reporting.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
() Audit Committee (Continued)

(i) (Continued)

(B)

(@)

Review of financial information of the
Company (Continued)

(b)

regarding (B)(a) above:

0]

(if)

the AC should liaise with the
Board and senior management
and must meet, at least twice a
year, with the Company’s
external auditor; and

the AC should consider any
significant or unusual items that
are, or may need to be, reflected
in the report and accounts, it
should give due consideration to
any matters that have been
raised by the Company’s staff
responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function,
or for compliance function or
auditors.

Oversight of the Company’s financial
reporting system, and risk
management and internal control

systems

(a)

to review the Company’s risk

management and internal control

systems covering all controls; including

financial, operational and compliance
controls;
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Audit Committee (Continued)

)

U]

(Continued)

(@)

Oversight of the Company’s financial
reporting system, and risk
management and internal control
systems (Continued)

(b)

to discuss the risk management and
internal control systems with
management to ensure that
management has performed its duty to
have effective systems. This discussion
should include the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and
budgets of the Company’s accounting,
internal audit, financial reporting
functions and the Company’s ESG
performance and reporting;

to consider major investigation findings
on risk management and internal
control matters as delegated by the
Board or on its own initiative and
management’s response to these
findings and review the statements
concerning risk management and
internal control systems to be included
in the annual report;

to ensure co-ordination between the
internal audit function and external
auditor, to review and approve the
annual internal audit plan, to ensure
that the internal audit function is
adequately resourced and has
appropriate standing within the
Company for it to carry out an analysis
and independent appraisal of the
adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company’s financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control
systems, and to review and monitor the
effectiveness of the internal audit
function;
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Audit Committee (Continued)

)

0)

(Continued)

(@)

Oversight of the Company’s financial
reporting system, and risk
management and internal control
systems (Continued)

(e)

to review the Group's financial and
accounting policies and practices;

to review the external auditor’s
management letter, any material
queries raised by the auditor to
management about accounting
records, financial accounts or systems
of control and management’s
response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a
timely response to the issues raised in
the external auditor’'s management
letter;

to report to the Board on the matters in
the code provisions as set out in the
Listing Rules;

to establish procedures for (i) the
receipt, retention, and treatment of
complaints received by the Company
regarding accounting, internal
accounting controls, or auditing
matters; and (ii) the confidential,
anonymous submission by employees
of the Company of concerns regarding
questionable accounting or auditing
matters;
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (continued) (F)
() Audit Committee (Continued)
(i) (Continued)

(@)

(D)

Oversight of the Company’s financial
reporting system, and risk
management and internal control
systems (Continued)

() to review arrangements employees of
the Company can use, in confidence, to
raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters. The
AC should ensure that proper
arrangements are in place for fair and
independent investigation of these
matters and for appropriate follow-up
action;

(k) to act as the key representative body
for overseeing the Company’s relations
with the external auditor; and

() to consider other topics, as defined by
the Board.

Review and reassessment of these
terms of reference

At least annually, the AC shall review and
reassess the adequacy of these terms of
reference and recommend any proposed
changes to the Board for approval.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
() Audit Committee (Continued)

U]

(i)

(Continued)

(E) Oversight of the Company’s Corporate
Governance Matters

(a)

to develop and review the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations
to the Board,

to review and monitor the training and
continuous professional development of
the Directors and senior management;

to review and monitor the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the
code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees
and the Directors;

to review the Company’s compliance
with the code and disclosure in the
corporate governance report as set out
in the annual report of the Company;
and

to consider other topics, as defined by
the Board.

The Group has adopted and established the
Whistleblowing Policy & Procedures. The AC has the
delegated authority and responsibility, for
employees and those who deal with the Group (e.g.
customers and suppliers) to raise concerns, in
confidence and anonymity, with the Head of
Human Resources Department, and any and all
relevant complaints received may then be referred
to the AC about possible improprieties in any matter
related to the Group.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
() Audit Committee (Continued)

(iif)

The work performed by the AC for the financial year
ended 31 December 2022 is summarised below:

(@)  review of the annual audit plan of the external
auditor before the audit commences, and
discussion with them about the nature and
scope of the audit;

(b) approval of the remuneration and the
appointment and the terms of engagement
of the external auditor;

(c)  review of the external auditor's independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of audit
process in accordance with applicable
standards;

(d)  review of the half-year and annual
consolidated financial statements of the
Group before submission to the Board, with
particular consideration of the points
mentioned in paragraph (i)(B) above
regarding the duties of the AC;

(e)  review of the internal audit report and annual
audit plan of the internal audit function
carried out by independent professionals;

() review of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and the statements
concerning risk management and internal
control systems to be included in the annual
report;

() meeting with the external auditor without
the executive Director present;
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

n

Audit Committee (Continued)
(i) (Continued)
(h)  review of the corporate governance matters
of the Group;

(i) review of the terms of reference of the AC;
and

() review of and monitoring of the Group’s
compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements.

(1) Compensation Committee

The Company has set up the compensation committee of
the Company (the "CC") consisting of five members of
which three of them are the independent non-executive
Directors. As at the date of this annual report, the CC
comprises Mr. Lam Kin Fung Jeffrey (an independent non-
executive Director and the Chairman of the CC), Tan Sri
Dato’ David Chiu (a non-executive Director), Mr. Tsang On
Yip, Patrick (an executive Director), Dr. Hu Shao Ming
Herman (an independent non-executive Director) and Mr.
Luk Koon Hoo, Roger (an independent non-executive
Director).

Two CC meetings were held during the financial year
ended 31 December 2022. Attendance record of the CC
members is set out below:
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
(I) Compensation Committee (Continued)

0]

The terms of reference of the CC, which are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company, are aligned with the provisions set out in
the CG Code. Given below are the main duties of
the CC:

(@)

to make recommendations to the Board on
the Company’s policy and structure for all
Directors’ and senior management’s
remuneration, and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy;

to review and approve the management'’s
remuneration proposals by reference to the
Board's corporate goals and objectives;

either:

(M) to determine, with delegated
responsibility, the remuneration
packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management; or

(i)  to make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and
senior management.

This should include benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments, including
any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment;

to make recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration of non-executive Directors;

to consider salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and
responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
(I) Compensation Committee (Continued)

0]

(Continued)

®

to review and approve compensation payable
to executive Directors and senior
management for any loss or termination of
office or appointment to ensure that it is
consistent with contractual terms and is
otherwise fair and not excessive;

to review and approve compensation
arrangements relating to dismissal or removal
of Directors for misconduct to ensure that
they are consistent with contractual terms
and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate;

to ensure that no Director or any of their
associates is involved in deciding that
Director’s own remuneration;

to advise the shareholders on how to vote
with respect to any service contracts of
Directors that require the shareholders’
approval under the Listing Rules;

to decide with respect to the employee share
option scheme:

(M) the Employees to whom options shall
be granted;

(i) the number of shares subject to each
option;

(i)  the date on which options shall be
granted; and

(iv)  the subscription price;
to review and/or approve matters relating to
the share schemes under Chapter 17 of the

Listing Rules; and

to review any compensation related or other
issues as requested by the Board.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

(I

(1)

Compensation Committee (Continued)

(i) The work performed by the CC, which has the
delegated authority and responsibility, for the
financial year ended 31 December 2022 is
summarised below:

(@)  review of the Company's policy and structure
for all remuneration of Directors and the
senior management;

(b)  assess performance of the executive Director
and the consideration and approval of the
emoluments for all the Directors and the
senior management;

(©  make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual Directors
and senior management;

(d)  review of the terms of reference of CC; and

(e)  review the scheme rules of the Share Option
Scheme.

The basis of determining the emoluments payable to its
Directors and the senior management is with reference to
their qualifications, experience, duties and responsibilities
with the Group, as well as the Group's performance and
the prevailing market conditions.

Nomination Committee

The Company has set up the nomination committee of
the Company (the “NC") which requires the majority of its
of its members to be independent non-executive
Directors. As at the date of this annual report, the NC
comprises Dr. Hu Shao Ming Herman (an independent
non-executive Director and the Chairman of the NC), Mr.
Lam Kin Fung Jeffrey (an independent non-executive
Director) and Mr. Luk Koon Hoo, Roger (an independent
non-executive Director).
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
() Nomination Committee (Continued)

At present, more than one-third of the Directors on the
Board are the independent non-executive Directors. They
represent diverse career experience in both international
and local enterprises. They bring with them diverse
professional backgrounds, spanning property
development and investment, banking, legal, advisory,
hospitality and entrepreneurship. They also hold or have
held important public service positions in Hong Kong and
China, covering business, industry and commerce, sports,
education, regulatory and politics.

The Board composition reflects various cultural and
educational backgrounds, professional development,
length of service, knowledge of the Company and a broad
range of individual attributes, interests and values. The NC
considers the current Board composition has provided the
Company with a good balance and diversity of skills and
experience appropriate to the requirements of its business.
The NC will continue to review its composition from time
to time taking into consideration specific needs for the
Group's business.

The Board has adopted the Director Nomination Process
and Selection Criteria of the Company (the “Nomination
Policy”), which aims to set out the relevant selection
criteria and nomination procedures to assist the NC and
the Board to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspective appropriate to the
requirement of the Group’s businesses and to ensure that
the Directors devote sufficient time and make
contributions to the Company that are commensurate
with their role and board responsibilities. A summary of
the Nomination Policy is disclosed as below.

1.  Criteria

The NC and the Board shall consider the following
criteria in evaluating and selecting candidates for
directorships:

Characteristics of individual director including
integrity and accountability, informed
judgment, prudence and maturity (being able
to engage in constructive debate and give
independent opinions), principled and
professional and other characteristics as the
NC deems appropriate);
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
() Nomination Committee (Continued)
1.  Criteria (Continued)

Competencies in the areas including
accounting and finance, law, industry
knowledge, marketing and competencies as
the NC deems appropriate to ensure the
Board's overall suitability;

The structure, size and composition of the
Board;

The appropriate mix of competencies
between Directors to enable the Board to
discharge its responsibilities effectively;

The appropriate balance of skills, experience,
knowledge, expertise and diversity of the
Board is maintained, and the board diversity
policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) adopted
by the Board is followed;

The capability of the candidate to devote the
necessary time and commitment to the role.
This involves a consideration of other
commitments including matters such as
other board or executive appointments; and

The potential conflicts of interest, and
independence.

The NC shall also consider the requirement for the Board
to have independent non-executive Directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the
candidates would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the
Listing Rules and such other perspectives that are
appropriate to our Company’s business and succession
plan and where applicable, may be adopted and/or
amended by the Board and/or the NC from time to time
for nomination of directors and succession planning.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
(Il1) Nomination Committee (Continued)

2.

Nomination Procedures

The NC or the Board shall, upon receipt of the
proposal on appointment of new director
and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out
above to determine whether such candidate
is qualified for directorship.

If more than one candidate are nominated by
the NC, the NC shall base on the criteria (as
set out in section 1 above) and recommend
the most competent candidate to the Board
(where applicable).

The NC shall also consider the number of
board positions they hold in other firms.

The NC shall engage external consultants
where necessary to assist in the selection
process of suitable candidates.

After the NC reviewed and considered the
candidates, the NC makes recommendations
to the Board on any proposed changes to
implement the Company’s corporate
strategy.

For any person that is nominated by a
Shareholder for election as a director at the
general meeting of the Company, the NC and
the Board shall evaluate such candidate.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
(Il1) Nomination Committee (Continued)

(F) EEZEE @
m RBEZEE @

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy. Under
the Board Diversity Policy, the Company recognises and
embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board with a
vision for the Company to achieve a sustainable and
balanced development.

The Board Diversity Policy sets out the approach to
achieve diversity on the Board and the NC has developed
the measurable objectives to implement this Policy, taking
into account the factors based on the business model of
the Company and specific needs from time to time. In
achieving the board diversity, a number of factors,
including but not limited to, cultural and educational
background, gender, ethnicity, age, skills, knowledge,
experience and length of service and any other factors
that the Board may consider relevant and applicable from
time to time taking into account the Company’s business
model and specific needs, are considered. All the Board
appointments are made on merits while having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The NC will review the Board Diversity Policy annually to
ensure its effectiveness, and recommend any appropriate
revisions to ensure it remains relevant to the Company’s
needs and reflects the current regulatory requirements
and good corporate governance practices.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
(I Nomination Committee (Continued)

Board Diversity Policy (Continued)

The Board Diversity Policy has been consistently
implemented by the Group. As at the date of this report,
the Board consists of one female Director and ten male
Directors. The Board considers that the gender diversity in
respect of the Board with reference to business needs is
satisfactory. The Board targets to maintain at least the
current level of female representation. In considering the
Board's succession, the NC will search from, including but
not limited to, different professional firms, legal,
accounting, directorship bodies or through independent
professional search firms to help identify potential
candidates, as and when necessary. The Board will
continue increasing the proportion of female members
over time as and when suitable candidates are identified.

The male to female ratio in the workforce of the Group
including senior management is approximately 1.8:1 as at
31 December 2022, which slightly improved as compared
to 2021. Despite the Group having an unavoidable
workforce supply dominated by male given the nature of
work in network construction and maintenance, the
Group will actively look for the right mix of people to work
together and to the gender diversity at all levels of the
Group to improve collaboration.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued) (F) EEZEE @
(1) Nomination Committee (Continued) m RBEEES @
Diversity Mix ER (o k=

As at 31 December 2022, the Board consists of 11 Directors
and the Board composition is as below:

R-ZE-_—F+-_A=+—H EF<a
Et+—%=% 54801

Number of Directors
EEAY
11
Over 10 years
10 Over 70 3B 10 F
F83i8 70 5%
9
NED
8
7 61-70
Male 61X 70 5%
6 Bt 6-10 years
6= 104
ED
5
51-60
4 51 2 60 5%
3
41-50
2 INED 41 B 50B%
0-5 years
1 Female 31-40 0E5%F
7t 31 E405%
Designation Gender Age Board Tenure
BE 4 5l Fir EEgMEH
ED : Executive Director ED : WITES
NED Non-executive Director NED : FHMITES
INED Independent Non-executive Director INED : B IEHITES

Biographical details of the Directors, including details of
their skills and experience are set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report. The Group sees
increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in attaining its strategy and achieving sustainable
and balanced development of the Group, and will
continue to further enhance board diversity while
maintaining an appropriate balance between continuity
of experience and Board refreshment.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
(Il1) Nomination Committee (Continued)

The terms of reference of the NC, which are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company, are
aligned with the provisions set out in the CG Code. Given
below are the main duties of the NC:

(@)  toreview the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at
least annually and make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company's corporate strategy;

(b)  toidentify individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members and select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships;

(©)  to assess the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors;

(d)  to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the
Chairman and the chief executive; and

(e)  to develop and maintain a board diversity policy
and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board, as appropriate, to ensure it
remains relevant to the Company’s needs and
reflects the current regulatory requirements and
good corporate governance practices and to
making disclosure of its review results in the
Corporate Governance Report annually.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
() Nomination Committee (Continued)

The work performed by the NC, which has the delegated
authority and responsibility, for the financial year ended 31
December 2022 is summarised below:

(@)  review of the Board Diversity Policy;
(b)  review of the terms of reference of NC;

(c)  review of the structure, size and composition of the
Board taking into account the Board Diversity Policy
and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board;

(d)  assess the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors; and

(e)  make recommendations to the Board for the re-
appointment of Directors standing for re-election at
the AGM.

Two NC meetings were held during the financial year
ended 31 December 2022. Attendance record of the NC
members is set out below:
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Number of

Meeting

HERE,

Committee Members SREA
Dr. Hu Shao Ming Herman (Chairman) tAERIE L (FE) 2/2
Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey NS 2/2
Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger BB LA 2/2

(IV) Corporate Governance Functions

While the Board is and remains to be principally
responsible for the corporate governance functions of the
Company, it has delegated the relevant duties to the AC
to ensure the proper performance of corporate
governance functions of the Company. In this connection,
the terms of reference of the AC include various duties
relating to corporate governance matters which are set
out in paragraph “(E) Oversight of the Company’s
Corporate Governance Matters” on page 82 under sub-
section “(I) Audit Committee” of section “(F) BOARD
COMMITTEES" above.
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(G) AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The fees in relation to the audit services for the financial year
ended 31 December 2022 provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers,
the external auditor of the Company, amounted to approximately
HKS$2,784,000 and the remuneration in relation to non-audit
services, mainly included tax compliance services and other

(G) Z=BAETEN <
AR AR INIEAZ BUAD 2 S RlKGE & 51 RD S 75 PRk
B CFT A=+ HIEUMBFERHD
ZEARTE B B 492,784,000 7T, + i 24 S EAS
TREREBOKBEAMEBLL RIFZBURS (X
ERREHBEERRE REMERIRSE) 2B E 8
compliance services, paid or payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers 491,118,000/ 7T ©
amounted to approximately HK$1,118,000.

(H) RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL (H) EEEERAPEEE
CONTROLS
() Risk Governance n RAEESR

The risk management and internal control systems (the
"RM&IC Systems”) of the Group comprise a well-defined
governance structure, with areas of responsibility and
limits of authority of each business and operational unit
clearly delineated to ensure effective checks and balances.
Internal control policies, procedures and guidelines have
been compiled to safeguard assets against unauthorised
use or disposition, to maintain of proper records, to assure
of the reliability of financial information for internal use or
publication and to comply with relevant legislation and
regulations.

The Board acknowledges its ultimate responsibility to
oversee internal control systems, to evaluate and
determine the nature and extent of the risks (including
material ESG risks) it is willing to take in achieving strategic
objectives and for maintaining the RM&IC Systems as well
as to monitor their effectiveness. The management is
tasked with the design, implementation and monitoring
of the systems. The AC has been delegated by the Board
to oversee the systems and is supported by independent
professionals to perform the internal audit function, which
provides assessment on risk and internal control oversight.

The internal audit function monitors compliance with
policies and standards and carries out an analysis and
independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness
of the RM&IC Systems across the Group. Findings
regarding risk management and internal control matters
are reported to the AC, in line with the annual audit plan
reviewed by the AC, and communicated to the business
or corporate units concerned.
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(H) RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (continued)

0

(m

Risk Governance (Continued)

Notwithstanding the above, the RM&IC Systems are
designed to manage the risk rather than eliminate the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

Risk Management Processes and Practices

The management maintains a risk register to identify
major risks, which are then categorised into business risks,
financial risks, compliance risks, operational risks and other
risks. The risks identified are evaluated in terms of
individual likelihood of occurrence, severity of
consequence, priority and the existence of early warning
signal. Based on the results of the assessment, the
management will determine the appropriate risk response:
acceptance, transfer, elimination, reduction or sharing, and
formulate corresponding control activities and mitigation
measures. The risk profile will be reviewed and the risk
register will be updated on an ongoing basis to
incorporate any change in the nature and extent of
significant risks including ESG risks. Internal control
deficiencies, if any, are communicated to the responsible
parties for taking corrective action.

The AC, through independent professionals to perform the
internal audit function, conducts annual review of the
effectiveness of the RM&IC Systems and procedures, on a
rotation of different cycles basis, covering all controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls, by
way of the above risk identification and assessment exercise.
Confirmations from the management, in the form of
certification that the risk management and internal control
procedures are functioning effectively to meet the
respective financial reporting, operational and compliance
needs, is obtained from business and corporate unit heads.
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(H) RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (continued)

(I

(1)

Risk Management Processes and Practices
(Continued)

To ensure timely, fair, accurate and complete disclosure of
inside information and compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations, the Group has in place, as an internal
control element, a disclosure policy of inside information
providing guidance on reporting and dissemination of
inside information and preservation of confidentiality. Under
the policy, Directors or heads of business units shall report
to the Chairman/the Chief Financial Officer for any
potential/suspected inside information event as soon as
practicable when it materialises for determining the nature
of developments, and if required, making disclosure. All staff
are also required to observe the code of ethical standards to
keep non-public information confidential.

Periodical Reviews

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the AC through
the independent professionals to perform the internal
audit function, had conducted review of the RM&IC
Systems on behalf of the Board, including the adequacy
of, inter alia, resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions, as well as these relating to the Group's ESG
performance and reporting. Such review has been
conducted on an annual basis. Written management
confirmation on the effectiveness of the RM&IC Systems
has been received.

The results of the review were reported by the AC to the
Board, based on which the Directors concluded that, for
the financial year ended 31 December 2022, the RM&IC
Systems and procedures of the Group were effective and
adequate. The Group has complied with the provisions in
the CG Code regarding the risk management and internal
control systems.

(H) EfEEERAIPERE @)

(I

(1)

REEERFRER @

RERER  AF ERLTEREAR
HERTRBERERERAN  AERENHA
BEERBC(ABBEEREERR) - RER
RBEBRARHEBEMREZRMEIES - £ZEK
KT EFEHEBEMTEWHRBEEM
BE/RUANBESEN  AEERAT
BRTRREEE B EEHER - AE
EEREFROME  REFFERELR
B PTBE BT IAETCERTIRESTAD -
R IERFAERHRE o

E e
HE-_ZE-—_F+-_A=1+—BILFE -
BERZESREBRIEEALTHITALRE
B WERKRESSEHRAREERNR
HEEASIERRT  RNSEESELAR
RIEEET - NEPEZ R B 15 M Rk aE - A
LEBARSEIRE e hEREMKLE
WMHAEMN(EPRE)ER - BETERLK
BELRARBIAMESMNEIRERE
BEEEERE BERZESTTFETAE
Bins - ERZESCRIEEEEEE
RERE 1B & N EBELIE R ATRIR

EREZECCNESTERBRITLER R
BRITER EFeNBERHE_F
——F+-AZ+—HULBBFE A%
EHRBEERNBERRGERERFER
Mt RAEBEBEET(REERTAD
Hh S AL B IR I BB ST R A AV o



Corporate Governance Report

N e oA
tEEIHRE
() DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

(K)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
financial year ended 31 December 2022, which give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Group as a whole as at
the end of the financial year and of the Group’s financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended and in
compliance with the requirements of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “CO”") and the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules.

The reporting responsibilities of the auditor of the Company in
the Independent Auditor's Report are set out on pages 141 to
153 of this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Mr. Kwok Chi Kin (“Mr. Kwok”), is an
employee of the Group and has day-to-day knowledge of the
Company's affairs. He reports to the Chairman and is responsible
for advising the Board on corporate governance matters and
facilitating induction and professional development of the
Directors. He also supports the Board by ensuring good
information flow and that the policies and procedures adopted
by the Board are followed. During the financial year ended 31
December 2022, he had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training. The biographical details of Mr. Kwok are set
out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” section of this annual report.

SHAREHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

A Shareholders Communication Policy has been adopted by the
Company to ensure that the Shareholders are provided with
ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable
information about the Company (including its financial
performance, strategic goals and plans, material developments,
governance and risk profile), in order to enable the Shareholders
to exercise their rights in an informed manner, and to allow the
Shareholders and the investment community to engage actively
with the Company.
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(K) SHAREHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT (Continued)

(L)

The Group uses several formal channels to ensure fair disclosure and
comprehensive and transparent reporting of its performance and
activities. Annual and interim reports are published/printed and
printed copies of such reports or notifications of publication thereof
on the Company’s website are sent to all Shareholders. Such reports
and press releases are posted and are available for download at the
Company’s corporate website (www.i-cablecomm.com). In addition,
the Company makes full use of the internet to make information
broadly available to the Shareholders. The Company’s website
provides the relevant contact information by which enquiries may
be put to the Board. Constantly being updated in a timely manner,
the website also contains a wide range of additional information on
the Group's business activities.

The Company encourages its Shareholders to attend and
participate in the annual general meetings of the Company to
ensure a high level of accountability and to stay informed of the
Group's strategy and goals. The Directors and the external
auditor are also available to answer the Shareholders’ questions
at the meetings.

The Board reviewed the Group’s shareholders engagement and
communication activities conducted in 2022 considering
multiple channels for communications with shareholders and
investors were in place and was satisfied with the
implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders
communication policy.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
() Convene a General Meeting

Pursuant to Section 566(2) of the CO, on written
requisition by the Shareholders representing at least 5% of
the total voting rights of all Shareholders having a right to
vote at general meetings, the Directors must convene a
general meeting.

(I) Send Enquiries to the Board

The Company's corporate website (www.i-cablecomm.
com) provides the relevant contact information (for
enquiry purpose only) by which Shareholders may at any
time address their enquiries to the Board.

(K) BRERZEH @)

(L)

AEFEEBLZREEARE  BREERBRER
ERATFHFEEME2EMEERENRE - 25
gt RO FRAMAERE  TER2ERES
SR EMENIRARBE@ZEREEAARLT]
PBUBHNBAN - ZEBRELRFTEREEHNLK
N T E B UL wwwii-cablecomm.com) LA £ TR
o ARNARNTELDFAEBBERE AARRIEHRE
Al ARBIHuRE TMES SR SHE@EH
HERNET  BUTHREASEEKEHNE
JCEAINERL - BB TR o

ARRSBERREFEL2EBARRRRRBFA
g URRESENMEN - WERRRE T
AEBERREENB R - EFMINERZEN TS
& L RERREE -

EFeCEMAEE T - —FNRRLELAH
EITHRES  EEIEREZAREERE
MEEEEDR B2 EMNRIBABRONT
KRR

% R A RE R

) BEREXE
BIFCA BEDIY 5 s66(2) 16 - EIE R EARE
ERERE FRANBERMNBERRERD
SHRIRIBEHEEME R EEMNERHA
SN

() MESSRLEN
KR B H) 1 EE UL (www.i-cablecomm.com) B2
HTHEBKEN(ERERNAR)  BR
ARERANREESREEN -



Corporate Governance Report

ERELSRE

(L) SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (Continued)
(1) Make Proposals at General Meetings

0]

(i)

The procedures for proposing candidate(s) for
election as Director(s) at a Shareholders’ meeting
are set out in the Corporate Information section of
the Company’s corporate website.

The procedures for proposing resolution(s) to be
moved at the Company’s annual general meeting(s)
are as follows:

Pursuant to Section 615(2) of the CO, the
Shareholder(s) can submit a written requisition to
move a resolution at the Company’s annual general
meeting(s) if they represent:

at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all
Shareholders who have a right to vote at the
annual general meeting to which the
requests relate; or

at least 50 members who have a right to vote
on the resolution at the annual general
meeting to which the requests relate.

The relevant written requisition must:

(@) identify the resolution of which notice is to be
given;

(b)  be authenticated by the person or persons
making it; and

(©)  be received by the Company not later than 6
weeks before the relevant annual general
meeting to which the requests relate; or if
later, the time at which notice is given of that
meeting.

Any written requisitions from the Shareholders to the Company
pursuant to Sections 566 and 615 of the CO must be deposited
at the Company’s registered office.

ERRBBANERAT —TEZFFR

(L) BREHEF @

() RERAELREZ#E
() BERFEFEEACRIAGLS
BORF  HAAAREAUNA
AER— MR -

(i) HEARRBERBFAS LRZFH)
AEMIZFS

BIECR RSN F 6152 1§ - BREAE

FETIEENERT  AJREER

BREARARFBAFEAS LBHS

S
hEREREZERMETY
REEFAE L RZRER
R IR BA 48 R B A ) 2.5%
FIREER © ¢

RORTRBREZELTE
FHOBRRBEFRE LRZRE
FTORHIAR »

MEREEERLA

(@ MWEARFHELBAMEFHIR

22 .
EEc A

b) FABREZEBROHARE K&

© REBRABIOBRRBEAX
GRAOTNPRANELER 2B
HARR R (WE LA FEFEZ
BEBEARNR AW ZBRBF
REHPRFME L 28 -

% B AR 75 CA FHED ) 55 566 16 K 58 615 16 M [A) A
DNEHR R T E M ESKNBFRER D G M
=y

101



102

i-CABLE Communications Limited Annual Report 2022

Corporgte Governance Report
RERELSE

(M) DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a Dividend Policy (the "Dividend Policy”).
Under the Dividend Policy, the Board may from time to time pay
to the Shareholders annual dividends, if any, on the outstanding
ordinary Shares declared by and subject to the discretion of the
Board and must be approved at a general meeting of the
Shareholders. In addition, the Board may from time to time pay
to the Shareholders such interim dividends as appear to the
Board to be justified, both annual dividends and interim
dividends shall not exceed the amount recommended by the
Board, in accordance with the provision of the Articles and the
CO.

The Board may only consider to make a distribution if the
amount of the Company’s net assets is not less than the
aggregate of the Company’s called up share capital and
undistributable reserves; and to the extent that, the distribution
does not reduce the amount of those assets to an amount less
than the aggregate of the Company’s called up share capital and
undistributable reserves.

The Board shall consider, including but not limited to, the
following factors before the declaration and payment of
dividends:

(@)  the Group's results of operations;

(b)  the earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of the Group;

(c)  the Group's actual and expected financial performance
and conditions and liquidity position;

(d)  the Shareholders’ interests;

(e)  any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be
imposed by the Group's lenders;

() the Group's expected working capital requirements,
surplus and future expansion plans;

(g)  contractual, statutory and regulatory restrictions;
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ERELSRE

(M) DIVIDEND POLICY (Continued)

(N)

()

(h) general economic conditions and other internal or
external factors that may have any impact on the business
or financial performance and position of the Company;
and

(i) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Board endeavours to maintain a balance between meeting
the Shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital
management with a sustainable dividend policy. The Board will
continue to review the Dividend Policy and reserve the right in
its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify
the Dividend Policy from time to time.

AMENDMENTS TO CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 December 2022. The
consolidated version of the Articles is available on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Group recognises the importance of building a stakeholder
and customer-centric way of innovation and servicing. The
Group aims to inspire positive thinking and empower people to
live vividly. The Group continues to expand its product and
service offerings for the betterment of the living qualities of
Hong Kong people.

To keep our customers engaged, the Group utilises an “insights-
driven and customer-centric” approach in designing our
program content, developing digital solutions, and innovating
new services and products to broaden our customers’ choices.
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(O) CORPORATE CULTURE (Continued) (0) 1k @)

With the new leadership and management team, the Group
strengthened its cultural framework with four core values:
authenticity, credibility, diversity, and excellence. The Group has
also derived a new cultural change program focusing on being
customer-centric, accountable in its work, and transparent in its
communication with five new core competencies underpinning
measurement and clarity. The five core competencies are (i)
ownership and personal drive; (i) work efficiency and quality; (iii)
prioritisation and decisiveness; (iv) collaboration and (v)
leadership and people management. In 2022, the Group
recruited over 50 internal ambassadors and conducted over 130
briefings and workshops to infuse its desired culture and
behaviour into its staff. The details of such competencies are tied
in with the annual performance appraisal to ensure the
appropriate corporate cultural behaviours are awarded and
incentivised. In addition, the Group has have also embedded
clear accountability of its work via clearly defined responsibilities
around RACI — namely, responsible, accountable, consulted and
informed.

The Group has made improvements to its internal
communication strategy via holding regular town hall briefing
sessions with managerial staff and establishing a newly
revamped corporate intranet to enhance internal engagement.
This year, a new weekly summary of company media coverage
for all staff has also been launched.

More information about the Group’s mission, vision and values
are available on the Company’s website.

The Board, through its various committees, provides direction to
management in setting out the strategies, monitors the Group's
operating and financial performance and reviews the Group's
compensation policies and succession planning. The Board has
completed an annual internal evaluation to ensure that the
Group's defined purpose, values and strategy are aligned with
the Group’s culture and that a positive culture, effective internal
control risk management and ESG policies are in place.
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Report of the Directors
EREHREE

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their annual report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial
year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries and consolidated structured
entities are set out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements
in this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year is provided in
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 4 to 7 of this
annual report, “Business Review” on pages 8 to 22 of this annual report
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 47 to 65 of this
annual report. The principal risks and uncertainties the Group faces are
contained in the section headed “Business Review” on page 22 of this
annual report and Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements in
this annual report. Particulars of important events affecting the Group
that have occurred since the end of the financial year are contained in
the section headed “Events After the Reporting Period” on page 64 of
this annual report. The future development of the business of the
Group is provided in the sections headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis — Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets”
and “Management Discussion and Analysis — Outlook” on pages 58 to
63 of this annual report.

In addition, discussions on the Group's environmental policies and
performance, compliance with the relevant laws and regulations and
an account of the Group's key relationship with its employees,
customers and suppliers are contained under the section headed
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 23 to 46 of
this annual report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December
2022 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages 154 to
155 of this annual report.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
financial year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: HKSNil).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022:

The aggregate amount of revenue attributable to the Group's five
largest customers represented less than 30% of the Group's total
revenue for the year.

The aggregate amount of purchases attributable to the Group's five
largest suppliers represented less than 30% of the Group's total
purchases for the year.

None of the Directors nor their respective close associates holds, nor
does any Shareholder owning (to the knowledge of the Directors)
more than 5% of the total number of issued Shares hold, any interests
in any of the Group's five largest suppliers or customers.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years is set out on pages 263 to 264 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.

BANK LOAN AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of the bank loan and other borrowings of the Group as at 31
December 2022 including interest-bearing borrowings and convertible
bonds are set out in Notes 23 and 24 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report, respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Shares issued and the movements in the share capital of
the Company during the year are set out in Note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report. Details of the
information in relation to the use of proceeds raised from the issuance
of the 2021 LCS are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis — Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital
Structure” on pages 51 to 56 of this Annual Report.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme disclosed in the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” below and the issuance of the 2019 LCS and the 2021
LCS disclosed in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis — The 2019 LCS and The 2021 LCS" and Note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report, no equity-linked
agreement was entered into by the Group during the financial year or
subsisted at the end of the financial year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the aggregate amount of reserves of the
Company available for distribution to equity Shareholders, as calculated
under the provisions of Part 6 of the CO, was HKSNil (2021: HKSNil).

DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry Gam, Ggs (Chairman, Non-executive Director)
Tan Sri Dato’ David CHIU (Vice-chairman, Non-executive Director)

Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick (Vice-chairman, Executive Director)

Mr. LIE KEN JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng (Executive Director)

Mr. Andrew Wah Wai CHIU (Non-executive Director)

Mr. HOONG Cheong Thard (Non-executive Director)

Ms. NG Yuk Mui Jessica (Non-executive Director)

Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey Gss, Jp (Independent non-executive Director)
Dr. HU Shao Ming Herman $8s, Jp (Independent non-executive Director)
Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger 885, s (Independent non-executive Director)
Mr. TANG Sing Ming Sherman (Independent non-executive Director)
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DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

In accordance with Article 106(A) of the Articles, Dr. Cheng, Mr. LIE KEN
JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng, Ms. NG Yuk Mui Jessica and Dr. HU Shao
Ming Herman will retire from the Board by rotation and being eligible
and shall offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. None of the retiring Directors proposed for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

Biographical information of the Directors is set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 127 to 140 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

The names of all persons who, during the financial year and up to the
date of this report, serve as directors of the companies included as
subsidiaries of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December
2022 are set out below:

Mr. Andrew Wah Wai CHIU
Ms. CEN Li Yan

Ms. CHAN Man Yee Fiona
Mr. CHAN Wai Man

Mr. KWOK Wing Fai Brian
Ms. LAU Pui Ching*

Mr. LIE KEN JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng
Mr. LUI Siu Lun Alan*

Ms. NG Ching Man Carman*
Mr. POON Wai Lam William*
Mr. SHUEN Wai Hung*

Ms. SUEN Chung Yan Julia
Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick
Mr. WONG Heij Pui

Mr. WONG See Yuen

Mr. YIP Yiu Chung

Remark:  Those marked with an asterisk * are no longer directors of any subsidiaries of the
Company as at 27 March 2023, of whom Ms. Lau Pui Ching was appointed as a
director of certain consolidated structured entities of the Group during the year.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company received from each of Mr. Lam Kin Fung Jeffrey, Dr. Hu
Shao Ming Herman, Mr. Luk Koon Hoo, Roger and Mr. Tang Sing Ming
Sherman a confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and the Company considers that all the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Directors (including non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors) has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a initial term of three years and
renewable automatically for successive terms of three years upon
expiry of the then current term of the appointment, subject to his/her
retirement and re-election at the annual general meeting in
accordance with the Company’s Articles. The details of the
remuneration of each of the Directors are disclosed in Note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

None of the Directors had service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries or associated companies (i) which were continuous
contracts with a notice period of 12 months or more; (ii) which were
fixed term contracts with more than 12 months to run irrespective of
the notice period; or (iii) which were not expiring or determinable by
the employer within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
IN SECURITIES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors
or chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions
in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong (the “SFO")), which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO, including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO, or
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors adopted by the
Company, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
IN SECURITIES (Continued)

Long position in Shares

EERTHAZRRES 2ER @
Bz iFe

Number of Shares

BRHEE

Interest of

a controlled

Name of Shareholder Beneficial owner corporation

BREEA ZRHEEER

Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry - 11,052,488,230

(Note 1)

BRMAE LT (K1)
Note: Hiret

1. Celestial Pioneer Limited (“Celestial Pioneer”) was wholly-owned by Dr. Cheng and held
72.0% interests in Forever Top. Accordingly, both Celestial Pioneer and Forever Top were
controlled corporations of Dr. Cheng. Forever Top was interested in 10,568,899,364
Shares, which represented (i) 3,083,722,894 Shares owned by Forever Top; (ii)
4,544,000,000 new Shares to be issued by the Company upon full exercise of the
conversion rights under the 2019 LCS; and (iii) 2,941,176,470 new Shares to be issued by
the Company upon full exercise of the conversion rights under the 2021 LCS. Celestial
Pioneer was interested in 11,052,488,230 Shares, which represented (i) 483,588,866
Shares owned by Celestial Pioneer ; and (i) the deemed interests 10,568,899,364 Shares
held by Forever Top under the SFO. Therefore, Dr. Cheng was deemed to be interested in
such 11,052,488,230 Shares under the SFO.

Approximate

percentage of

the total

number of

Other interest issued Shares
HEBRITRG

Y Pk R

BOL

- 11,052,488,230 154.91%

Celestial Pioneer Limited ([ Celestial Pioneer|) & {8+ % & A I
FEB KT 720% s o B+ Celestial Pioneer K ik 714 A58 1& +
B YL o K FH10568899, 364 fRIR 17 FHEB RS - HHER -
() K FHHEB B93,083,722894 R AR 17+ (i) = F —NF REJ [ IR
FIEH T 58 R BT IE 1% 15 AT B3 7K 23 3] % 77 #94,544,000,000
RETRRAG R (i) = F = — FREJ AT PR B TH T L RS
7T (& 78 45 7] | 2K 2 5] 877 £92,941,176,470 B% 37 A& 17 * Celestial
Pioneer 1 11,052,488,230 IR IR 17 ¥ B 12 + FEE R ¢ (i) Celestial
Pioneer ¥ 7 1 483,588,866 IR AR 17 + % (i) IR 1R 78 35 R B & 15151
KA BE R B 1 10568899,364 R IR 17 1E 25 » Bt » RIFFEH
REENRD] - B 118 AR ZE 11,052,488 230 R R 1 H B
1 o
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
IN SECURITIES (Continued)

Long position in underlying Shares — Share
Options
Share Options granted to the Directors

EREEBAERLE —Z-FFH

BEERTHAZNZF 2EE @
REERD —BRENTE
RFESNERE

Number of Shares issuable under the Share Options granted

BEFRLBRETRTNRAHE

Balance
asat

1 January
2022

Exercisable
period

Date
of grant

R-B-—%

-A-H
e

Granted
during
the year

RER
R

Balance

asat

31 December

2022
R-8-Z

TR

S

o]

Adjusted
exercise
price

per Share

Cancelled
during
the year

Exercised
during
the year

Lapsed
during
the year

RER
i

RERA
X%

RER
H#

SRERE
T
(Note 2)

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry 15 June 2018 (Note 1) 63,785,600 - - (63,785,600) - - 0.204
Bramt “F-\ERATRR (M)
Tan Sri Dato’ David CHIU 15June 2018 (Note1) 63,785,600 - - (63,785600) - - 0.204
ANZSERES “F-\ERATRR (M)
Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick 15 June 2018 (Note 1) 27,006,000 - - (27006000) - - 0.204
EREHE “2-\ERATIR (W)
Mr. LIE KEN JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng 15 June 2018 (Note 1) 3,600,800 - - (3,600,800) - - 0.204
FEELE “F-\ERATRR (M)
Mr. Andrew Wah Wai CHIU 15June 2018 (Note1) 36522400 - - (36522400) - - 0.204
BERLE “F-\ERATRR (M)
Mr.HOONG Cheong Thard 15 June 2018 (Note 1) 27,006,000 - - (27006000) - - 0.204
AEERE “T-\FRATRR (W)
221,706,400 - - (221,706400) - -
Notes: Hiat -
(1) 50% of the Share Options are exercisable from 15 June 2018 to 14 June 2028 (both dates (1) 50% IERER =T —\FNXA+AAZ=FE=)\FNA+M
inclusive); and 50% of the Share Options are exercisable from 15 June 2019 to 14 June A(BEEEEMA) T FTE  R250%HERIER - ZE—AEN
2028 (both dates inclusive). A+BAZE=F=N\FANATIA(BEEREMA) A TTE -
@) The exercise price per Share payable upon exercise of the outstanding Share Options granted () FTIEARIE R ARV 2| B 17 8 K 7T (E PR IR FE 1.2 FHR7T(E(E
under the Share Option Scheme was adjusted from HK$0.210 to HK$0.204 as a result of the B AR T 02108 T2 502048 T - HEFHIEEHR AR
Rights Issue. Details of the adjustments were set out in the announcement of the Company BIHE A E—hENA=HBALE o
dated 3 June 2019.
3) The closing price per Share as stated in the daily quotation sheet issued by the Stock (3 TEBE RS BT 47 H 3R 25 8L B 58 (7 R R B AR A 15 11 F B BT B 4 7T
Exchange immediately before the date on which the Share Options were granted was 1B AE880.155 T °
HKS0.155.
“) The cash consideration paid by each of the Directors for the grant of Share Options was (4 BREE IS (I8 2185 1.005TT -
HK$1.00.
(5) All outstanding Share Options as at 3 March 2022 were automatically lapsed upon the  (5) EE—E-—F=A=HAKTEBRER-_E-——F=H=

close of the share offer and the option offer on 3 March 2022. For details of such offers,
please refer to the composite offer and response document dated 27 January 2022
jointly despatched by Celestial Pioneer and the Company (the “Composite Document”)
and the joint announcement issued by Celestial Pioneer and the Company dated 3
March 2022 (the “Joint Announcement”). Accordingly, there was no outstanding Share
Option as at 31 December 2022.

ARGELREREZLVEIFFEBIAN - BHZEENZFH
1& 7% 2 [ Celestial Pioneer 8 A N el & HFH A AT =——F
—AZ+tEAmEE ZLREEXF([4E X 1) X Celestial
Pioneer A RN A|#H A B _FE-—F=F=HAMHBERE -
B REFBZ A= A=+ — A HERTTIEREIRKE -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN T EJRENE . SR
SECURITIES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 December 2022, so farasis knownto B IXEBEEIN RZZE-_—_F+-_A=+—8 " 5t
the Directors or chief executives of the Company, the Company had BB AN QA BITTHAT A - A2 7] #EZE T 0] A
not been notified by any persons (other than the Directors or chief ~ + (B EK AN A RTTHAE G IN) HE  ERRMD A
executive of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the ~ BRI B BIRIEZ S RIS KRIIEXVEE 2 RE3
Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the ~ ZEBAVIEX BRI AR REBEOESZIOXE - HIBIEFE
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the % N EA & (5§00 55 336 (KB A AR A B B B & i i AT ad 8%
SFO or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the  HJREZR KB ©

Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

Long positions in the Shares RO EFRE
Number of Shares
BRHEE
Approximate
percentage of
Interest of the total
a controlled number of
Name of Shareholder Beneficial owner  Spouse interest corporation Other interest issued Shares
HEBRTRE
ECY Pk
RERES BB BEREAA BEER SEHEEER HifE s “ BOL
Celestial Pioneer Limited 483,588,866 - 10,568,899,364 - 11,052,488,230 154.91%
(Note 1)
(Fist1)
Forever Top (Asia) Limited 10,568,899,364 - - - 10,568,899,364 148.14%
(Note 1)
I (M) BRAT (BfE1)
Mr.NG Hung Sang 156,169,500 98,502,500 464,376,000 - 719,048,000 10.08%
(Note 2) (Note 3)
RBERE (Hizt2) (Fizt3)
Ms. NG Lai King Pamela 98,502,500 620,545,500 - - 719,048,000 10.08%
(Note 4)
RERZT (Hfit4)
South China Securities Limited 463,000,000 - - - 463,000,000 6.49%
(Note 3)

HERBFREARAT (Hfat3)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES (continued)

Long positions in the Shares (Continued)

Notes:

1. These 10,568,899,364 Shares represent (i) 3,083,722,894 Shares owned by Forever Top; (ii)
4,544,000,000 new Shares to be issued by the Company upon full exercise of the
conversion rights under the 2019 LCS; and (iii) 2,941,176,470 new Shares to be issued by
the Company upon full exercise of the conversion rights under the 2021 LCS. Celestial
Pioneer held 72.0% interests in Forever Top, and was therefore deemed to be interested in
all the interests held by Forever Top under the SFO. Celestial Pioneer was wholly-owned
by Dr. Cheng. Accordingly, both Celestial Pioneer and Forever Top were controlled
corporations of Dr. Cheng, and Dr. Cheng was therefore deemed to be interested in these
10,568,899,364 Shares under the SFO. For details of Dr. Cheng’s interests in the Shares,
please refer to the paragraph headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in

Securities” above.

2. Mr. Ng Hung Sang, the spouse of Ms. Ng Lai King Pamela, was deemed to be interested
in 98,502,500 Shares which Ms. Ng Lai King Pamela was interested in under the SFO.

3. Mr. Ng Hung Sang was deemed to be interested in 464,376,000 Shares which his
controlled corporations are interested in under the SFO. South China Finance and
Management Limited directly held 1,376,000 Shares, while South China Securities
Limited directly held 463,000,000 Shares. Both of these companies were wholly-owned
by South China Financial Holdings Limited. Based on the information available to the
Company, South China Financial Holdings Limited was held as to approximately 29.52%
by Mr. Ng Hung Sang, among which approximately 25.66% was held through his
wholly-owned corporations, while according to publicly available information,
approximately 3.86% was held by him as beneficial owner.

4. Ms. Ng Lai King Pamela, the spouse of Mr. Ng Hung Sang, was deemed to be interested
in 620,545,500 Shares which Mr. Ng Hung Sang was interested in under the SFO.

DILUTIVE IMPACT ON THE SHARES IN THE EVENT
THAT ALL THE OUTSTANDING 2019 LCS AND
2021 LCS WERE CONVERTED

On 4 June 2019 and 31 March 2021, the Company issued the 2019 LCS
and 2021 LCS with the principal amount of HK$568 million and HK$200
million, respectively, to Forever Top, the controlling shareholder of the
Company. As at 31 December 2022, none of the 2019 LCS and 2021
LCS was converted.

ERRBBANERAT —TEZFFR

FERRNE S 2EDREm
RERONTE @

e

1. %5 10,568,899,364 8RR 1715 + ()7KHHEB 193,083,722,894RAR17 -
() REBEETTE = F— N F R IRIRFEHIE T B L IREE AL
A #5 T B 7T #94,544,000000 iR FTIR 17+ R (i RBEHITIE=-F
I FREABRFFBE TR LR EEARDR T ETH
2,941,176,470 i% 7 B& 17 ° Celestial Pioneer #5 F 7k 7t 72.0% & 25 -
Bt - REBEZEZFREEG - BWERRKHAIGBR L5
i B HE 75 ° Celestial Pioneer 1 2518 + 2 & B o B I
Celestial Pioneer Jé 7k 715 /B B0 18 + i) S 1= #0418 - Bt - R
EHEREEG - BIEL#1EABRZ S 10568899364 BRAR 17
HH#Ew - BT RBNERFIE  FLELX[EF
RITBABERERZ #w ] — & »

2. RBUESEBREFL NG  IRIEESEREIFH - EHE
BRRBIRL T RE P H #4798 502500 IR (7 HEAG s ©

3 RIKFZEHREIEH - RIBLESEREABRE S LEES
175, 464,376,000 [RIR 7 P B 12 - HEHMFEREZEFRA
AJE B 1376000 RS - MAEZFHREFR A AIEE
##5 463,000,000 RAR 17 © R [ET 2+ @] 15 1 7 2 % Bl AR B IR 2 ]
PEWEE - RIEAL A ZENR  HESBITRAR R A2 4
2052% RIEBHRIBESLEFH + B A 2566% T HEBASD
BHEEERE  MIRIEABFERATT - B91493.86%2 1
THAEAEREEATMEE °

4, BERL T BRBESLETENG  RIEEZRGEER - 54
R AREIBAE S B RS 620,545,500 IR AR 17 HH HE B #E 25 °
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DILUTIVE IMPACT ON THE SHARES IN THE EVENT
THAT ALL THE OUTSTANDING 2019 LCS AND
2021 LCS WERE CONVERTED (Continued)

Assuming (i) 4,544,000,000 Shares were issued upon full conversion of
the outstanding 2019 LCS on 31 December 2022; (i) 2,941,176,470
Shares were issued upon full conversion of the outstanding 2021 LCS
on 31 December 2022; and (iii) that there were no other changes in the
share capital of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2022, the number of issued Shares will be increased by 7,485,176,470,
representing approximately 104.91% of the total number of issued
Shares as at 31 December 2022 (i.e. 7,134,623,520 Shares) and
approximately 51.20% of the total number of issued Shares as enlarged
by the issue of the outstanding 2019 LCS and 2021 LCS (i.e.
14,619,799,990 Shares). Assuming that there were no other changes in
the shareholding of the substantial shareholders (which has the
meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules) of the Company as at
31 December 2022, the following table sets out, for illustrative purpose
only, the dilutive impact on the shareholding of the substantial
shareholders:

As at 31 December 2022

R-ZE-_—#+-HF=+-H

HABREHERITEZE—NERET
#&%#&_gz—EE%Tﬁ&%#
HRONWEEEZE @)

BROR-E-—F+-A=+—BEFkFE_T

— N FEHITRERBZLFETRLBLER BT
4,544,000000 % B : (VR —_ZE-_—_F+_A=+—H
r‘ﬁifﬂ%_?_—iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁl& ESREEEERED
172941176 470 Bty RGNV EE T - _F+=
A=+—BUEFEXARGRABMELMED - 2T
AED BB 1538 hn7,485176 470 (MBERR T - =
+ZA=+—HBEBITRHBE(87,134623,520 % i%
1) #110491%) RS BEITHARITE S —NLERBRTH
REHN T - —FRETARE %%EN&EI’JE%%H
R 19 48 2R (B 14,619,799,990 B& A% 15 ) 4951.20% ° B &%
—E-_F+=-R=+— E$’D\Tm$xﬂx%(ﬂtm
A TRz R E )R EEMmES) - TRIE(E
B HEERERENEET L

Immediately upon full conversion of
the 2019 LCS and 2021 LCS
EE_F-NEFRETRRESK
“EC-ERETRARESFTHAAR

Approximate Approximate

percentage of the percentage of the

Number of total number of Number of total number of

Name of Shareholders issued Shares issued Shares issued Shares issued Shares

BT HERTRE BET HERTRE

RREE/ 12 RAHE BYBAEDL RAEE BEBOEIE

Dr. Cheng (Note) gL (Hat) 3,567,311,760 50.00% 11,052,488,230 75.60%

Celestial Pioneer (Note) Celestial Pioneer (Hf:%) 3,567,311,760 50.00% 11,052,488,230 75.60%

Forever Top (Note) KF(Hzt) 3,083,722,8% 4322% 10,568,899,364 7229%

Other Shareholders HiiRR 3,567311,760 50.00% 3,567311,760 2440%
Note:  Celestial Pioneer was wholly-owned by Dr. Cheng and held 72.0% interests in Forever i3t < Celestial Pioneer £ #5 18 + 2 & # B K 15 B 5K H 72.0% 8 7 ©

Top. Celestial Pioneer held 3,567,311,760 Shares, which represented (i) 483,588,866
Shares owned by Celestial Pioneer; and (i) 3,083,722,894 Shares owned by Forever Top.

The full conversion of the outstanding 2019 LCS and/or 2021 LCS
would not have dilutive impact on the loss per Share of the Group.

Celestial Pioneer % 1 3,567,311,760 8% A% 17 + 48 & K : () Celestial

Pioneer #E 1) 483,588,866 AR AR 17+ J& (ii) K H HE 5 9 3,083,722,894
BRA 17 ©
BHARRERTE_SE—NERBAATBEKES K

R -ERUPNARBFETEHASEERER
ELEETE -
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DILUTIVE IMPACT ON THE SHARES IN THE EVENT
THAT ALL THE OUTSTANDING 2019 LCS AND
2021 LCS WERE CONVERTED (continued)

2019 LCS

The 2019 LCS is not redeemable by Forever Top before the maturity
date unless there is an occurrence of certain events as stipulated in the
2019 LCS subscription agreement dated 25 January 2019. The maturity
date of the 2019 LCS is the end of tenth year from date of the issue of
the 2019 LCS. Considering (1) the fact that the 2019 LCS will become
mature in 2029; (2) the fact that there are no circumstances leading to
a possible indication that there may be an early redemption of the
2019 LCS; and (3) the financial position and resources of the Group, it is
expected that the Company will be able to meet its redemption
obligations under the 2019 LCS when it becomes due.

It would be equally financially advantageous for Forever Top to convert
or redeem the 2019 LCS based on the implied internal rate of return of
the 2019 LCS at the Company’s share price of HK$0.091 and HK$0.095 if
Forever Top fully converts the 2019 LCS on 31 December 2022 and 31
December 2023, respectively.

2021 LCS

The 2021 LCS is not redeemable by Forever Top before the maturity
date unless there is an occurrence of certain events as stipulated in the
2021 LCS subscription agreement dated 27 January 2021 (the “2021
LCS Subscription Agreement”). The maturity date of the 2021 LCS is the
end of the tenth year from the date of the issue of the 2021 LCS.
Considering (1) the fact that the 2021 LCS will become mature in 2031;
(2) the fact that there are no circumstances leading to a possible
indication that there may be an early redemption of the 2021 LCS; and
(3) the financial position and resources of the Group, it is expected that
the Company will be able to meet its redemption obligations under
the 2021 LCS when it becomes due.

It would be equally financially advantageous for Forever Top to convert
or redeem the 2021 LCS based on the implied internal rate of return of
the 2021 LCS at the Company’s share price of HK$0.048 and HK$0.050 if
Forever Top fully converts the 2021 LCS on 31 December 2022 and 31
December 2023, respectively.

ERRBBANERAT —TEZFFR
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

BRESTE

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme on 24 May 2018 AR RIRZZE— N\FHEA -+ O HEMNERETE -
which shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years from the  ZzT &5 B M B BT+ EB R LR -

date of adoption.

Purpose of the scheme:

ArEIEE R

Participants of the scheme:

ArElg2EE

Total number of Shares available for issue
under the scheme and percentage of issued
Shares as at the date of this annual report:

FHEIP A FEITOROABUARERAF
HEBEDBETROHAS X

Maximum entitlement of each participant
under the scheme:

Bl B2 EE N ERER LR

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain the best available
personnel, to provide additional incentives to the eligible persons, to recognise and
acknowledge the contributions that the eligible persons have made or may make to
the Group and to promote the success of the business of the Group.
BREAEEERSIABERERBAR REBINEBRTEERAL R
BREFEEBALTERNAIGEH RNEEEL 2 BRI R EREE 2 XBK
B e

Any person who is (or will be on the date of grant) an employee of the Group, a
Director, a consultant or an advisor, as may be determined by the Directors from
time to time.

BEARTRETRE (SHNREEH) FAREEET - B% - BRI
AABERAL -

As disclosed in the Composite Document and the Joint Announcement, pursuant to
the terms of the Share Option Scheme, all outstanding Share Options as at 3 March
2022 automatically lapsed on 3 March 2022. Accordingly, there were 620,602,015
Shares issuable under the Share Option(s) to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme (representing approximately 8.70% of the total number of issued Shares)
and no outstanding Share Option as at the date of this annual report.
MANERE S R A N EPTIREE - RIBBRERTEINGR  RZT - —F=
AZANMERITEERECR -_Z-_—_F=-A=ZHBE&HEK - Bt BK
Filk A BRI A AT &1 R 0 BB AR TE T m] 3 1T AR 19 /8620,602,015 A% (1
BEITIRID B8 8.70%) - B EARIT{EHEARKE -

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number of Shares issued and to be
issued upon the exercise of the Share Options granted to each eligible person
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding Share Options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the relevant class of securities of the Company in issue.
BRIFERRRALE - BRINERI2EABREAN - BTEERTFTREEBALN
BRE (BEETR - EFHLEARITERBARE) M2 817 & T EITHRNG
BETBHBARNAREHITHBEZE SRR 1%
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EFEHREE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The period within which the option may be
exercised by the grantee under the scheme:

ER ARBR IR TTEB AR HIR

The vesting period of options granted under
the scheme:

REBFT B LB RE

The amount payable on application or
acceptance of the option and the period within
which payments or calls must or may be made
or loans for such purposes must be paid:
R EABREANSBEARNRERE
M ROER N ERRFEREE RN
R

The basis of determining the exercise price of

options granted:

PR BT R ENEE R

The remaining life of the scheme:

at &l ERE B R -

HE AR REST 8l |)

The period as notified by the Board upon the grant of Share Options during which it
may be exercised, such period not to exceed 10 years from the date of grant of the
relevant Share Options.

EEeNRUBRERBAA PITEBRENSR - ZHR R EERER
EHEEATSBEETF -

Any period as determined by the Board.
HEFSEEAEMNHR -

The amount payable for the acceptance of a Share Option shall be HK$1.00 which
shall be paid upon acceptance of the offer of such Share Option. This consideration
shall not be refundable to the participant and shall not be deemed to be a part
payment of the exercise price.

MIZMBRERN A SFRR1.008TT - BRENZBERZEZOR TAT -
ZREBETFRETREE  TAMFRAXNITEEN—ZH -

The exercise price of the Share Option shall be at a price determined by the Board
and notified to a participant.

BRENTEERSEFEETNERLANGLEE -

The exercise price shall not be less than the higher of:

TEENMFERATRENRSE

(A)  the closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of such Share Option;
and
REHZIERES BB E B WERMTIIRMD B ey (&
54

(B)  the average closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of such Share Option.

SRR ZERE R BA 18 S % BB PTG B W®E & P75 7B
RATEF R TE -

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years from
the date of adoption, i.e. 24 May 2018.
RS AR = - N\ FRA =T HHE)EEFH0FRAERRAER
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) BRETE @

During the year ended 31 December 2022, movement of Shares #HE__ZE__F+_A=+—HIEFE X2 7AAE

issuable under the Share Options granted by the Company to eligible &g A &R FRIBKEE T Al BTN EES 2 F 158
persons was as follows: NI :

a.  Details of the movement of Share Options granted to the a. M FEEMBRESHFEER EX[EERT
Directors are disclosed under section headed “Directors’ and HBEHNFEA 7R — PR -
Chief Executive's Interests in Securities” above.

b.  Details of the movement of Share Options granted to other b, HTHEHMAER AT (EBRIN ERES
eligible persons (other than the Directors) are as follows: B -

Number of Shares issuable under the Share Options granted

BEFRLBRETRTHRGHE

Balance Balance Adjusted

asat Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled asat exercise

Exercisable 1 January during during during during  31December price

Eligible Persons Date of grant period 2022 the year the year the year the year 2022 per Share
R=B=Zf

R-Z-_ T=

—-A-H RERA RERA RERA RER  =t-H SRERR
] B it KX HH Mt T

(

Employees 15June 2018 (Note 1) 16,255,040 - - (16,255,040) - - 0.204
8T ZE-\ERATRR (M)
Other participant 15 June 2018 (Note 1) 3600800 - - (3,600800) - - 0204
AtpEE ZE-\ERATRR (W)

19,855,840 - - (19,855,840) - -
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
Notes:
(1) 50% of the Share Options are exercisable from 15 June 2018 to 14 June 2028 (both dates

inclusive); and 50% of the Share Options are exercisable from 15 June 2019 to 14 June
2028 (both dates inclusive).

2) The exercise price per Share payable upon exercise of the outstanding Share Options
granted under the Share Option Scheme was adjusted from HK$S0.210 to HKS0.204 as a
result of the rights issue of the Company in 2019. Details of the adjustments were set out
in the announcement of the Company dated 3 June 2019.

(3) The closing price per Share as stated in the daily quotation sheet issued by the Stock
Exchange immediately before the date on which the Share Options were granted was
HKS0.155.

(4) The cash consideration paid by each of the eligible persons for the grant of Share
Options was HK$1.00.

(5) Pursuant to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, 2,057,600 Shares issuable under the
Share Options granted (out of 16,255,040 Shares issuable under the Share Options
granted) held by an employee of the Group lapsed on 21 January 2022, being three
months from the date on which the resignation of the relevant employee became
effective.

(6) All outstanding Share Options as at 3 March 2022 were automatically lapsed upon the
close of the share offer and the option offer on 3 March 2022. For details of such offers,
please refer to the Composite Document and the Joint Announcement. Accordingly,
there was no outstanding Share Option as at 31 December 2022.

The fair value of the Share Options granted as at the date of grant, 15
June 2018, was estimated at approximately HK$21 million using the
Binomial option pricing model. Value was estimated based on the risk-
free rate at 2.259% per annum with reference to the market yield rates of
the Hong Kong Government Bond (maturing on 22 August 2028) as of
the value date, a historical volatility of 66.08% calculated based on the
historical price with period equals to the life of the Share options,
assuming zero dividend yield based on historical dividend payout
records. Share Options which are forfeited prior to the expiry date will
be released directly to the reserve. The Binomial option pricing model
requires input of subjective assumptions such as the expected stock
price volatility. Change in the subjective input may materially affect the
fair value estimates. With regard to the subjectivity and uncertainty of
the values of the options, such values are subject to a number of
assumptions and the limitation of the Binomial option pricing model.

There were 379,039,775 and 620,602,015 Shares issuable under the
Share Option(s) to be granted under the Share Option Scheme at the
beginning and the end of the financial year ended 31 December 2022
respectively.

ASERBNARAT —B--FFR

BRERTE
e
(1) 50% I BEIRER —E— NFNA+RAAZ=F=)NFNA+H

H(BEFEREMA) A TiTE : R50%8)BRER - F—NFN
A+HAZE=FE-NFXATHA(BEEREMA) AT TT1 -

@) TTIEIRIRIBIRIE AT EIE IR BRI TIE BRI FE (1.2 FIRITIEE
ERHAXREIRZF—NFHJHEAR 102108 7T 3% 7502048
T o EFEHRARBIAHB=E—NFANA=ZBHRE -

(3) B ABRRAERGREERER RS B R e i
(BAARR 015587 °

@  BREBALHERBREXNOHZAES1.008T

) IRIBREAR BT ZIBIRAL - AT LB IR IEIE T ] 317 16,255,040 A%
By B EBR—EEE AN ERBREET A7
2,057,600 R = FE = =—F—F=+—H (FIiEEEIES i £
M LG =1EH) K54

6  HRE-E-—FZAZARTRERER T —F=A=
HR 17 BHRABIREBRIB L BB)RN - FRAAEEL 25
6 B2HGEEXMERBERE Bl R=F_—F+=H
=1~ ABEARTTIERERKE -

BHHOBRENAABEA-BEXNPETEEAGE
RIEFHAH(ZE—NAFXA+RB)EHET4921,000,000
BT BREENIZBRERRFIESTF 225%  WLKES
ERABRFERBIHPAEA-_ZTE-_N\FNA=-+=8)
HEHEBROTSBSREEX  BEERREBREST
HNEWE’JHEF'ﬁE’]ﬁﬁ&?)ﬁ¢E66.OS%J>A&?EZ@E?)E,%\$§E

BREBEE/ERE 5&4519’]%1%&%&@%2%51%
E&ﬁéﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁ “IRAHEEERARE )\?E%“ETE&

* PIARTEET AR (B R 1R o Iéﬁﬁm]\%{@ﬂ’]ﬂ Hr ey
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Material Related Party
Transactions” in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements in
this annual report, and the contracts amongst group companies, no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director
or any entities connected with a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the financial year
or atany time during the year ended 31 December 2022.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2022.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Save as disclosed below and in the section headed “Connected
Transactions” in this Report of the Directors and the section headed
“Material Related Party Transactions” in Note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report, there were no other contracts
of significance between the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, and a
controlling Shareholder or any its subsidiaries subsisting at the end of
the year or at any time during the financial year.

EENRS ZEERENP 2R

BRARFHmRA M BERRME0[FREALZHENEX
X5 —HARBEEAREBRRZENGLHIN AR
B EEMMNEARBMERIT N BFERKHE
T _F A=t RUEFEREAEEDARERR -
MEMEFSARETARETMERERIEER
ETHRAEARGIEARS  THHAH -

EESH
BE-T-_F+ A=+ ALFE FARALE
AR FEABAARSBREAEAEEHSNE
B RATHAH -

EERBRRNERSYN

BTIXRAEEGREET [MERS ] —HIARKF
WRA MBI T EAFAEALZANERRS |
—ERFT B E SN - AR B SEL AT Y B E AR A
R EAEMMELQE 2 FILEE R FEBRRAES
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CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER (Continued)

On 25 January 2019, the Company entered into the unlisted long-term
convertible securities subscription agreement with Forever Top, the
Controlling Shareholder, pursuant to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to issue, and Forever Top has conditionally agreed
to subscribe for the 2019 LCS. On 4 June 2019, the issuance of the 2019
LCS with the principal amount of HK$568 million to the Forever Top
was completed. The 2019 LCS would be convertible into 4,544,000,000
new Shares upon full conversion of the 2019 LCS based on the initial
Conversion Price of HK$0.125 per conversion share. The Conversion
Price represents a premium of approximately 8.7% over the closing
price of HK$0.115 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 25
January 2019, being the date on which the terms of the 2019 LCS were
fixed. The coupon rate of the 2019 LCS is 2.0% per annum and payable
quarterly. The 2019 LCS is convertible into ordinary Shares at any time
during the period from the date of the issue of the 2019 LCS up to the
close of business on the maturity date, subject to the conversion
restrictions. The maturity date of the 2019 LCS is the end of the tenth
year from date of the issue of the 2019 LCS and all of the remaining
outstanding 2019 LCS shall be redeemed by the Company at 100% of
the outstanding principal amount of the 2019 LCS together with any
interest accrued but unpaid thereon. The net price per conversion
share was approximately HK$0.125. Details of the 2019 LCS are set out
in the announcements of the Company dated 25 January 2019 and 4
June 2019, and the 2019 Circular.

On 27 January 2021, the Company and Forever Top entered into the
2021 LCS Subscription Agreement, pursuant to the 2021 LCS
Subscription Agreement, the Company has conditionally agreed to
issue, and the Controlling Shareholder has conditionally agreed to
subscribe for, the 2021 LCS. The principal amount of the 2021 LCS is
HKS$200 million. The initial conversion price is HK$0.068 per the new
Share to be issued upon exercise of the conversion rights under the
2021 LCS. The coupon rate is 2.0% per annum and payable quarterly.
The maturity date of the 2021 LCS is the end of tenth year from date of
the issue of the 2021 LCS. On the maturity date, all of the remaining
outstanding 2021 LCS will be redeemed by the Company at 100% of
the outstanding principal amount of the 2021 LCS together with any
interest accrued but unpaid thereon. The 2021 LCS is convertible into
Shares at any time during the period from the date of the issue of the
2021 LCS up to the close of business on the maturity date, subject to
the conversion restrictions. The Company may at any time on or after
the date of issue of the 2021 LCS by giving not less than ten business
days’ written notice to the holder of the 2021 LCS to redeem all or part
of the 2021 LCS at the outstanding principal amount of the 2021 LCS
together with all accrued but unpaid interest. Details of the 2021 LCS
are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 27 January
2021 and the circular of the Company dated 2 March 2021. The 2021
LCS Subscription Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder were approved by the independent Shareholders on 23
March 2021.

ERRBBANERAT —TEZFFR
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the financial year was the Company, any of its
subsidiaries, its holding company or any subsidiary of such holding
company a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate, with the
exception that during the year until 3 March 2022, there existed certain
outstanding Share Options to subscribe for ordinary Shares. Details of
the Share Options granted to the Directors were disclosed under the
section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in Securities”
in this annual report. During the year ended 31 December 2022, all the
outstanding Share Options were automatically lapsed upon the close
of the share offer and the option offer on 3 March 2022.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year and up to the date of this report, none of the Directors
(other than Independent Non-executive Directors) are considered to
have interests in the businesses which compete or are likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly with the business of the Group
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director is entitled to be indemnified out
of the assets of the Company against all costs, charges, expenses, losses
and liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the
execution and/or discharge of his/her duties and/or the exercise of his/
her powers and/or otherwise in relation to or in connection with his/
her duties, powers or office, to the extent as permitted by laws.

The Company has maintained director’s liability insurance throughout
the year, which provides appropriate cover for the Directors and the
directors of the subsidiaries of the Company for indemnifying their
liabilities arising out of corporate activities.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Employees in Hong Kong who are eligible will participate in the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “"MPF Scheme”), which is not
operated by the Group, with terms as stipulated by the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Authority. The contributions from employer
and each of the employees respectively are subject to a cap of
HK$ 1,500 per month and thereafter contributions are voluntary. The
Group will provide voluntary top-up benefits to employees in Hong
Kong receiving a monthly basic salary exceeding the statutory limits
prescribed by the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong). Except for the Group's
employer voluntary contributions, no forfeited contributions under the
MPF Scheme are available to reduce the existing level of contributions.

Employees in PRC who are eligible will participate in the defined
contribution retirement benefit scheme (the “Retirement Benefit
Scheme”) organised by the relevant local government authorities in
the PRC. The Group is required to make contributions to the Retirement
Benefit Scheme at a certain rate of the standard wages determined by
the relevant authorities in the PRC during the year. No forfeited
contributions under the Retirement Benefit Scheme are available to
reduce the existing level of contributions.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there were neither
contributions forfeited under the MPF Scheme and Retirement Benefit
Scheme which may be used by the Group to reduce the existing and
future contribution nor had there been any utilisation of such forfeited
contributions to reduce the existing and future contributions (2021:
same). There was no accumulated forfeited contribution available as at
31 December 2022 for such use by the Group (2021: same).

DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULE 13.21 OF THE
LISTING RULES

On 19 March 2019, HKC as borrower, and the Company, as guarantor,
confirmed the acceptance of a facility letter issued by a bank (the
“Lender”), as the lender, in respect of, among other things, a
HK$400,000,000 revolving loan facility (the “Revolving Loan Facility”)
being subject to review at any time and in any event not less than
annually by the Lender; and on 15 March 2019, the Company, as
applicant, (together with HKC, the “Borrowers”) confirmed the acceptance
of a facility letter issued by the Lender in respect of a HK$33,830,000
performance bond facility (the “Performance Bond Facility”) with a
maximum tenor of five years being subject to review at any time.
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Pursuant to the facility letters in relation to both the Revolving Loan
Facility and the Performance Bond Facility, the Borrowers have
undertaken that Forever Top, the Controlling Shareholder, would (i)
hold greater than 35% of the total number of the issued Shares and (i)
be the single largest Shareholder of the Company. In the event of a
breach of the aforesaid covenant, the Lender has the right to suspend,
withdraw or make demand in respect of the whole or any part of the
respective facilities made available to the relevant Borrower at any time
or determine whether or not to permit drawings in relation to the
respective facilities.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the above specific
performance obligations under the Revolving Loan Facility and the
Performance Bond Facility have been complied with. Details of the
transactions were set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 17 April 2018 and 18 December 2018.

On 24 March 2023, HKC accepted a renewed and revised offer from the
Lender in respect of the Revolving Loan Facility to revise, among
others, the limit of the Revolving Loan Facility from HK$400,000,000 to
HK$295,000,000. Such limit is subject to review by the Lender at any
time and in any event not less than annually. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 24 March 2023 for details.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group had the following connected transactions during the
financial year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this
annual report:

On 21 January 2022, HKC (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company), as the borrower, entered into a loan agreement with
Celestial Pioneer Limited (the controlling shareholder of Forever Top
and is wholly-owned by Dr. Cheng), as the lender. Pursuant to such
loan agreement, the said borrower obtained an unsecured loan with a
principal amount of HK$70 million for a term of three years from the
date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 2.5% per
annum.

On 4 April 2022, HKC as the borrower entered into a loan agreement
with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender. Pursuant to such loan
agreement, the said borrower obtained an unsecured loan with a
principal amount of HK$50 million for a term of three years from the
date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 3.0% per
annum.
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On 28 June 2022, HKC as the borrower entered into a loan agreement
with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender. Pursuant to such loan
agreement, the said borrower obtained an unsecured loan with a
principal amount of HK$50 million for a term of three years from the
date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 3.0% per
annum.

On 24 August 2022, HKC as the borrower entered into a said loan
agreement with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender. Pursuant to
such loan agreement, the borrower obtained an unsecured loan with a
principal amount of HK$80 million for a term of three years from the
date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 3.0% per
annum.

On 8 November 2022, HKC as the borrower entered into a said loan
agreement with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender. Pursuant to
such loan agreement, the borrower obtained an unsecured loan with a
principal amount of HK$50 million for a term of three years from the
date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 3.0% per
annum.

On 9 January 2023, HKC as the borrower entered into a said loan
agreement with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender. Pursuant to
such loan agreement, the borrower obtained an unsecured loan with a
principal amount of HK$80 million for a term of three years from the
date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 5.0% per
annum.

As the provision of the above-mentioned loans are conducted on
normal commercial terms or better and are not secured by the assets
of the Group, the transactions contemplated under the loan
agreements are fully exempt from shareholders’ approval, annual
review and all disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules pursuant to Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules.

The related party transactions entered into by the Group during the
financial year ended 31 December 2022 are disclosed in the section
headed “Material Related Party Transactions” in Note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report. These
transactions include amounts which fall under the definition of
“connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has
complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules with respect to the connected transactions and
continuing connected transactions entered into by the Group during the
financial year ended 31 December 2022.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any listed securities of the Company during the financial
year ended 31 December 2022.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors, the percentage of the Shares which are in the hands of the
public exceeds 25.0% of the Company’s total number of issued Shares.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group now presented
have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified Public
Accountants who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment, at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2023
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Report of the Directors
EREHREE

SUPPLEMENTARY CORPORATE INFORMATION

(A) Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management

(i)

Directors

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry s, Gss (Age: 76)

Dr. Cheng was appointed as the Vice-chairman and a non-
executive Director in September 2017, and re-designated
as the Chairman in November 2021. Dr. Cheng is the
chairman and executive director of New World
Development Company Limited, NWS Holdings Limited
and Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited, and the
chairman and non-executive director of FSE Lifestyle
Services Limited, all of them are listed public companies in
Hong Kong. He was a non-executive director of DTXS Silk
Road Investment Holdings Company Limited until his
resignation in March 2021, and chairman and a non-
executive director of New World Department Store China
Limited until his resignation in May 2021, all of which are
listed public companies in Hong Kong. He is a director of
Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings) Limited, Cheng Yu Tung
Family (Holdings Il) Limited, Chow Tai Fook Capital
Limited, Chow Tai Fook (Holding) Limited and Chow Tai
Fook Enterprises Limited. Dr. Cheng is also a director of
each of Forever Top (the controlling shareholder of the
Company) and Celestial Pioneer (the controlling
shareholder of Forever Top and is wholly-owned by Dr.
Cheng).

Dr. Cheng is the chairman of the Advisory Council for The
Better Hong Kong Foundation. He was a Standing
Committee Member of the Twelfth Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference of The People’s Republic
of China. Dr. Cheng was awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star
and the Grand Bauhinia Medal in 2001 and 2017,
respectively by the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region.

Dr. Cheng is the uncle of the spouse of Mr. Tsang On Yip,
Patrick, an executive Director.
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SUPPLEMENTARY CORPORATE INFORMATION
(Continued)

(A) Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management (Continued)

(i)

Directors (Continued)

Tan Sri Dato’ David CHIU (Age: 68)
Tan Sri Dato’ David Chiu, 8.5c, was appointed as the
Chairman and a non-executive Director in September
2017 and re-designated as a Vice-chairman in November
2021. He is also a member of the CC.

Tan Sri Dato’ David Chiu holds a double degree of
Bachelor of Science in Business Administration and
Economics at the University of Sophia, Japan. He is a
prominent businessman with over 45 years' experience in
the property development and extensive experience in
the hotel development. In his business career, he
established a number of highly successful business
operation through organic growth and acquisitions,
covering Mainland China, Hong Kong, Japan, Malaysia,
Singapore and Australia. Since 1978, Tan Sri Dato’ David
Chiu had been the managing director of Far East
Consortium Limited, the predecessor of Far East
Consortium International Limited (“FECIL"), a listed public
company in Hong Kong. He was appointed as the deputy
chairman and chief executive officer of FECIL on 8
December 1994 and 8 October 1997, respectively. On 8
September 2011, Tan Sri Dato’ David Chiu has been
appointed as the chairman of FECIL. FECIL and its
subsidiaries ("FECIL Group”) is mainly engaged in property
development and investment, hotel operations and
management, car park operations and facilities
management, securities and financial product investment
and gaming operations. FECIL Group adopts the diversified
regional strategy and the “Asian Wallet” strategy with
business covering Mainland China, the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region, Australia, New Zealand, Malaysia,
Singapore, the United Kingdom and other European
countries.
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(Continued)

(A) Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management (Continued)

(i)

Directors (Continued)

In regard to Tan Sri Dato’ David Chiu’s devotion to
community services in China and Hong Kong, he was
appointed as the member of the 12th and 13th Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conferences and deputy
director of the Social and Legal Committee in 2018, the
vice chairman of All-China Federation of Industry and
Commerce in 2017. Currently, he is a member of the 2021
Election Committee of HKSAR, a trustee member of The
Better Hong Kong Foundation, an honorary chairman of
Mid-Autumn Festival Celebration — People and Forces’
Committee, a director and a member of Concerted Efforts
Resource Centre, a patron of China-United States
Exchange Foundation, an honorary chairman of
Guangdong Chamber of Foreign Investors, an honorary
chairman of the Association of Chinese Culture of Hong
Kong, the 8th board member of Friends of Hong Kong
Association, a member of Hong Kong General Chamber of
Commerce, a member of the Constitutional Reform
Synergy, a member of The Real Estate Developers
Association of Hong Kong, a member of Pacific Basin
Economic Council, a director of three Ju Ching Chu
Schools in Hong Kong and the vice chairman of
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area Radio
and Television Union. In Malaysia, Tan Sri Dato’ David Chiu
was awarded an honorary award which carried the title
“Dato” and a more senior honorary title of “Tan Sri” by His
Majesty, King of Malaysia in 1997 and 2005, respectively.
He was also awarded the WCEF Lifetime Achievement
Awards by Asian Strategy & Leadership Institute in 2013,
the “Best Executive in Hong Kong” in the “2016 Asiamoney
Best Managed Company Award”, the FinanceAsia’s “Best
CEQ" in 2017 & FinanceAsia’s "Best CEO in Hong Kong” in
2018, 2019, 2020, 2021 and 2022, "Asia’s Best CEO in
Investor Relations at Asian Excellence Award 2018, 2019 &
2020, the “Best IR by Chairman/CEO" in "HKIRA Investor
Relations Awards" in 2017, 2019, 2020 and 2021.

Tan Sri Dato’ David Chiu is the father of Mr. Andrew Wah
Wai Chiu ("Mr. Chiu"), a non-executive Director, and the
brother of the brother-in-law of Mr. Tang Sing Ming
Sherman, an independent non-executive Director.
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(A) Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management (Continued)

(i)

Directors (Continued)

Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick (Age: 57)

Mr. Tsang was appointed as a non-executive Director in
September 2017 and re-designated as an executive
Director in November 2021. He was appointed as a Vice-
chairman in November 2021. He is also a member of the
CC. Heis also a director of a subsidiary of the Company.

Mr. Tsang is the chief executive officer and director of
Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited. He is also an executive
director of Melbourne Enterprises Limited and UMP
Healthcare Holdings Limited, and a non-executive director
of Giordano International Limited and SJM Holdings
Limited, all of which are listed public companies in Hong
Kong. Mr. Tsang was a non-executive director of
Greenheart Group Limited and Integrated Waste Solutions
Group Holdings Limited, all of which are listed public
companies in Hong Kong, until his retirement from the
office in May 2022 and in August 2022 respectively. Mr.
Tsang is a director of Cheng Yu Tung Foundation Limited
and Chow Tai Fook (Holding) Limited, the founder and a
director of CTFE Social Solutions Limited, a governor of
Chow Tai Fook Charity Foundation Limited, a member of
Hong Kong Chief Executive Election Committee, and a
General Committee member of Employers’ Federation of
Hong Kong. He has been a member of the 12th Henan
Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference since 2018. Mr. Tsang obtained a
Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics from Columbia
College of Columbia University in New York, USA. Mr.
Tsang is also a director of each of Forever Top (the
controlling shareholder of each of the Company) and
Celestial Pioneer (the controlling shareholder of Forever
Top and is wholly-owned by Dr. Cheng, a non-executive
Director).

Mr. Tsang’s spouse is a niece of Dr. Cheng, a non-executive
Director.
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(A) Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management (Continued)

(i)

Directors (Continued)

Mr. LIE KEN JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng (Age: 43)

Mr. Lie Ken Jie was appointed as a non-executive Director
in July 2019, and re-designated as an executive Director in
November 2021. He is an authorised representative of the
Company (the “Authorised Representative”). He is also a
director of a subsidiary of the Company. He is currently a
senior vice president of Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited
with responsibilities in making strategic investments
globally. He is also a non-executive director of Greenheart
Group Limited which is a listed public company in Hong
Kong. Mr. Lie Ken Jie holds a Master's degree in Finance
and a Master's degree in Civil Engineering, both from
Imperial College London in the United Kingdom. He is also
a director of Forever Top, the controlling shareholder of
the Company.

Mr. Andrew Wah Wai CHIU (Age: 34)

Mr. Chiu was appointed as an executive Director in
September 2017, and re-designated as a non-executive
Director in November 2021. He is a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. He is the founder and the
executive chairman of Land Pacific Limited, Deacon House
International Limited and Ariana Social Community
Limited. These companies focus on different sectors in the
real estate industry including property development, hotel
management and student housing investment.

From 2015, Mr. Chiu serves as the assistant to the chairman
of FECIL. He is also a director of Malaysia Land Properties
Sdn Bhd, and a non-independent non-executive director
of Land & General Berhad, a company whose shares are
listed on the Bursa Malaysia. Mr. Chiu was a director and
vice chairman of the board of directors of AMTD
International Inc., a company listed on both the New York
Stock Exchange and the Mainboard of the Singapore
Exchange Security Trading Limited up to his resignation in
December 2020. He is a member of Hong Kong General
Chamber of Commerce and a member of The Real Estate
Developers Association of Hong Kong.

Mr. Chiu is the son of Tan Sri Dato’ David Chiu, a non-
executive Director, and the nephew of the brother-in-law
of Mr. Tang Sing Ming Sherman, an independent non-
executive Director.
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Mr. HOONG Cheong Thard (Age: 54)

Mr. Hoong, B.Eng, ACA, was appointed as a non-executive
Director in September 2017. He is also a member of the
AC. He is an executive director of FECIL, a listed public
company in Hong Kong, since August 2012. He joined
FECIL in September 2008 as the managing director. He is
responsible for the formulation and implementation of
FECIL's overall strategies for development.

Prior to joining FECIL, Mr. Hoong was the chief executive
officer of China LotSynergy Holdings Limited (now known
as China Ecotourism Group Limited), a listed public
company in Hong Kong, where he retired as a non-
executive director of the company with effect from 1 June
2017.

Mr. Hoong was an investment banker for over 12 years
and had held senior positions at Deutsche Bank and UBS
where he was responsible for corporate finance business
in Asia. Besides, he was a director of AGORA Hospitality
Group Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Tokyo Stock
Exchange, until March 2017 and is a non-independent
non-executive director of Land & General Berhad, a
company listed on the Bursa Malaysia.

Mr. Hoong is a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales and holds a bachelor’s
degree in Mechanical Engineering from Imperial College,
University of London.
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(A) Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management (Continued)

(i)

Directors (Continued)

Ms. NG Yuk Mui Jessica (Age: 44)

Ms. Ng was appointed as a non-executive Director in July
2019. She is an executive director, the executive vice
chairman, chief executive officer and a member of the
executive committee of South China Financial Holdings
Limited whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, and the executive vice chairman of South
China Media group.

She is also a non-executive director of South China
Holdings Company Limited whose shares are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and an executive
director and the executive vice chairman of South China
Assets Holdings Limited whose shares were listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange and were delisted on GEM of the
Stock Exchange in March 2022.

She holds a Bachelor's degree in Law from King's College
London, University of London in the United Kingdom and
was admitted to the Hong Kong Bar in 2006. She is an
associate member of the Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants and a member of 12th Hebei
Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference.

Ms. Ng is the daughter of Mr. Ng Hung Sang, who,
together with his spouse and companies controlled by
him, is interested in approximately 10.08% of the total
number of Shares.
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Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey Gss, r (Age: 71)

Mr. Lam was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director in September 2017. He is also the chairman and a
member of the CC and a member of the NC. Mr. Lam
holds a bachelor degree in mechanical engineering from
Tufts University in the United States. He has over 40 years
of experience in the toy industry and is currently the
managing director of Forward Winsome Industries Limited
which is engaged in toy manufacturing.

Mr. Lam is an executive director of Hong Kong Aerospace
Technology Group Limited, and an independent non-
executive director of Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group
Limited, C C Land Holdings Limited, China Overseas Grand
Oceans Group Limited, Wynn Macau Limited, CWT
International Limited, Wing Tai Properties Limited,
Analogue Holdings Limited and CSC Holdings Limited
(formerly known as China Strategic Holdings Limited), all
of which are listed public companies in Hong Kong.

Mr. Lam is a non-official member of the Executive Council
and a member of the Legislative Council in Hong Kong. He
also holds a number of other public and community
service positions including being a general committee
member of the Hong Kong General Chamber of
Commerce, member of HKSAR Advisory Committee on
the Northern Metropolis, and a member of the board of
directors of Heifer International-Hong Kong.
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(Continued)

(A) Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management (Continued)

(i)

Directors (Continued)

Dr. HU Shao Ming Herman sss, Jp (Age: 69)

Dr. Hu, BSc, FCIBSE, FHKIE, MIEEE, C. Eng., has been an independent
non-executive Director since April 2012. He is also the
chairman and a member of the NC and a member of the
CC. He is the chairman of Ryoden Development Limited.
Dr. Hu has been re-elected as a Deputy to the 14th
National People’s Congress of the People’s Republic of
China. He is the vice-chairman of The Chinese General
Chamber of Commerce, Hong Kong. He is also a general
committee member and chairman of Mainland China
Committee of the Employers’ Federation of Hong Kong,
the Vice-President of the Sports Federation & Olympic
Committee of Hong Kong, China, an Honorary Court
Member of The Hong Kong University of Science &
Technology, a member of the Election Committee of the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region and the Vice Patron of The Community Chest of
Hong Kong. He was awarded the Honour of Silver Bauhinia
Star (SBS) by the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China
on 30 June 2017.

ERRBBANERAT —TEZFFR

AT ER @

(A) EEREREEEZEHN @)

(i)

EE#E)
AR + sBs, up (69 5%)

#A18 + 85, FCBSE, FHKIE MIEEE, CEng. B —&F — —

FUAREAEBLIFENITES - BRI AR
BELEECXELKNEURTHEESKE -
BREEHEREBRAAEIR B LES
BAFTHEPEAREMBEZEAANR
R -BREATELHESIERE - BN AE
EAETHACSEEENERABERE
BEXE FEESEEHTERMRETR

’

ZEgREER BANBEAZEMZES
KEZE FAEFIMTHRERNEREZS
BLZERAES A meRBREgR BN
T—tFERNAZTHEREARLNEE

ARIITHERAR TREAZEERE -

135



136

i-CABLE Communications Limited Annual Report 2022

Report of the Directors
EFTRES

SUPPLEMENTARY CORPORATE INFORMATION
(Continued)

(A) Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management (Continued)

(i)

Directors (Continued)

Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger 855, )r (Age: 71)

Mr. Luk, FHKIB, has been an independent non-executive
Director since September 2010. He also serves as the
chairman of the AC and a member of each of the AC, CC
and NC. He has over 30 years of comprehensive
experience in accounting and financial management. He
joined Hang Seng Bank in 1975, became the bank's
director and deputy chief executive in 1994 and then
became managing director and deputy chief executive of
the bank in 1996 until his retirement in May 2005. Mr. Luk
is an independent non-executive director of four
companies publicly listed in Hong Kong, namely, China
Properties Group Limited, Computime Group Limited,
Hung Hing Printing Group Limited and Harbour Centre
Development Limited. Mr. Luk was formerly an
independent non-executive director of Wheelock
Properties Limited, formerly a listed public company until
it became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wheelock and
Company Limited in July 2010, from February 2008 to July
2010. He also serves as a council member of The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Luk also served in the past on
the Court and Council of Hong Kong Baptist University,
the Advisory Committee on New Broad-based Taxes, the
Personal Data (Privacy) Advisory Committee, the Central
Policy Unit of the Hong Kong Government, the Statistics
Advisory Board, the Broadcasting Authority, the Advisory
Committee and the Investor Education Advisory
Committee of the Securities and Futures Commission, the
Barristers Disciplinary Tribunal Panel, the Operations
Review Committee of ICAC and the Town Planning Board.
He was an appointed member of the Hong Kong
Legislative Council from 1992 to 1995, and also a member
of the first Election Committee of the Legislative Council.

Mr. Luk graduated with a Bachelor of Social Sciences
Degree in Statistics from The University of Hong Kong and
also holds a Master of Business Administration Degree
granted by The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a
fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Bankers. He is also a
Non-official Justice of the Peace and was awarded the
honour of Bronze Bauhinia Star in 2004 in recognition of
his contributions to public services.
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SUPPLEMENTARY CORPORATE INFORMATION
(Continued)

(A) Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management (Continued)

(i)

Directors (Continued)

Mr. TANG Sing Ming Sherman (Age: 66)

Mr. Tang has been appointed an independent non-
executive Director since January 2014. He is also a member
of the AC. He holds a Master degree in Electrical
Engineering and a degree of Doctor in Medicine from the
University of Southern California, the United States of
America. Mr. Tang is a seasoned entrepreneur in the
hospitality industry and has over 20 years of experience in
investment and operation of restaurants, cafes and bars.
He is the founder and owner of the Epicurean Group and
also served as the chairman and chief executive officer of
Epicurean and Company, Limited (now known as StarGlory
Holdings Company Limited), a listed public company in
Hong Kong, until his resignation in November 2016.

Mr. Tang is the brother of the sister-in-law of Tan Sri Dato’
David Chiu, a non-executive Director, and the brother of
the aunt of Mr. Andrew Wah Wai Chiu, a non-executive
Director.
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(A) Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management (Continued)

(ii)

Senior Management

Mr. WONG See Yuen, Chief Executive Officer (Age: 48)

Mr. Wong joined the Group in September 2021 and was
appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company in
March 2022. He is responsible for the general operations
of the Group. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wong co-founded Dory
Network Technology Limited, a social enterprise focusing
on using design and technology to create impact globally,
in August 2019. Its products include Me2you app that
facilitates idle items sharing and newgig.me, a platform
helping people find their next fulfilling move or career.
Me2you has won the prestigious Singapore Good Design
Mark in three categories in 2021.

From September 2018 to August 2019, he used to be a
director of strategic business development for Swire Coca-
Cola Ltd, where he charted strategy for vending, smart
retail, digital partnership and customer engagement portal
for China.
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(A) Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management (Continued)

(ii)

Senior Management (Continued)

From July 2011 to August 2018, Mr. Wong had a successful
run as the chief executive officer of Asia Miles Limited. He
was responsible for managing and growing the Asia’s
leading travel and lifestyle rewards programme of over 11
million members and more than 700 business partners
worldwide. He joined Cathay Pacific Airways as a
management trainee in 1998 and has been with the airline
group in various management positions living and
working in Hong Kong, the United States of America,
Singapore, Japan and Vietnam.

Mr. Wong is an ardent advocate of design thinking, a
collaborative and customer-focused problem-solving
methodology. He takes special interest in a stakeholder-
centric approach that combines innovation, customer
insights and technology to drive corporate value creation.

Mr. Wong is a sought-after speaker delivering
presentations globally on the value of design thinking and
innovation, customer loyalty, customer relationship
management & digital transformation. Mr. Wong is also
the founder and lead curator of Design Thinking in Action,
an innovative non-profit community that brings together
thought leaders, educators and practitioners to share,
learn and grow together in the field of human-centred
design since 2016.

Mr. Wong has been a Sloan Fellow of the Stanford
Graduate School of Business with the Degree of Master of
Science in Management and obtained a certificate in
Public Management and Social Innovation. Mr. Wong also
obtained the Degree of Bachelor of Arts in Marketing from
Michigan State University, and completed the IESE &
INSEAD Executive Education Programme in Spain, France
and Singapore.
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(A) Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management (Continued)

(ii)

Senior Management (Continued)

He is currently the deputy chairman of the board of
directors of Ocean Park Corporation, a mentor for
Cyberport Mentorship Services and a member of the
Social Enterprise Advisory Committee for the Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the
People’s Republic of China. He is also currently a licensed
football coach under the Asian Football Confederation.

Mr. KWOK Chi Kin, Chief Financial Officer and Company
Secretary (Age: 46)

Mr. Kwok joined the Group in September 2017 and he is
the Chief Financial Officer and the Company Secretary of
the Company. He is also the Authorised Representative.
He is responsible for the accounting and financial
management, company secretarial matters and corporate
governance functions of the Group. Mr. Kwok obtained his
Bachelor of Business Administration in Finance with First
Class Honours from The Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology. He is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, a Chartered Secretary, a
Chartered Governance Professional and an associate
member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute. He has
over 20 years of experience in auditing, accounting and
financial management, company secretarial practice, and
corporate governance. Prior to joining the Group, he
worked for an international accounting firm and was the
chief financial officer and the company secretary of
International Entertainment Corporation, a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from May 2004
to June 2017.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BIZBENRES

_E

pwec

To the members of i-CABLE Communications Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of i-CABLE Communications
Limited (the “Company”), its subsidiaries and its consolidated structured
entities (the “Group”), which are set out on pages 154 to 262, comprise:

the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022;

the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then
ended;

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

R Ak E
HERRABRARATRR
(REB M L ERA )
=

RMEBESTHAR
BEREHEBAARAR(ATERIEAR]) REWE
NARGEEHEBEEETRBUATABIEEE D AHNE
154 B2 5262 BNERE ITEHRE - B

RZBE-—F+ A=+ HNKETENRR
*x

BEZALFENGEBRER

BEZALFENGREEREEHEK

BEZALFENGERERER &

RAMBHRERME  ERETESBRIE MR

BES -

EMHE

BARA ZERAVBRRCREBEBT LSS
([BEGTEAR ) RMAN(EEMBHRELER) ((F
BUBHREEAD ) EEMPEHRKRT BEXER-
2 CHE T A=+ HNGAMBRRRE#EZ
FLEFENGAVBRAMIARERE YO ER
FE(REUED) Z B

141



142

i-CABLE Communications Limited Annual Report 2022

Independent Auditor’s Report

BIZBENRES

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

Going concern assessment

Impairment assessment of property, plant & equipment (“PP&E"),
right-of-use assets, programming library and other related
intangible assets

Assessment of the recoverability of recognised deferred tax
assets
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BB ES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) RAEETTEIE (&)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BEMNETNARERERENSE

HMRETER

Going concern assessment

FERETE

Our audit procedures to assess this key audit matter included the
following:

BAIFHE % R ET FENEAEF BB U T &R

Refer to Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

F2RER A M RAME2 -

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had net current liabilities of
HK$489 million and total deficit of HK$740 million and during
the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded a net
loss of HK$886 million and total operating cash outflows
amounted to HK$89 million. Included in its current liabilities as at
31 December 2022 was an interest-bearing bank borrowing of
HK$295 million which was immediately repayable on demand
and subject to review at any time and in any event not less than
annually. Hong Kong Cable Television Limited, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, submitted an
application for the termination of the domestic pay television
programme service licence (“Pay TV Licence”) to the Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, which was
approved on 14 February 2023. The termination of the licence
will become effective from 1 June 2023.
RZBEZZF+A=+—H E£EERHEEFHE
489,000,000 7 7T K 48 &5 411 740,000,000 7T » MR EZE T
TZFFT A=+ -HLEFE ESEBEGFER
886,000,000 7 7T K 48 & B} & )7t Hi 48 %8 89,000,000 B T © ﬁA:
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_:E/\H —HBELE -

Understanding management'’s processes in relation to the
preparation of cash flow forecast and assessing the
inherent risk of material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and the judgement
involved in preparing the cash flow forecast for the
purpose of going concern assessment;
THREBEABRUERSNERAINER  EBE
B T REENEERAFELLETFARRERES
METRRIFTS R o) H i - S ERERR A E A
[2\B

Discussing with management to understand the key
assumptions used in the cash flow forecast and their
future operation plans in the Forecast Period;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

BREETER

These events casted doubt on the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern. As part of the going concern assessment, the
directors reviewed the Group's cash flow forecast prepared by
management which covered for a period of twelve months from
31 December 2022 (“Forecast Period”) and have taken into
account certain plans and measures as set out in note 2 of the
consolidated financial statements and considered that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on
a going concern basis.
ZEEMSIRY BEXERTERNFELENRE - F
REBEETEN By  EFCEHNERBARERE
—E - —F+-A=t+—Bi+=EAHRE(ERH
MHH BEEERSRETAD  WEZEBLEE T BHRKM
A2PTEEE TR EI B - WRARBELEEERH
FEMBmREBEE -

B ETEE @)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BANETNNEEFARETSE

Challenging the reasonableness of the key assumptions
adopted by management, including the revenue growth
rate, estimated operating expenses by considering the
historical trend, current business plans and approved
budget;

FRERELBY  ERLEa N ENREE &
RELEMRAIZER(BERRLRE - FFHE
ERX) AR

Enquiring management of the availability of financing
facilities, other recourse to financing and the proposed
fundraising activities and corroborating with relevant
supporting information, including agreements and deeds
of undertaking of financial support;
MEREESAAIARE EtRESEREEEE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

BREETER

As management’s assessment of the going concern basis used
in the preparation of consolidated financial statements involves
significant management’s judgements and assumptions, this
matter is considered as a key audit matter.

RN E IR B R BUR S M ISk P i I B AR 2 B R Y
EEREREBREAEGNBR  ZFERBRERESS
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BANETNNEEFARETSE

Evaluating the financial capability of Forever Top (Asia)
Limited (a substantial shareholder holding 43.2%
shareholding of the Company) and its beneficial
shareholders to provide financial support to the Group
based on relevant supporting evidence;
RBAEEFRE - STEAA(EM BRAR (5
F BERABRENTIERR) REERRR
[ EEEREIE ST BRE

Evaluating management’s sensitivity analyses around the
key assumptions in the cash flow forecast to consider the
downside effect of such changes; and
HEEREHRRERAEBZBRERNBBESHT
NEBZEEBN TTHE &

Evaluating the appropriateness of the disclosures relating
to the going concern basis of preparation included in the
consolidated financial statements.

G M BRR I AAFELCERBEEENR

BRTWY -

Based on our work, we found that the key management’s
judgement and assumptions used in management’s going
concern assessment were supported by the available evidence.
REBEHMANTE RAFREEBEFELCETETER
BORASE B IR fE 2T M R AR IE A S B B S o
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) RAEETTEIE (&)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BEMNESTNARERRENSE

BEETEE

Impairment assessment of PP&E, right-of-use assets, Our audit procedures to assess this key audit matter included the
programming library and other related intangible assets

¥ BERRE EAEEE BARATERAHERE

following:

BAAIFHE L AR ET FENEEFERN T &R

FHEERREFE

Refer to Notes 4(b), 13, 14, 15 and 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.
BLHRAMBMEMET40) - 1314 15R16°

The Group held various PP&E, right-of-use assets, programming
library and other related intangible assets amounting to HK$481
million (net of impairment) as at 31 December 2022. The Group
recorded a total impairment loss of HK$234 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022, according to the impairment
assessment for these assets.

RZTZZF+=-A=+—H ' BEXERBZEME-
BWERZE CRAEEE BRGELKEMEBBRETLE
B %%EZ\%% 00000078 7T (FNBRRME) - RIBZFEEDN
BENE S BEEERBE_T-_—_F+-A=+—HLt
FEHE ﬁfﬁ)&ﬁa B%F 234,000,000 7T °

Management conducts impairment assessments on these assets
if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential
impairment. The impairment assessment is based on the
recoverable amounts of the relevant cash-generating unit
("CGU") to which these assets are allocated.
WAEFEHRBERESERARLERE  EEESHZE
BEETRERNE - BENEDERZEEEESEHE
AReEABU((ReEEEEM])NAIKEISHE -

Understanding management'’s processes in relation to the
preparation of impairment assessment and assessing the
inherent risk of material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and the judgement on
key assumptions used in preparing the cash flow forecast
for the purpose of impairment;
THREREBHGRBEMENEF  LEBZEERL
WER R EIRS RE TR Y s T HEE 112
BLARFAEEZRENHE - SFEERERRAH
EA Rk

Discussing with the independent external valuer to
understand the valuation approach, methodology and key
assumptions used;
BB HMB L ERTE TR AR
FEREIZERK

AT BRI ETDA

Evaluating the outcome of prior period assessment of
management'’s forecast to assess the effectiveness of
management’s estimation process;
AAEREERANBTHMATEAER  UFHEE
EfhatdiZa Bt

Assessing the valuation methodology and the
reasonableness of key assumptions, including discount
rates and long term growth rate, by comparing the
industry comparables, with the involvement of our internal
valuation experts;

FRLBITE  FHEHESEREERR(BERR
EREHERR)NGEE  ASBLEZRT2EE
t
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BIAZBENRES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

BREETER

Management determined the recoverable amounts with the
assistance of an independent external valuer, where appropriate.
The recoverable amounts were determined based on the higher
of its value in use and fair value less costs of disposal. The
determination of CGU and recoverable amounts involves
significant judgment and the estimation or forecast of cash flows
of the relevant CGU based on certain key assumptions.
ERBEBIMNBEERMA G T (HER) EE AT lkE £
e ANmeBEIRERERAEERAAEBERBDEXRA
ZERREET BXRLELABUKLAIKEESE S REKX
HETRABEE T T E2BRREANBAEERcELEMD
REnE -

Significant management’s judgement and assumptions were
involved in the impairment assessment, including forecast
revenue, forecast operating costs, long term growth rate and
discount rate, and hence we considered this is a key audit
matter.

WA AP REREEEH @ MRER - BRERNKE - 8
REERAR REEBRERERE - [k - RPBA/LES
BRERTFIE -

B ETEE (|)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BANETNNEEFARETSE

Assessing the reasonableness of CGU determination based
on our understanding of the Group’s business and
assessing the reasonableness of forecast revenue and
operating costs by considering the Group's business
development plans, approved budget and our knowledge
of the industry and the Group;

RERMY SEEXEBOTH FEBESELE
NETHNAEE TERERE BEXENEBRER
T8 BRRERBAETER SSEMMB T
IR RIS N S ERAN S IR

Checking data input in the discounted cash flow forecasts
to supporting evidence;

75 86 3R IR & 7 B TR # i A BUR B SRR R IR AT
=H

Evaluating management’s sensitivity of a reasonably
possible change in the key assumptions adopted in the
discounted cash flow calculation to the recoverable
amounts of the CGU; and
AHEREEHMRREREFEPARAFERSR
Y& IR R AL B B) IR & B AR BE i AT W D) & BE A BURK
E: R

Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures relating to the
impairment assessment in the context of applicable
financial reporting standards.

RIBER N BREENTEEARETHORER
BRE o

Based on our work, we found that the management’s judgment
and assumptions adopted in the impairment assessment were
supported by the available evidence.

BERMOIE - RMEREEBERETEPEBHNH
b R A S BRI -

147



148 i-CABLE Communications Limited Annual Report 2022

Independent Auditor’s Report
BB ES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) RAEETTEIE (&)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BREETER RMHBANAEERRESSH

Assessment of the recoverability of recognised deferred
tax assets

Tk B R SRR AE B TR B A T W

Our audit procedures to assess this key audit matter included the
following:

BAIFHE L R ET FENEEF RN T &R

Refer to Notes 4(a) and 26(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

B2 RERE MHMER M FE4) K 26(b)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had recognised net deferred
tax assets of HK$102 million which was after a write-down of
HKS$176 million, for which deferred tax assets of HK$152 million
related to the future benefit of unutilised tax losses without
expiry date. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
incurred a consolidated loss before taxation of HK$698 million
which may indicate that the recognised deferred tax assets may
not be recoverable, in whole or in part.
RZZEZZF+-_A=+—H  BESECHERELHE
& 2 )%18102,000,000 78 7T (4% 40 B& #UR 176,000,000 7T )
HAREF I8 & 2 152,000,000 78 7T B2 AR 05 B TE S 18 A R
KM@= EH BEWEINBAR - BE_T__F+_A4
=t—HIEFE - EEEELRDBI4RE EE 698,000,000
BT BRERERIBENIEE E A s A 2 5k # o k(-

According to the recoverability assessment of deferred tax assets,
a write down of deferred tax assets of HK$176 million was
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

R AR RE A5 T8 & 2 AT W [ M BTk - % 81176,000,000 78 TTH
BEBEEENHRERNEE S -__F+=-A=1+—H
IFFEGEa BRI -

Understanding management'’s processes in relation to the
preparation of the assessment of the recoverability of
deferred tax assets and assessing the inherent risk of
material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and the judgement involved in
estimating the forecasts of the profit or loss and future
taxable profits of the relevant entities with the deferred tax
assets;
THREEEAMRERIETEHIAERE N W E IR E6
B WEBERMEF T HEEENEE REFTET
HIAE M R B B A0 18 58 NOR R B RR B A TR B
B R B AR E RS RRER M A B A E R

Assessing management’s key assumptions in the forecasts
of the probable future taxable profits of the relevant
entities and the periods over which management expects
the tax losses to be utilised by the entities and evaluating
the historical profitability, future profitability and loss
utilisation trends for the relevant entities;

AP L B IR A TRORIAE B B B8 A AT B R 2R B RR T & A
NEREEHREESIRNBESERNRARN 2R
& WERHAEEEERBERNEE N - RKBHEE
N R EENRBE
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BIAZBENRES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

BREETER

With a history of recent losses, management recognises deferred
tax assets in respect of the future benefit of unutilised tax losses
for individual entities, to the extent that those entities have
sufficient taxable temporary differences or there is convincing
other evidence that sufficient taxable profits will be available
against which the tax losses can be utilised by those entities.
HNIEEIRER - BRERER B RBH R IR IAER
RN S ERREFIREE - UL FEREEHER
B E RS A AR REE BB A B AR RTUE M A
AREHZEEBNTIEABERR -

The determination of the recoverability of deferred tax assets
requires significant management’s judgement in estimating and
evaluating the likelihood of future taxable profits (including
forecast revenue and forecast expenses) and the timing of
utilisation of the tax losses. This is a key audit matter because of
the inherent uncertainties involved in forecasting future taxable
profits.
EERERIAEENAREMEY R EREIREHE - LA
Bt M AT 2 A R R B RR B M) (B 4 TEDBI M & Ko ORI 7 )
B R] BB MR AR TE B R B B ] o R O SRR R 2R FE AR A 4
MPREBTEERE - QU REREFEE -

B ETEE @)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BANETNNEEFARETSE

Evaluating management'’s sensitivity of a reasonably
possible change in the key assumptions adopted in the
forecasts to the recoverable amount of deferred tax assets;
and

A4 E TR B SRR 18 & 2 P] Y [0 & 2R B R8I PR
RAEXERKNEIBARES 2 HRE &

Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures relating to the
deferred tax assets in the context of applicable financial
reporting standards.

RIRE RN B HREER T EERIRERIEE EN B
BEARRE -

Based on our work, we found that the significant judgement and
estimates applied in the assessment of recoverability of the
recognised deferred tax assets was supported by the available
evidence.

BRBERMOIE BRI EERRBEREEENA]
W B 14 P R B BB K VB % Ak SHIE T 15 B AR S 55 ©
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BIZBENRES

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibility of overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

L5 5
ERAFREFEHEMERAT - HUEREENER
FRANABER  ETBREESFBEHRRLEFDH
ZBED IR E o

\

BAHGEAMBERENEAL TRERMBEE - R
MR EEMEEEREMAANETER

BERMYSEEMBRERNET  RANETENE
H@ES  HAUHBRET ZEHMEESTELGEAM
BRERARMEBSABEFATHEABAFEERNR
BREUTFEERBERERAMBNR

ERBZPEHMITHOIE  OREMARB/EMESFE
BER#ERRL - AT EREZFTE-EETE &
PPRB E(IHRE

EENGAMBHRRARENTE

BERRERAAARBEBSTMASRHENC(EEY
BREER) REB(RRIGHDREREMFT 5 OGRE
MHmE  AHERS/ESREMBHRRNEE T
£ i 0 BRAF 3B R T B B EK 8 AR R P 75 O P 7
mHRR -
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BIZBENRES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with Section 405 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

REAMR BT RSN BEHRROEM

BAPMER  RUGAMBHRREBES T FHEHAR
MAFRERMEBNERNFERBLREAERE - I
HABERMELNZEMEE - HMREREB(A
AEPIDE4050F - | BT (FREBE) RERMNE
Foo BRILIASN R ERIEEME H) - RPITEHA
BENRBTRETMEMALE EHAEERNEE &
BRERSKFHRE BT RBRR(EBETE
A ETNER AR - EXRERRAFER AL
B oo SERRPRA AT LA R EREF S BE AR Bl 12 - IR A IETAH
EMEBNERERAEFESEMBERREMEK
FEAR B M F MR PR L MR TE - A B R SERRIR
AMATHARVEE K

ERB(EABRTEETRAOBRES - RIAER
TEEAE - REF T ERIEREE - BT

BRI R FF S R ME RAR A MK
FEEAERERARR - Rt RATEERF
ARESHE LRk - ARERGE R MEE HEE
& ERRMBERMER - ARAFFAI S RS
o BRER ERRA - EERAR
262 £ B REEERARFMERNEKNH
R ER SRR ERAERMEBNERN
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BIZBENRES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguard applied.

BEAMHR 2B RS M BERROET @

HEERAKBELCL ST ERNREEIELLE
o RIBMERNESRE  BESSFERS
AEBERBENEANTHEEME - (M A&
 BEEENRELLENELERGEE - R
BPRBAFEEEATHEEN - BB S EEZEED
BEPIRFEAEIZREVBRR D OBBE
E-BEABENKESIR  MRMESHERIEE
REEBR - HAIWAEBREN ZBEN SR E B ILAT
MBMERE - A ARFEKBRATLE

B ESBETRERELSE -

FESAVBERRNBEIH A EBNA
B BREE AMGEAMBEHRERELSHERBR
R HMEIA

# ERERERIEKIDNMBESEIRRE
B EENEIRE URYHGRAMB®mMRERX
BER-BMER EKEZJFHSTR  EENH
17 B REFERAERMLEL -

BREMEFREIN RMAREZZEGEBTTEINEN
#HE BHHEZHE EXFFERS  BREMEET
Fh 38R Hh P BB Y B (R (] KR ©

BATAEZRZESREXER  HARMNCHEERH
BIUEMHEBEERERE R YEMFMBERERES
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BIZBENRES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor's report is Chan Ka Yee.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27 March 2023

BREMR BT RS BERROETE @

HHEZZESABNERT  RMAEEHLERY
APGAMBREINBARAERE AMBKERE
AR RPERBMBE T HEAELEEE  RIPE
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FeERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-T-_—F+-A=+—HILEE

2022 2021
—E-= —E -4
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET TET
Revenue WA 6,7 895,199 989,197
Cost of services BR#S A AR
— Programming costs — &0 B 2UER AR (594,504) (583,057)
— Network expenses — PR ER (386,841) (292,870
— Cost of sales — SHEKA (155,448) (149,638)
Selling, general and administrative and other $8% « —fi& » 1T &%
operating expenses Hittge & B8R (346,591) (272,261)
Loss from operations R EE (588,185) (308,629)
Interest income FlBEWA 1,111 1177
Finance costs BEEH (55,561) (46,307)
Non-operating (expenses)/income, net e (BsR) WA E5E (55,456) 1,544
Loss before taxation G35y i 8 (698,091) (352,215)
Income tax ABTIE 9a) (187,627) (11,437)
Loss for the year FREE (885,718) (363,652)
Attributable to: FEAL
Equity shareholders of the Company AN T REZS ISR (885,718) (363,652)
Loss per share BREE
Basic HHAR (12.4) HK cents (5.1) HK cents
12 pe= I 7l
Diluted g1k 12 (12.4) HK cents (5.1) HK cents
pe= 1 Al
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Fe2Ema®

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-T-_—F+-A=+—HILEE

2022 2021
—E-—F —E -4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
Loss for the year FEREE (885,718) (363,652)
Other comprehensive income for the year FREM2EKE
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to B n[fe EF D Z Ea i)

profit or loss: EAH -

Currency translation difference EBITEESE 100 (36)
Total comprehensive income for the year FREEKNZHEEE (885,618) (363,688)
Attributable to: BE1h -

Equity shareholders of the Company RNARERRER (885,618) (363,688)
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HEMBKAR

As at 31 December 2022
RZZEZZF+=-A=+—H

2022 2021
—s=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&xT T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets IREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - HE NG 13 457,567 650,140
Right-of-use assets EREEE 14 9,655 74,231
Programming library HBREE 15 11,075 67,991
Other intangible assets HEmEpEE 16 2,661 11,863
Contract acquisition costs A XU EE RK AN 3,683 5,383
Deferred tax assets RIERIAE E 26(b) 102,144 289,501
Deposits, prepayments and B AR R
other receivables oAt e U R 34,132 35,996
620,917 1,135,105
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 18 6,473 6,863
Trade receivables and contract assets R EXEERRREHNEE 19 106,219 108,031
Deposits, prepayments and e BAERRR
other receivables H b R 41,565 48,207
Contract acquisition costs A XU BE K AN 6,102 10,938
Financial assets at fair value through BARBETABREN
profit or loss TREE 20 40,081 95,736
Restricted bank balances 2R GIRITAEER 21 16,550 10,550
Cash and bank balances B& MIRTTE 21 41,587 70,162
258,577 350,487
Total assets HWEE 879,494 1,485,592
EQUITY s
Capital and reserves EARRFEE
Share capital [N 25(c) 7,928,975 7,928,975
Reserves & (8,668,504) (7,782,886)
Total (deficit)/equity (), R (739,529) 146,089
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

HEMBKAR

As at 31 December 2022
RZZEZZF+=-A=+—H

—EFF® 157

2022 2021
—s=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
LIABILITIES =R
Non-current liabilities kRBAE
Convertible bonds AR E A 24 546,040 521,929
Interest-bearing borrowings EEER 23 296,035 -
Lease liabilities HERE 14 7,820 36,192
Other non-current liabilities HEinIEmEaE 21,373 21,373
871,268 579,494
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade payables JE & AR X 22 50,278 57,613
Accrued expenses and other payables TEIRE R M EMmERR 22 247,316 253,172
Receipts in advance and customers’ TEREER R E P
deposits B 22 117,811 115,213
Interest-bearing borrowings EHEER 23 295,000 295,000
Lease liabilities HERE 14 37,258 38,930
Current tax liabilities EHBIEAE 26(a) 92 81
747,755 760,009
Total liabilities wmas 1,619,023 1,339,503
Total equity and liabilities HERRAE 879,494 1,485,592

The notes on pages 162 to 262 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on

27 March 2023.

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry
MRAELT
Director

EF

Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick

BRERE

Director

EF

F162 2262 B 2 M AR GRAE T BHREMARI S -

REFGN -_E-_=F=A-++EBBREEEN
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

FEHaEER

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-T-_—F+-A=+—HILEE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
FARERRRELHD
Equity
component
Share of Total
Share Capital Exchange Accumulated option convertible Total equity/

capital reserve reserve losses reserve bonds  reserves (deficit)
GIE: e

B &% BEn/

kA&  ExfE SHERE ZER e RER? RERE  (BR)

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

TR TR TER TR TET TER TR TET

Balanceat1January2022  R=-ZE-—£-f-H

2tk 7,928,975 13,985 3,028 (8,186,258) 17,468 368,891 (7,782,886) 146,089
Loss for the year FNERE - - - (885718) - - (885718) (885,718)
Other comprehensiveincome  Eft 2 I - - 100 - - - 100 100

Total comprehensiveincome FRZEKHAE
for the year - - 100  (885,718) - - (885618) (885,618)

Transactions with owners BEFTAZRS
Transfer of reserve upon lapse BRI SR AREE B3
of share option & - -

1
=y
~N

-
=
[=2)
(=)

(17,468) - - -

Total transactions with owners SEIEEAZ R ZEE - - - 17,468  (17,468) - - -

Balance at 31 December2022 W=Z==f
+=A=t+-8
2tk 7,928,975 13,985 3,128 (9,054,508 - 368891 (8,668,504) (739,529)
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FeEsEDE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-_T-—F+-_A=+—-HILEE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
RRAERRREG
Equity
component
Share of
Share Capital  Exchange  Accumulated option  convertible Total Total

capital reserve reserve losses reserve bonds IS equity

i

Bk BARE NERE 2HER  BE ESES  BREE mEX
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
FAT  TAR  TAR  TAT  TAR  TAR AT Thn

Balanceat1January2021  R=-E--%-F-H

&R 7928975 13,985 3064 (7,822,606 17,468 224281 (7,563,808) 365,167
Loss for the year FREE - - - (363652) - - (363650 (363652)
QOther comprehensive income  Eff 2 U - - (36) - - - (36) (36)

Total comprehensiveincome £ 2HEKHAE
for the year - - (36) (363,652) - - (363,683) (363,688)

Transactions with owners BEBEAZRS

Issue of convertible bonds BT BRES - - - - - 145,809 145,809 145,809
Transactions costs incurredin -~ ATARRESE LM

respect of convertible bonds T HHA - - - - - (1,199) (1,199) (1,199)

Total transactions with owners EfE A 2 X 5 A% - - - - - 44610 144610 144610

Balance at 31 December 2021 R-E=—#
+ZR=+-H
2R 7928975 13,985 3028 (8,186,258) 17468 368,391 (7.782,886) 146,089
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= AN, - W =1
FabfnE
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-T-_—F+-A=+—HILEE

2022
—s=-=

HK$’000
FTEx

2021

HK$'000
TAET

Cash flows from operating activities RETHEENRASR
Loss before taxation R ATE R (698,091) (352,215)
Adjustments for: P
Finance costs mEEA 55,561 46,307
Interest income FE A (1,111) (1177)
Depreciation e 207,344 214,992
Amortisation of programming library e B 48,228 50,684
Amortisation of other intangible assets i E E 4,064 4,040
Amortisation of contract acquisition costs Yol 13,672 16,057
Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment ¥12% ~ = M & R EEE 138,884 -
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets EREEEREEE 34,382 -
Impairment losses on programming library EREERERE 55,924 -
Impairment losses on other intangible assets Hih B EERERE 5,138 -
Impairment losses on contract acquisition costs B R AR EE B 6,526 -
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant HEWME - WERREZ

and equipment (=), EBFE (96) 136
Loss on redemption of financial assets at fair value ~ BEEIIRA L BEST ABZH

through profit or loss TRIEEMERE - /70
Fair value losses/(net fair value gains) on BARBETABGNCREEDN

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss AREEEER/(AREEREFE) 55,655 (1,602)
Net loss allowance/(reversal of loss allowance) on FEUR & R BR M ES B,

trade receivables (BERERRE) F5E 7,087 (3930)
Write down of inventories FEHR 1,692 1316
Gain on modification of lease contracts EETRES D2 INE (13) (148)
Operating loss before changes in R A EBELESBBHAKEFE

working capital (65,154) (25,470)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories BFE @M, SR (1,302) 1,801
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables and U EHEBERNANEE

contract assets ()R (5,275) 8,198
Decrease in deposits, prepayments and e EIEZRR

other receivables Eo At pE U RORL 7,952 9,541
Increase in contract acquisition costs paid BTG #UREE A AN 1 AN (13,662) (11,685)
Decrease in trade payables FEfT &SRR (7,335) (11,513)
Decrease in accrued expenses and other payables  T832 & F3 & B fb < 50R 2 (2,960) (6,845)
Increase/(decrease) in receipts in advance and FBWEER N B PIES

customers’ deposits 240 CRi ) 2,598 (16,852)




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FERaRER

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_Z-—F+-_A=t—HILHE

EREEBAEBRLA

ZECFER 161

2022 2021
—E-— —E -4
HK$'000 HKS'000
FET FHET
Cash flows used in operations KEFTANRESR (85,138) (52,825)
Tax paid BHIE (253) (400)
Interest element of lease payments HMENRF ST (3,519) (5578)
Net cash used in operating activities RETFBFTANRSEE (88,910) (58,803)
Cash flows from investing activities RETHEENRERN
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYWE  BENEE (114,187) (107,12)
Additions to programming library NMEREE (48,549) (48,182)
Additions to other intangible assets WREMELEE - (166)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEDME BEMK
and equipment Fr 53008 209 216
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through BB BIR A A BETAEBZRES
profit or loss SREE - (23,943)
Proceeds from redemption of financial assets at & EI1Z A BEFT AERE
fair value through profit or loss ERVEEFTISKIE - 7,800
Interest received = U F B 1,127 1,308
Net cash used in investing activities RETHFMANRESFE (161,400) (170,079)
Cash flows from financing activities RETEEENREN
Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds BITR R E A PTE IE 27 - 200,000
Transaction costs upon issue of convertible bonds 2%1T ] #A R (& 5 2 32 B AL AR 27 - (1,645)
Drawdown of interest-bearing borrowings RIS EER 27 300,000 -
Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings EBEHEEBER 27 (3,965) -
Increase in restricted bank balances Z PR BIERTTAEERIE AN (6,000) -
Principal elements of lease payments HENFARE D 27 (41,108) (37,376)
Finance costs paid BENREEA (27,121) (19,476)
Net cash from financing activities RMETEMESNAS T 221,806 141,503
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RERREZFEYRDEE (28,504) (87,379)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—B—BZHERBEELZEEY 70,162 157,423
Effect of foreign exchange rates changes NEERSE 2 (71) 118
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December WR+Z-H=1+—HZEREK
HEZEEY 41,587 70,162
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GENERAL INFORMATION

i-CABLE Communications Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The address of its
registered office in Hong Kong is 7th Floor, Cable TV Tower, 9 Hoi
Shing Road, Tsuen Wan, Hong Kong.

The Company has its primary listing on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company, its subsidiaries and consolidated structured
entities (together the “Group”) are engaged in television
subscription business, domestic free television programme
service, advertising, channel carriage, television relay service,
programme licensing, theatrical release, other television related
businesses, broadband internet access services, portal operation,
telephony services, network leasing, network construction,
mobile service and mobile agency service as well as other
internet access related businesses.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of Hong Kong dollars (HKS'000), unless otherwise
stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been approved by
the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the
Company on 27 March 2023.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRS") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”"). The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except
for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"),
which are measured at fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed
in Note 4 below.
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% B EWRRS  BULETE - BERE - 8%
HE - WBEER RBBARELADEFNE
RIS A K HoAth b 49AERA 2675 -
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group incurred a
net loss of HK$886 million (2021: HK$364 million) which included
non-cash impairment losses and write-down of certain assets of
HKS$417 million. As at 31 December 2022, the Group's current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by HK$489 million (31
December 2021: HK$410 million) and total deficit amounted to
HK$740 million (31 December 2021: total equity of HK$146
million). Total operating cash outflows amounted to HK$89
million (2021: HK$59 million) and total cash outflow amounted
to HK$29 million during the year (2021: HK$87 million). Included
in the Group's current liabilities was an interest-bearing bank
borrowing of HK$295 million which is immediately repayable on
demand and subject to review at any time and in any event not
less than annually. Besides the banking facility, the Group has
received financing from time to time from Forever Top (Asia)
Limited (“Forever Top”), a substantial shareholder holding 43.2%
shareholding of the Company, through rights issue and issue of
long-term convertible bonds in June 2019 and March 2021 to
improve the Group's liquidity. During the year ended 31
December 2022, the controlling shareholder of Forever Top
further advanced unsecured 3-year interest-bearing loans
totalling in aggregate HK$300 million to the Group.
Subsequently to the year end in January 2023, the controlling
shareholder of Forever Top further advanced an unsecured
3-year interest-bearing loan of HK$80 million to the Group. On
14 February 2023, the Chief Executive in Council approved the
termination (the “Licence Termination”) of the domestic pay
television programme service licence (“Pay TV Licence”) of Hong
Kong Cable Television Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, with effect from 1 June 2023.

In view of such circumstances, the Directors have given careful
consideration of the liquidity requirement for the Group's
operations, the performance of the Group and available sources
of financing in assessing whether the Group has sufficient
financial resources to continue as a going concern. The Directors
have reviewed the Group’s cash flow forecast prepared by
management which covers a period of twelve months from 31
December 2022. The Directors have taken into account the
following plans and measures in assessing the sufficiency of
working capital requirements in the foreseeable future:

1. The Group's banking facility was recently renewed in mid-
March 2023 and the outstanding loan balance of HK$295
million has been rolled over, which will continue to be
subject to the clause of the bank’s overriding right to
demand repayment;

RBEXE ()

HE-ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE KAEE
$% 18 7% &5 1888600000058 JT( — & — — £ :
364,0000007870) * BREFRESREBEERETE
MU 417,0000008 T R=ZE=-_=_F+=A
=t+—H ARENRDEERERSDEELRS
4890000008 I (ZE=Z—F+ A =+—H:
410,000,000 7 7T ) M 48 &5 4t & 740,000,000 7T (=
T —F+-A=+—H : 825 146,000,000
J0) o AL E TR & 4288 4 89,000,000 4 T (=
T~ — 4 1590000008 7C) MRS RHBEL
29,000,000 7T ( = F = — £ : 87,000,000/8 JT ) °
AEBM RS A EeFEE B RTTE 31295000000
BT BEERBRERIAER AR
EROAITDOR—FEIES - RIBTTHREIN
REBREES KA GEEM AR AR (KA G
BARAB2%BREHEBERE)/E - AN A
BEARR ZE—NFAARZE - —F= A%817
REA TGS - U EAEEN RN - B2
TE-F+-A=1+HIEFE  KFARERR
R — PR AN & B 54 $£300,000,000 7% 7T 2 3
FHEERESER R T _=F— ABKF
FEAERE - KRR R — S A A S B 8
A E080,0000008 T2 3FHEIEAEEER - K
—E-=F-RA+WA - THEEERTEEE
MEB-_T-_=ZFNA—BREIE(RIEER])
ARAEEEZEMNBRARBESERERAERAT
AR B EIREN B IRFSHER ([ U EERER]) -

ERBHEBR EEEFFAEBRSHE RHY
BERBELLE  BHEERAEELENR
PESFER  AEEMNRBELRTHBE R - &
FEEMAEEERENAEBESRERA
ERzEg T —F+-A=+—HEx1+=@
AHE - E5EFTERJBERARNEEEAST
KRB RECE B Tt & & iEE

1. AEEMRTRERAN-_ZT-_=F=A
AT - RIEEE KA #2 295,000,000 7T
BREEE THEESZRITEREBLER
RIRE N 2 R FTARIR
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

2. Following the approval to terminate the Pay TV Licence,
Hong Kong Cable Television Limited remains bound by
the terms and conditions of the Pay TV Licence until the
Licence Termination with effect from 1 June 2023, and
thereafter the Group will continue to provide free
television programme services and other businesses as
usual, including broadband telecommunications services,
telephony services, network construction and mobile
services. The Group will continue with its strategic
transformation plan to enhance the Group’s business
performance; enrichment of contents; cooperation with
other partners and cost savings initiatives; and

3. Forever Top has entered into an irrevocable deed of
undertaking for a period of twelve months from 31
December 2022 to provide financial support to the Group,
up to a cap with reference to the latest funding
requirement based on the 12-month cash flow forecast as
approved by the board of directors of the Company, as
and when necessary up to 31 December 2023. In turn,
Forever Top has received back to back financial support
undertakings from its beneficial shareholders.

Notwithstanding the above, whether the Group is able to
achieve its plans and measures as described above, which
incorporate assumptions about future events and conditions are
subject to inherent uncertainties. In particular, whether the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern would
depend upon the continuous availability of existing banking
facility, the successful implementation of cost saving initiatives
and enhancement of business performance, and from time to
time as and when is necessary, the financial support from
Forever Top as backed by the beneficial shareholders of Forever
Top.

The Directors, after due consideration of the basis of the Group's
plans and measures as well as the reasonably possible downside
changes to the cash flow assumptions in the cash flow
projections, consider that the Group will have sufficient working
capital to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due
in the coming twelve months from 31 December 2022.
Accordingly, the Directors consider it is appropriate to prepare
the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
(@) Amendments to standards and accounting

2. MRBEEm@m

(a) RASHELERBERAEEE

guideline effective in current accounting
period and are relevant to the Group's
operations

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has
adopted the following amendments to standards and
accounting guideline which are relevant to the Group's
operations and are mandatory for accounting period
beginning on 1 January 2022:

HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
(Amendments) Framework
HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent

(Amendments) Concessions beyond

30 June 2021

HKAS 16 (Amendments) Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before
Intended Use

HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of

(Amendments) Fulfilling a Contract
Annual Improvements  Annual Improvement to

HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle

Accounting Guideline 5 Merger Accounting for
(Revised) Common Control

Combinations

The adoption of these amendments to standards and
accounting guideline does not have any significant
change to the accounting policies or any significant effect
on the results and financial position of the Group.

ERRNEABTEAREIES
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b) New standard, amendments to standards,

HKFRS Practice Statement and
interpretation that are not yet effective
and have not been early adopted by the
Group

The following new standard, amendments to standards,
HKFRS Practice Statement and interpretation have been
published which are mandatory for the Group’s
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
but have not been early adopted by the Group:

HKFRS 16 (Amendments)

HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 17
(Amendments)

HKFRS 17 (Amendments)

HKAS 1 (Amendments) and

HKFRS Practice Statement 2

HKAS 1 (Amendments)

HKAS 1 (Amendments)

HKAS 8 (Amendments)

HKAS 12 (Amendments)

Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(Amendments)

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback @

Insurance Contracts "

Initial application of HKFRS 17 and
HKFRS 9 — Comparative
Information

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current @
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants @

Definition of Accounting Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction @

Presentation of Financial Statements
— (lassification by the Borrower of
a Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand Clause ¥

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture ©

m Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

@ Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

B Effective date is to be determined

The Group does not expect that these new standard,
amendments to standards, HKFRS Practice Statement and
interpretation would have any material impact on its
results and financial position.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted for the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements, which have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated, are set out below:

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the

financial statements of the Company and all of its
subsidiaries made up to 31 December.

0]

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including consolidated
structured entities) controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power to direct the activities of
the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from
the date on which controls is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.

Intra-group balances, transactions and any
unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is
no evidence of impairment. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions, whereby adjustments are
made to the amounts of controlling and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity to
reflect the change in relative interests, but no gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(a) Consolidation (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a
financial asset or, when appropriate, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see Note 3(p)(ii)).

Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group or
Company has significant influence, but not control
or joint control, over its management, including
participation in the financial and operating policy
decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in
the consolidated financial statements of the Group
under the equity method and is initially recorded at
cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group's share of
the acquisition date fair values of the investee’s
identifiable net assets over the cost of the
investment (if any). Thereafter, the investment is
adjusted for the post acquisition change in the
Group's share of the investee’s net assets and any
impairment loss relating to the investment (see
Note 3(p)(ii)). Any acquisition-date excess over cost,
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax
results of the investees and any impairment losses
for the year are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, whereas the Group's
share of the post-acquisition, post-tax items of the
investees’ other comprehensive income is
recognised in the consolidated statement of other
comprehensive income.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(a) Consolidation (Continued)

(i)

Associates (Continued)

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associate, the Group’s interest is
reduced to HKSNil and recognition of further losses
is discontinued except to the extent that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the investee. For this
purpose, the Group's interest is the carrying amount
of the investment under the equity method
together with the Group’s long-term interests that
in substance form part of the Group's net
investment in the associate.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates
are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest
in the investee, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred, in which case they are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of
the entire interest in that investee, with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former investee at the date
when significant influence is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition of a financial asset.

In the Company's statement of financial position,
investment in an associate is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see Note 3(p)(ii)).
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. FEEFEHE @)
(b) Property, plant and equipment and (b) V¥ BERRERERE

depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see
Note 3(p)(ii)). The cost of self-constructed items of
property, plant and equipment includes the cost of
materials, labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of
the costs of dismantling and removing the items and
restoring the site on which they are located, and an
appropriate proportion of production overheads and
borrowing costs (see Note 3(k)).

Gain or loss arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and is recognised in profit or
loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight line method over
their estimated useful lives at annual rates as follows:

Network assets and television 5% to 25%
production systems
Furniture, fixtures, other 10% to 33.33%
equipment and motor vehicles
Buildings situated on Higher of 2.5% or
leasehold land* percentage to amortise
the asset cost over

the unexpired term of
land leases

Leasehold improvements Over the lease term

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and
its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Property, plant and equipment and

()

depreciation (Continued)

Under certain circumstances, the Group may have an
obligation to dismantle part of its network upon request
by concerned parties. Owing to the absence of such
history, no reliable estimate can be reasonably made in
respect of such potential obligation.

* This represents units in industrial and commercial buildings which the
management considers impracticable to split the cost into land and
buildings. Thus, depreciation is provided at 2.5% to write off the cost of
the properties held by the Group.

Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable. Lease payments to be made under reasonably
certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.
The Group determines the incremental borrowing rate by
using recent third-party financing received with
adjustments specific to the term of the leases.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()

Leases (Continued)

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for
each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

any initial direct costs; and
restoration Costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a
straight-line basis.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as
an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases
with a lease term of 12 months or less.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a
lessor is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The
respective leased assets are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position based on their nature.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(d) Programming costs

(i)

Programming library

Programming library consists of presentation rights
for acquired programmes for showing on the
Group's television channels, film rights and films in
progress produced by the Group and perpetual film
rights acquired by the Group.

Presentation rights for acquired programmes are
capitalised as intangible assets and stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position of the
Group at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses (see Note 3(p)(ii)).
Amortisation is charged to profit or loss in
accordance with a formula on an accelerated basis
over a maximum of three transmissions. Subsequent
expenditure, which may include subtitling costs and
dubbing costs, on programmes after initial
acquisition is recognised as an expense when
incurred unless it is probable that the expenditure
would enable the programmes to generate future
economic benefits in excess of their originally
assessed standard of performance and the
expenditure could be measured and attributed to
the assets reliably.

Film rights produced by the Group and perpetual
film rights acquired by the Group are capitalised as
intangible assets and stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses (see Note 3(p)(ii)). Costs of film
rights produced by the Group and perpetual film
rights acquired by the Group represent the carrying
value transferred from films in progress upon
completion and the purchase price of the perpetual
film rights respectively. Amortisation is charged to
profit or loss over the expected number of future
showings.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Programming costs (Continued)

(i) Programming library (Continued)

Films in progress are stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses (see Note 3(p)(ii)). Costs include
all direct costs associated with the production of
films. Costs of films are transferred to film rights

upon completion.

(ii) Live programmes and in-house developed

programmes

Live programmes consist of third party feed
programmes while in-house developed
programmes consist primarily of news,
documentary and general entertainment
programmes with short lead-time from production
to telecast. The costs of both types of programmes
are charged to profit or loss upon telecast. Payments
of programme costs made in advance or in arrears
are recorded as prepayments or accruals, as

appropriate.

(e) Otherintangible assets

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be
either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite
useful lives are amortised over the useful economic life
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at the

end of each reporting period.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not
amortised. An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life
is reviewed annually to determine whether indefinite life
assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to

finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

3.

FESHBE @)
(d) &7 ERIEMRA @)
() HAHE @
BRI BN AR PR EEE (R
B 2 3(0)(00) B BR © PR A B IEBUER
Fip Rz — ) EERA - BE TR
PRANE B A B B HUE -

(il REEBRTERBEREGH

RS ERGABRE=TEKWKENA -
MBS T EREREFEREHR
B2 -~ LSRR K — IR
B - MERIAE B AR A RENR
Rrat AR E o TR B &0 B SUEMK
AR THE E B R FERR R TR N AR SNk B
ERSK

(e) HMWEFLEE
BEEEZAERAFHANELSARLE
Rl RFRARZEBLEETINAE
REEFHANEE  INZEVEELR
AR R ETTRERE - (ERFHA
ReBEE BB NEETEAARE
E¥RE MW EE Bims —Ik -

AERAIEREFHZENEERSFRE
PIEE RN A E LR & BAKFERER
Ao RFEVEEL ST LASE - AER
AfERFRZBLEERSFIENE A
ETERAEAFHIAGREHETSE -
MEBEE - BRI E BB 2R B U IR AT
IEEERERFHRAERFHIIE



ERRBBNERAA

TEREICFFR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fm e MG RRE

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(e) Otherintangible assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Club debentures

The Group's club debentures are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position of the
Group at cost less impairment losses (see
Note 3(p)(ii)).

Computer software and website
development costs

The Group's computer software and website
development costs are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position of the Group at cost
less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses (see Note 3(p)(ii)). Computer software and
website development costs are amortised on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 5
years.

Costs associated with maintaining software
programmes and website are recognised as an
expense as incurred. Development costs that are
directly attributable to the design and testing of
identifiable and unique computer software products
and website controlled by the Group are recognised
as intangible assets where the following criteria are
met:

— it is technically feasible to complete the
software and website so that it will be
available for use;

— management intends to complete the
software and website and use (or sell) it;

—  there is an ability to use or sell the software
and website;

— it can be demonstrated how the software and
website will generate probable future
economic benefits;
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(e) Otherintangible assets (Continued)

(f)

(ii) Computer software and website
development costs (Continued)

— adequate technical, financial and other
resources are available to complete the
development and to use the software and
website; and

—  the expenditure attributable to acquisition,
development and enhancement of the
software and website can be reliably
measured.

Capitalised development costs are recorded as
intangible assets and amortised from the point at
which the asset is ready for use.

Computer software and website development costs
that do not meet the above criteria are expensed in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss as
incurred.

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated on the weighted
average basis and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(g) Financial instruments

(i)

(i)

Recognition and initial measurement

The Group initially recognises trade and other
receivables, trade and other payables, deposits and
borrowings on the date on which they are
originated. All other financial instruments are
recognised on the trade date, which is the date on
which the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset or financial liability (unless it is trade
and other receivables without a significant financing
component) is measured initially at fair value plus, in
the case of an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs
that are directly attributable to its acquisition or
issue. Transaction costs of financial assets or
liabilities carried at FVTPL are expensed in profit or
loss. Trade and other receivables without a
significant financing component are initially
measured at transaction price.

Classification and subsequent
measurement

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as
measured at: amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI") or FVTPL.
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to
their initial recognition, except if and in the period
the Group changes its business model for managing
financial assets.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it
meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL:

—  the asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to hold assets to collect
contractual cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the financial asset
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(g) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Classification and subsequent
measurement (Continued)

Trade and other receivables, including balances due
from group companies are classified as financial
assets at amortised cost. All other financial assets are
classified and measured at fair values.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by
impairment losses. Interest income, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.
Financial assets at FVTPL and FVOCI are
subsequently measured at fair values. Changes in
fair values of financial assets at FVTPL are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at
amortised cost or FVTPL. Financial liabilities at
amortised cost are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or
loss on derecognition is also recognised in profit or
loss. Trade and other payables, including balances
due to group companies, interest-bearing
borrowings and convertible bonds are classified as
financial liabilities at amortised cost. The Group does
not have financial liability measured at FVTPL.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(g) Financial instruments (Continued)

(iii)

Derecognition
Financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to
receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in
which substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in
which the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership and it does not retain control of the
financial asset. The Group enters into transactions
whereby it transfers assets recognised on its
consolidated statement of financial position, but
retains either all or substantially all of the risks and
rewards of the transferred assets. In such cases, the
transferred assets are not derecognised.

Financial liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its
contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled,
or expire. The Group also derecognises a financial
liability when its terms are modified and the cash
flows of the modified liability are substantially
different. In this case, a new financial liability based
on the modified terms is recognised at fair value.
The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability extinguished and the new financial
liability with modified terms is recognised in profit
or loss.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(g) Financial instruments (Continued)

(iv)

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position when, and only
when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable
right to set off the amounts and it intends either to
settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously. Income and
expenses are presented on a net basis only when
permitted under HKFRSs, or for gains and losses
arising from a group of similar transactions such as
in the Group's trading activity.

(h) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and on
hand, demand deposits with banks, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, having been within 3 months of
maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows of the Group.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(i) Revenue recognition

The Group recognises different types of revenue, as
follows:

U]

(i)

The Group enters into individual or packaged and
fixed price subscription sale contracts with
customers in which, it may include single or
multiple elements of subscription television services,
broadband internet access services and telephony
services. Under such arrangements, the total
transaction price receivable from customers is
allocated among the Group's performance
obligations on a relative standalone selling price
basis. The Group estimates the standalone selling
price at contract inception based on the observable
retail prices of the respective performance
obligations in similar circumstances to similar
customers. Revenue allocated to the subscription
television services, broadband internet access
services and telephony services is recognised over
time when the services are provided, which is
generally over the contract period. In general,
customers are invoiced according to agreed billing
schedules set out in the customer contracts,
invoices are usually billable in advance of the
services to be rendered and are due for payments
within 15 days.

Advertising revenue net of agency deductions is
recognised on telecast of the advertisement. When
an advertising contract covers a specified period,
the related revenue is recognised evenly over the
specified period. Customers are invoiced according
to agreed billing schedules, in advance of the
advertising services, with payments due within 30
days. In case of non-cash consideration under barter
transactions, the fair value of the non-cash
consideration is measured at the inception of
contracts. If the fair value cannot be reasonably
estimated, the Group measures consideration
indirectly by reference to the standalone selling
price of the services promised to the customer in
exchange for the consideration.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(x)

Revenue from network construction service contract
is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation using
input method.

Revenue from rendering mobile agency services
and mobile services is recognised when the services
have been rendered. Variable fees are recognised
only to the extent that it is highly probable that a
significant reversal will not occur.

Revenue from network leasing is recognised over
time on a straight line basis.

Revenue from theatrical distributions is recognised
when the films are exhibited.

Revenue from distribution of films is recognised
upon delivery of the master tapes to the customers.

Income from licensing of television rights is
recognised in full upon delivery of the programmes
concerned in accordance with the terms of the
licence contracts.

Income from network maintenance and operations
is recognised at the time when services are
provided.

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal installments
over the periods covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis is more representative of
the pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of
the leased asset. Lease incentives granted are
recognised in profit or loss as integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments receivables.
Contingent rentals are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Incremental costs incurred to obtain a contract with a
customer are capitalised as contract acquisition costs if the
Group expects to recover these costs. Costs of obtaining a
contract are amortised on a straight-line basis over the
terms of the specific contracts. As a practical expedient,
the Group recognises the incremental cost of obtaining a
contract as an expense when incurred if the amortisation
period of the asset that the Group otherwise would have
recognised is 1 year or less.

The period between the transfer of promised goods and
services to the customers and payments by customers
usually is within 1 year, as a result, there is no financing
component which requires adjustment of the transaction
prices for the time value of money.

If the payments by customers exceed the services
rendered, a contract liability is recognised as receipts in
advance on the consolidated statement of financial
position. If the services rendered exceed the payments by
customers and unconditional rights to contract
consideration to date, a contract asset is recognised on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees
paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised
as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw down
occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

)

(k)

Borrowings (Continued)

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement
of financial position when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of a financial liability that
has been extinguished or transferred to another party and
the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or
loss as other income or finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
period.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of
a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the
asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its
intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of
borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the
qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted
or complete.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

U]

Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based
compensation plan. The fair value of the employee
services received in exchange for the grant of share
options is recognised as an expense. The total amount to
be expensed over the vesting period is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options granted at the
date of grant, excluding the impact of any non-market
vesting conditions. At the end of each reporting period,
the Group revises its estimates of the number of options
that are expected to vest. It recognises the impact of the
revision of original estimates, if any, in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable
transaction costs are credited to share capital when the
options are exercised. On lapse of share options according
to the plan, corresponding amount recognised in share
option reserve is transferred to retained profits.

The grant by the Company of options over its equity
instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings
in the Group is treated as a capital contribution. The fair
value of employee services received, measured by
reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised over
the vesting period as an increase to investment in
subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding credit to
equity in the parent entity accounts.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively. Current tax is the
expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year,
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and
taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses
and unused tax credits.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. Deferred tax assets
are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable
amounts will be available to utilise those temporary
differences and losses. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will
arise from the reversal of existing taxable temporary
differences, provided those differences relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse either in the same period as the
expected reversal of the deductible temporary difference
orin periods into which a tax loss arising from the deferred
tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same criteria
are adopted when determining whether existing taxable
temporary differences support the recognition of deferred
tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that
is, those differences are taken into account if they relate to
the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity,
and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in
which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Income tax (Continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from the initial recognition of assets or liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination), and
temporary differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable
differences, the Group controls the timing of the reversal
and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted. The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the
related tax benefit of part or all of that deferred tax asset
to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent
that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available. Additional income taxes that arise from the
distribution of dividends are recognised when the liability
to pay the related dividends is recognised.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Income tax (Continued)

(n)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the entity has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the following additional
conditions are met:

(i) In the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
entity intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

(i) Inthe case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if
they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

(1) the same taxable entity; or

(2)  different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.

Translation of foreign currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar.
The Company’s functional currency is Hong Kong dollar.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(n) Translation of foreign currency (Continued)

(o)

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies that are stated at fair values are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Statement of financial position items are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing foreign
exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in
equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount
of the exchange differences relating to that foreign
operation is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when
the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.

Related parties

(i) A person, or a close member of that person'’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

(1) has control or joint control over the Group;

(2)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(3) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's parent.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(o) Related parties (Continued)

(i) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

M

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third parties.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (i).

A person identified in (i)(1) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(p) Impairment of assets

(i)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for lifetime
expected credit loss ("ECL") on trade and other
receivables. For bank balances for which credit risk
(i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected
life of the financial instrument) has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, the loss
allowances are measured as 12-month ECL. Lifetime
ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument. 12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs
that result from default events that are possible
within the 12 months after the reporting date (or a
shorter period if the expected life of the instrument
is less than 12 months). In all cases, the maximum
period considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over which the Group
is exposed to credit risk.

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECL, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or
effort. This includes both quantitative and
qualitative information and analysis, based on the
Group's historical experience and informed credit
assessment and including forward-looking
information. In all cases, the maximum period
considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is exposed
to credit risk.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(p) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs and presentation of ECLs in
the consolidated statement of financial position

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. They are measured as follows:

— financial assets that are not credit-impaired at
the reporting date: as the present value of all
cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive);

—  financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date: as the difference between the
gross carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows;

— undrawn loan commitments: as the present
value of the difference between the
contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group if the commitment is drawn down and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive; and

— financial guarantee contracts: the expected
payments to reimburse the holder less any
amounts that the Group expects to recover.

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at
amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying
amount of the assets. For debt securities at FVOC|,
the loss allowance is charged to profit or loss.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(p) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is
written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no reasonable expectations of
recovering the financial asset. This is generally the
case when the Group determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial
assets that are written off could still be subject to
enforcement activities in order to comply with the
Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may be
impaired or, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment;
—  right-of-use assets;

—  programming library (including film rights,
perpetual film rights and films in progress);

—  otherintangible assets; and
— investments in subsidiaries and associate in

the Company’s statement of financial
position.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(p) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of other assets (Continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for intangible
assets that are not yet available for use and
intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives,
the recoverable amount is estimated annually
whether or not there is any indication of
impairment.

—  Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent of
those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest group
of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

—  Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated to reduce the
carrying amount of the assets in the unit (or
group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that
the carrying value of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in
use (if determinable).

3.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3.
(p) Impairment of assets (Continued)

FESTHER®@
(p) EERME @)

(ii) Impairment of other assets (Continued)
—  Reversals ofimpairment losses

In respect of assets, an impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favourable
change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or
loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.

(q) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group's chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM") for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group's various lines of
business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products or
provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. FE&: BE @)

(r) Financial guarantees issued, provisions  FIBHZ2HBEER BERIA
and contingent liabilities =L

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified
payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the
guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a
financial liability at the time the guarantee is issued.
The liability is initially measured at fair value and
subsequently at the higher of

—  the amount determined in accordance with
the expected credit loss model under HKFRS
9 “Financial Instruments”; and

—  the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, the cumulative amount of
income recognised in accordance with the
principles of HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers”.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined
based on the present value of the difference in cash
flows between the contractual payments required
under the debt instrument and the payments that
would be required without the guarantee, or the
estimated amount that would be payable to a third
party for assuming the obligations.

() Financial guarantees issued (i) FIEH BB ER
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r)

(s)

Financial guarantees issued, provisions
and contingent liabilities (Continued)

(ii) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which
the associated services are rendered by employees of the
Group, except to the extent that they are included in the
cost of property, plant and equipment and programming
library not yet recognised as an expense. Where payment
or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material,
these amounts are stated at their present values.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(t)

(u)

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds are recognised initially at fair value, net
of transaction costs incurred. Transaction costs are
incremental costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial asset or financial
liability, including fees and commissions paid to agents,
advisers, brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory agencies
and securities exchanges, and transfer taxes and duties.
Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption value is recognised in the profit or
loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

The fair value of the liability portion of a convertible bond
is determined using a market interest rate for an
equivalent non-convertible bond. This amount is recorded
as a liability on an amortised cost basis until extinguished
on conversion or maturity of the bonds. The remainder of
the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option. This is
recognised and included in shareholders’ equity, net of
income tax effects.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the profit or loss over the period necessary
to match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate. Government grants are deducted in
reporting the related expenses, when appropriate.

3.
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4. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 4.
(@) Recognition and recoverability of deferred

2t R A
(a) EAEBIHEEMNBERR ATREE

tax assets

Management considers the key source of estimation
uncertainty lies in the recognition of deferred tax assets
from unused tax losses. These tax losses can be carried
forward indefinitely and have no expiry date. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which they
can be utilised. Management reviews the carrying amount
of deferred tax assets at the end of each reporting period,
based on the forecast results of the Group and the
forecasts of future taxable profits of the relevant entities
with recognised deferred tax assets. The forecasts take into
account the expected growth of the business due to the
new business development and the approved business
plans. Significant judgement is involved in assessing
whether there is convincing evidence that sufficient
taxable profits will be available in view of a history of
recent losses, including estimating the projected future
taxable profits and the timing of the utilisation of tax
losses (which is the evidence supporting the recognition
of deferred tax assets). In the event that the Group’s
estimates of projected future taxable profits due to
changes in operating environment and business strategies
would impact the timing or extent of the Group's ability to
utilise the tax loss carry-forwards in the future, adjustments
to the recorded amount of deferred tax assets would be
required. For the purpose of sensitivity analysis, if the gross
revenue for each year in the forecasts were to decrease by
1% as compared with the forecasted amounts under the
base case scenario, deferred tax assets of about HKS$3
million would have been further written down.
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4. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(Continued)
(b) Impairment of property, plant and

equipment, right-of-use assets,
programming library and other related
intangible assets

Management regularly reviews whether there are any
indications of impairment and will recognise an
impairment loss if the carrying amount of an asset or a
cash-generating unit is higher than its recoverable amount
which is the greater of its fair value less costs of disposal or
its value in use.

Management conducts impairment assessments on the
group of assets relating to the Pay TV business to be
terminated and the remaining business, based on the
recoverable amounts of the relevant cash-generating units
to which these assets are allocated.
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4., ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 4.
(Continued)

(b) Impairment of property, plant and

2t R A E ()
(b) ¥ - BEKRE ERAEEE -

equipment, right-of-use assets,
programming library and other related
intangible assets (Continued)

Management determined the recoverable amounts with
the assistance of an independent professional valuer,
where appropriate. Significant judgement is involved in
the identification of the cash-generating unit that
generates largely independent cash inflows to which the
assets are allocated, and in determining the key
assumptions adopted in the cash flow forecast, including
forecast revenue, forecast operating costs, long term
growth rate and discount rate used in the discounted cash
flow calculation. The Group has determined that upon the
decision to terminate the Pay TV business, it became a
separate cash-generating unit from the rest of the
remaining business. Changes in the assumptions of the
Group's estimates of projected cash flows due to changes
in operating environment, uncertainty in the expected
growth in business and change in discount rate and long
term growth rate would impact the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating units. For the purpose of sensitivity
analysis, if the annual estimated revenue were to increase
or decrease by 1%, the Group's loss before taxation would
have decreased or increased by approximately
HK$88,000,000 or HK$58,000,000 respectively. If the
discount rate were to increase or decrease by 0.5%, the
Group's loss before taxation would have increased or
decreased by approximately HK$43,000,000 or
HK$47,000,000 respectively.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate, currency and price risks
arises in the normal course of the Group’s businesses. The
Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(a)

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables, contract assets and other receivables.
Management has a defined credit policy in place with
general credit terms ranging from 0 to 15 days in respect
of television, broadband, telephony and mobile service
subscription and from 0 to 30 days in respect of
advertising, network leasing and network construction
services. The exposure to credit risks is monitored on an
ongoing basis. The Group has no significant
concentrations of credit risk from customers receivables as
the customers’ bases were widely dispersed in different
sectors, except for a single external customer which
accounts for approximately 35% (2021: approximately
36%) of the total trade receivables, contract assets and
other receivables. Subscription revenue from customers is
settled mainly in cash or via major credit cards.

Contract assets are considered to have low credit risk.
Taking into account the historical settlement of
contractual payment and forward-looking factors,
management considered the lifetime ECLs surrounding
contracts is not significant.

Other receivables are considered to have low credit risk.
These assets are continuously monitored by assessing the
credit quality of the counter parties, taking into account
past experiences and other factors. Where necessary,
provision for impairment loss is made for estimated
irrecoverable amounts. As at 31 December 2022 and 2021,
other receivables were fully performing.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by
the carrying amount of the trade receivables and contract
assets and other receivables in the consolidated statement
of financial position.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 5.
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

MBEREERERMTIANAAEE
(80

(b) REBEZREMR

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash, the availability of funding through an
adequate amount of committed credit facilities and its
compliance with lending covenants. The Group's objective
is to maintain a balance between the continuity of funding
and the flexibility through use of interest-bearing
borrowings. As disclosed in Note 2, certain measures have
been taken by the Directors to mitigate the liquidity
pressures faced by the Group.

The following table shows the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities
at the end of the reporting period, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest

payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period)
and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

RTNRBDECRBRERDER TR
PRABEEEEABEANESRHBES REST
B - AREN BB REREZRE
HREBEASTEERZBEEMERE
o BAMIE2FAIRE  EECHEMET
BENBEASEMESORDESEN -

TRINBARENRENEE B RER
ERZAEHRERERMABENFITET
AR AE (BREEA ONEFERRER
SHREERABITONXFEORN B (1F
) UERAKBEAEEEHNANRE
B HIRIS -

Carrying

amountin

the

Total consolidated

Within Between 1 Between 2 contractual  statement of

1 year or and and Over undiscounted financial

on demand 2years 5years 5 years cash flows position

BIAM

15R5 150L 26 5E AERMN RENH

REREBR BE26R BESER 5ENE RERELE RARKEE

At 31 December 2022 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR TR TR TR TR TR

Trade payables ANEE S A 50,278 - - - 50,278 50,278
Accrued expenses and BREARAMERR

other payables 247,316 - - - 247,316 247,316

Customers' deposits EFRE 41,498 - - - 41,498 41,498

Interest-bearing borrowings HEED 318,985 8,551 300,056 - 627,592 591,035

Lease liabilities HEBME 38,646 3,482 4,768 - 46,896 45,078

Convertible bonds AR ES 15,360 15,360 46,080 798,040 874,840 546,040

712,083 27,393 350,904 798,040 1,888,420 1,521,245
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 5.
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

MBEREEREHMTIANAAEE
(80

(Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(b) RBEELERR @

Carrying

amount in

the

Total  consolidated

Within Between 1 Between 2 contractual  statement of

1 year or and and Over  undiscounted financial

on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years cash flows position

BaAm

14 Ak 14 0AE 2ENE L3R 4 Fa s

Kigx BE2EFA  BESFA SERE BRengfs MRRKEE

At 31 December 2021 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THT THT THT THT TR THT

Trade payables FEHEEERR 57613 - - - 57613 57613
Accrued expenses and BREARAMERR

other payables 253,172 - - - 253,172 253,172

Customers' deposits BPi&e 42,682 - - - 42,682 42682

Interest-bearing borrowings B ER 300,191 - - - 300,191 295,000

Lease liabilities HEBE 40479 36493 704 - 77676 75122

Convertible bonds AR ES 15360 15360 46,080 813400 890,200 521929

709,497 51,853 46,784 813,400 1,621,534 1,245518

(c) Interest rate risk (o F=mEM

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Group’s main
exposure to interest rate risk relates principally to the
Group's borrowings and convertible bonds. Borrowing at
variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk whilst borrowings and convertible bond at fixed rate
expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

At 31 December 2022, the Group had revolving loan of
HK$295,000,000 (2021: HK$295,000,000) from a banking
facility at variable rates.

At 31 December 2022, the Group had convertible bonds
of outstanding amount of HK$768,000,000 (2021:
HK$768,000,000). The coupon rate is 2.0% per annum and
payable quarterly. The Group also had loans from Celestial
Pioneer Limited amounting to approximately
HK$296,035,000 (2021: HKSNIl) at fixed interest rates
ranging from 2.5% to 3.0% per annum.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

()

Interest rate risk (Continued)

At 31 December 2022, the Group had time deposits with
bank amounting to approximately HK$16,550,000 (2021:
approximately HK$18,320,000) with original maturities of
90 to 278 days (2021: 61 to 365 days).

Apart from the foregoing, the Group has no other
significant income-generating financial assets or interest-
bearing financial liabilities. The Group's revenue, expenses
and cash flows are substantially independent of changes
in market interest rates.

Effective interest rates analysis

In respect of income-earning financial assets and interest-
bearing financial liabilities, the following table indicates
their effective interest rates at the end of the reporting
period:

5. MBEBEERESMIANDIAEE

(%)

(c)

F) 2= 7 B (40)
NR-ZZE-_—F+-A=+—H KEBEA
H 49165500008 T( —Z F = — F: 4
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Total Effective interest rate
HzE BRI
2022 2021 2022
=== — - & ZEB-_fF
Interest rate risk F) =2 [ s HK$’000 HK$'000 %
TExT FHBT %
Floating rate: TFENFIE
Cash at banks RITIR S 41,232 62,163 0.03 0.00
Interest-bearing borrowings & B E X
— bank loan —RITERK (295,000) (295,000) 2.73 1.74
(253,768) (232,837)
Fixed rate: B FE A= -
Time deposits with banks RITE T 16,550 18,320 2.54 0.10
Interest-bearing HEENR
borrowings — 2R & Celestial
— loans from Celestial Pioneer Limited
Pioneer Limited ZE® (296,035) - 2.89 -
Convertible bonds TR E S
— liability component —BEHS (546,040) (521,929) 7.48 748
(825,525) (503,609)
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Effective interest rates analysis (Continued)

At 31 December 2022, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with
all other variables held constant, would have increased/
decreased the Group's loss before taxation and increased/
decreased the accumulated losses by approximately
HK$2,538,000 (2021: approximately HK$2,328,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s loss before taxation and
accumulated losses that would arise assuming that the
change in interest rates had occurred at the end of the
reporting period. In respect of the exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk arising from floating rate non-derivative
instruments held by the Group at the end of the reporting
period, the impact on the Group's loss before taxation and
accumulated losses is estimated as an annualised impact
on interest expense or income of such a change in interest
rates. The analysis is performed on the same basis as 2021.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
trade and other receivables, financial assets at FVTPL,
restricted bank balances, cash and bank balances, and
trade and other payables that are denominated in a
foreign currency, i.e. currency other than the functional
currency of the operations to which the transactions
relate. The currency giving rise to this risk is primarily
United States dollars.

BEERBEEREMIANQAEE

(%)

(c)

(d)

F) 2= 2 B (40)

ERFIRD T (E)
RIBZ—HF+-A=+—8 " fhatFfl=
EE EFH TR 100 BB RS o AT A B ]
BRERIFITE  BSAEERTATER
EHRHTBRRERAEBE LA THRY
2,538,000/ L ( —ZF = —F : £72,328000/8
JT) °

ERGREINETR  BRAXENRS
HFEEREE BAKEZBRHAEERR
EAERAREERZARETE R AEE
FTis 2 BRIENTE T AR RS HEE B A&
XBRSRENTEARME  AEEZHRB
MEBENRFBEMYEE  DRZEN
REPUFELNEXBHIBAZFEM
it ZE - —F DM MAERELESE -

SN LR
AEEMSIERBREEREBEEERE
YR HABEFABENSRE
B XRBIRITHESR  RE RRITEHR
FEAT & 2 N Al PR RO SN S P ME - B AR
SHAEMARERINEEE ZIMEE
#T - SNEEEMRREZ/ETT
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

(e)

In view that the Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the United
States dollar under the Linked Exchange Rate System in
Hong Kong, management does not expect that there will
be any significant currency risk associated with recognised
assets and liabilities denominated in United States dollar. It
is therefore assumed that the risk of movements in
exchange rates between Hong Kong dollar and United
States dollar would be insignificant. Accordingly, no
sensitivity analysis has been prepared.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk through its investments
and redemption option of long-term convertible bonds
recognised as financial assets at FVTPL. The Group
manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with different risk and return profiles.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2022, if the price of the Group's
investments recognised as financial assets at FVTPL had
been 1% higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, the loss for the year would have decreased/
increased by approximately HK$27,000 (2021:
approximately HK$87,000).

Based on the share price of the Company as at 31
December 2022, if the share price of the Company had
been HKS$0.01 higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, the fair value of the redemption option of long-
term convertible bonds recognised as financial assets at
FVTPL would have increased by approximately
HKS$4,904,000 and decreased by approximately
HK$9,311,000, respectively (2021: decreased by
approximately HK$3,780,000 and HK$21,236,000,
respectively) and the loss for the year would have
decreased by approximately HK$4,904,000 and increased
by approximately HK$9,311,000, respectively (2021:
increased by approximately HK$3,780,000 and
HK$21,236,000, respectively).

BEEBEEREMIANQAEE

(%)

(d) FhEsm B (@)

(e)

ERNEBNBEERGE NETTEXT
i EEEEHS T B EXITAHEDN

REENBBEABENENEAERER
Hit - HAPIFEHDE TR X T REE X2 FH
RBREM - Bt - WEEREFSZED
AT o

ER N
AEBRERRRRANEBE;FABEN
TREENRMAIREEFORELED
EEREMERERRR AEEBBER
AFTRARNEEHFHIREEERE
EABERE -

HBRBED M

RZE-—F+-_A=+—H8 WMEAEHE
EHABBRARNBEMABENEREE
WREZEBREF,TE1%  mTEHEM
BEMEBIE  NFEREEBBRD,EN
#927,000%C(ZZ = —4F : 4987,000/7T) ©

BEBEARARZZE_ZF+=A=+—H
A% E - HADRARE EF 0017
T METEEMEH LTS AEER
BEAREBEFABZONEHEENRD
AR ESNELEZEALBEBES
3 AN4T 4,904,000 78 7T KR A 499,311,000 8 7T
(ZEZ=—%F : D BIF 493,780,000 7T &
212360008 7T) © MEREIEEE D BIE LD
#74,904,000 7% 7T K 3% 0 499,311,000 7T (=
T = — 4 9 Bl H0 493,780,000 T K&
21,236,000787T) °
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(f)

Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders of the Company and benefits for other
stakeholders of the Group, and to support the Group's
stability and growth, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and
shareholders return, taking into consideration the future of
the Group and capital efficiency, prevailing and projected
profitability, projected operating cash flows, projected
capital expenditures and projected strategic investment
opportunities.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or new debt financing. The Group made no
changes to its capital management objectives, policies or
processes during the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021.

The net gearing ratio, measured in terms of the total
interest-bearing borrowings and convertible bonds less
cash and bank balances and restricted bank balances
divided by total deficit/equity, was a negative of
approximately 146% (as divided by total deficit) as at 31
December 2022 (2021: approximately 504% (as divided by
total equity)).

BEERBEEREMIANQAEE

(%)

(f)

EXEHE
AEBHEMMBRENEESREAREE
B EAEELNEZRENRRELRSE
BREKE RS REBBRARRRK
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HEEEH TR o AN E R AR S AR 3
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T+ A=t—HLEFEAR  r&E
ZEXREERR BRIEFUEEE -
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IRITEE R M IR ISR 1T A SRR A KRB 4t HE
HitE) BB 4% (B AEELM) (=8
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(g) Fair values of financial instruments

Financial instruments carried at fair value are measured by

different valuation methods. The inputs to valuation

methods are categorised into three levels within a fair

value hierarchy, as follows:

Level 1:

Level 2:

Level 3:

The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets (such as publicly traded
derivatives, and equity securities) is based on
quoted market prices at the end of the
reporting period. The quoted market price
used for financial assets held by the Group is
the current bid price. These instruments are
included in Level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market (for example,
over-the-counter derivatives) is determined
using valuation techniques which maximise
the use of observable market data and rely as
little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If
all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is
included in Level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the
instrument is included in Level 3.

BEEBEEREMIANQAEE

(9) EMIENAAREE

AR EBEFENERTARATRNMG
B AME - BEFEANBABEBEEAR
BERBRTHRAT=ERH

F—H: HEERTETRXZINERMIA
(BN AREZEMITE T AR
RRF)NAABEDERES
HGEERNMmEHRE - NEHE
RENTREEFERANTSR
BEREMEANE - AIZTAF
AE— -

£ UFEEBRTMESTRXZINT R
TAMPIMSIIMIETR) AR
RAEERBGHERNEE &
MEXTEEEMNAATERED
SRR WEARRDKEER
BERNNMEE - WEFEAR
BEMFOABEERGAEHR
BRBR MZTASAEC

A WE-RARZREZHEARE
WIRERABEROMSRE
AZTAFFAE =M -
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(g) Fair values of financial instruments
(Continued)

The following table presents the Group's assets that are
measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period
on a recurring basis:

BREREEREHTIAN
(#0)

QI NREE

(90 EMITENQAEE @

TREVNAEENREHRAEEEEE
BAREBEFENEE

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—/ ER =R g
HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000
T T T FAETT
At 31 December 2022 i~y - =
+=—A=+—H
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVTPL WRARBEAEBRED
SREE
— Listed debt securities — FhEBKE 2,673 - - 2,673
— Redemption option of — RETBRRKRES 2
long-term convertible LEEIpE e3>
bonds - - 37,408 37,408
2,673 - 37,408 40,081
At 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F
+=-—A=+—
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVTPL &D\/L BETABREN
— Listed debt securities — EEBKES 8,731 - - 8,731
— Redemption option of — REIATRRES 2
long-term convertible FE ORI
bonds - - 87,005 87,005
8,731 - 87,005 95,736

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or
transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group's policy is to
recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy
as at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.

BE_Z-_—_Fh_FT-_—F+-A=1—
RULESFE F-RRE_QZEALEES
MEEAE=LAHEFE=REL - ARED
HREENBLEBRNREMERERERRD
REEERZRANEE -
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(g) Fair values of financial instruments

(Continued)

The following table presents the changes in Level 3
financial instrument for the years ended 31 December

ERREBARBRAA

“ECCFFR

BHEREEREMTANAAEE

(%)

(90 EMITENQAEE @

TREVNE=ZBEHRITANEBEET T _—
FR_E-_—F+_A=+—HBILFEN

2022 and 2021: HE)
2022 2021
—E-—F —E_—4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Redemption option: TEEEERE
At the beginning of the year A 87,005 -
Inception of redemption option of R RHEAAMRESK
long-term convertible bonds FE O] & 1242 - 78,061
Unrealised fair value change recognised in RIS E (FXR), A FEE
non-operating (expenses)/income, net WRAORERANEBEED (49,597) 8,944
At the end of the year RER 37,408 87,005

The following table summarises the quantitative

information about the significant unobservable inputs

used in Level 3 fair value measurements:

Fair value as at

31 December

Rt=RA=

T—-AH

DREE

2022
—E-_CF
HK$'000
TET

Redemption option of long-term 37,408
convertible bonds

RATHRRER RO EE

2021
—E-—F
HKS$'000
TAExT

87,005

TERBAE =M EBEFEMBEKRT
AERHABRHBNELEM

Unobservable Range of unobservable

inputs
FOBR
BANE

Discount rate

BRE

inputs as at
FOBR
BABBEE
2022 2021
—B--FE —FE-—F
HK$000 HK$'000
TER TERL

9.40% 6.88%

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value
FURTEBAYER
ARBENRE

The higher the discount rate,
the lower the fair value of
the redemption option of
long-term convertible bonds

BREME  RETRR
BHNEEREED
AREBEBE
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(Continued)

(g) Fair values of financial instruments
(Continued)

The main Level 3 input used by the Group in measuring
the fair value of financial instrument is derived and
evaluated as follows:

Discount rate was determined with reference to the risk-
free rate, credit spread of comparable bonds and liquidity
spread in the market.

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial instruments
carried at costs or amortised cost were not materially
different from their fair values as at 31 December 2022 and
2021.

REVENUE

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries and consolidated
structured entities of the Company set out in Note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Revenue comprises principally subscription, service and related
fees for television, broadband internet access and telephony
services. It also includes advertising revenue net of agency
deductions, channel service and distribution fees, programme
licensing income, film exhibition and distribution income,
network leasing income, network construction income, mobile
service income, mobile agency service income and other
telecommunications income.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group managed its businesses according to the nature of
services provided. The Group’s CODM, which comprises
executive Directors and management of the Company, has
determined two reportable operating segments for measuring
performance and allocating resources. The segments are media
and telecommunications.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fm e MG RRE
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AEBEFESRTAARBERAAN
EFBF =RHABELEATEMIUS KT
X

BRRSEDS LNEARTE  TA
HEEFNEEEERREES R 2 M

.
iE e

REERK AR HEXATEN SR T A
MEEERER T -_—FR T -—F
T+ A=t HHNARBETESEAKER -
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ARFZEBEBRBARE - ARAEENE
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The media segment includes operations related to the television
subscription business, domestic free television programme
service, advertising, channel carriage, television relay service,
programme licensing, theatrical release and other related
businesses.

The telecommunications segment includes operations related to
broadband internet access services, portal operation, telephony
services, network leasing, network construction, mobile service
and mobile agency service as well as other related businesses.

The CODM evaluates performance primarily based on segment
results before depreciation of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets, amortisation of other intangible assets,
impairment losses on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, programming library, other related intangible assets
and contract acquisition costs, corporate expenses, corporate
depreciation of property, plant and equipment, corporate
impairment losses, interest income, finance costs, non-operating
(expenses)/income, net and income tax, but after amortisation of
programming library and amortisation of contract acquisition
costs. Besides, the CODM also evaluates performance based on
segment results before corporate expenses, corporate
depreciation of property, plant and equipment, corporate
impairment losses, interest income, finance costs, non-operating
(expenses)/income, net and income tax, but after amortisation of
programming library, amortisation of contract acquisition costs,
depreciation of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets and amortisation of other intangible assets.

Inter-segment pricing is generally determined at arm'’s length
basis.

Segment assets principally comprise all assets, deferred tax
assets and assets managed at the corporate office. Segment
liabilities include all liabilities, convertible bonds and interest-
bearing borrowings directly attributable to and managed by
each segment with the exception of current tax liabilities and
liabilities at corporate office.

Besides, the CODM is also provided with segment information
concerning revenue (including inter-segment revenue).
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. EER @
Information regarding the Group's reportable segments as %55::3 ;;E&:F:_?+:H E"'_E',{Jﬁ:
provided to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation igA%ﬁE@%@;%@?ggﬁﬁ?ﬁ?ﬁﬁgﬁ%g%

and assessment of segment performance for the years ended 31

T~
December 2022 and 2021 is set out below:

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=t-HLEE

Media Telecommunications Total
Hee Ei “wE
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—E_-f -—E-—% CZB-_-f —-—ZEZ-—4% CB--& -—T-—&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT TET TR TET TR
Reportable segment revenue FEZII3R .2 5 FIBA 496,472 572,487 398,935 416918 895,407 989,405
Less: Inter-segment revenue R A L N - - (208) (208) (208) (208)
Revenue from external customers REIREP 2B 496,472 572487 398,727 416,710 895,199 989,197
Revenue from contracts with customers: & A 4UA
Timing of revenue recognition: R AR
Ata point in time WE K 18,246 19,69 35,243 46412 53,489 65,681
Over time R—E R 433,297 499,783 363,097 369,892 796,394 869,675
Revenue from other sources: HipRFWA
Rental income E I ON 44,929 53435 387 406 45316 53,841
496,472 572487 398,727 416,710 895,199 989,197
Reportable segment (loss)/profit KNG E  EnEREE
before depreciation, amortisation B ORER B FES
of other intangible assets and ®AWER),/ BT
impairment losses (212,150) (187,864) 135,072 150,982 (77,078) (36,882)
Depreciation neE (105,793) (116,602) (86,997) (88,543) (192,790) (205,145)
Amortisation of other intangible assets  EL4th 8 1/ & = 2k 85 (4,064) (4,040) - - (4,064) (4,040)
Impairment losses MEER (180,257) - (47,147) - (227,404) -
Reportable segment results ANMBOERT  CENER
before corporate expenses, PEREEENZ
corporate depreciation and [E7I|R D HELE
corporate impairment losses (502,264) (308,506) 928 62439 (501,336) (246,067)
Corporate expenses ERY (58,845) (52,715)
Corporate depreciation ENE (14,554) (9.847)
Corporate impairment losses ERERE (13,450) -
Loss from operations IR (588,185) (308,629)
Interest income M EUA 1,111 1177
Finance costs BEEA (55,561) (46,307)
Non-operating (expenses)/income, net 342 (Bi%) /WA B8 (55,456) 1544
Income tax AR (187,627) (11,437)
Loss for the year EREE (885,718) (363,652)
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

2021
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TFET TET
Segment assets PWEE
Media g 373,735 662,928
Telecommunications Fal 379,086 498,568
752,821 1,161,496
Corporate assets EEE 24,529 34,595
Deferred tax assets REFIEE E 102,144 289,501
Total assets HEE 879,494 1,485,592
Segment liabilities PHEE
Media g 913,143 786,459
Telecommunications Fa 692,640 537,681
1,605,783 1,324,140
Corporate liabilities TEAE 13,148 15,282
Current tax liabilities EHHIESE 92 81
Total liabilities we s 1,619,023 1,339,503

Geographical segment:

No geographical segment information is shown as, during the
year presented, less than 10% of the Group's segment revenue,
segment results, segment assets and segment liabilities are
derived from activities conducted outside Hong Kong.

Information about major customer:

Revenue of approximately HK$134,618,000 (2021: approximately
HK$139,813,000) were derived from a single external customer
during the year ended 31 December 2022, of which
approximately HK$132,318,000 (2021: approximately
HKS$137,813,000) and approximately HK$2,300,000 (2021:
approximately HK$2,000,000) were attributed to the
telecommunications segment and the media segment,
respectively.

i3 5 &

MREMZROFEAN - REBRBEFT BN
ETHRBZOBBA - DEEE - DHMEER
DEREDR10% - B ARSI B D EE R -

EHFEEXFNEHR
BE_Z-_—_F+-A=+—HLEFE AL
134,618,000/ 70( = F = —4 : 4139,813,000/87C)

TREE—INREF - HR#9132,318000/87t(=
L~ —4F 1 #9137,813,000787C) & #92,300,000 78 7T
(ZZT——4 : £92,000000787C) D RIEEBNRE

DEB KRR ER
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8. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 8.

Loss before taxation is stated after (crediting)/charging:

FRBLATE R
BBATBRE (LA, B THIE 8 -

2022 2021
—E=-= T

HK$’000 HK$'000

Interest income
Interest income from deposits with banks

FEBA
RITERE EHEBESFHNEWA

FET

TAT

and listed debt securities (1,111) (1,177)
Finance costs RMEEM
— Interest expenses on borrowings —BRNEX T 12,571 5116
— Interest expenses on lease liabilities —HEAENESZH 3,519 5578
— Interest expenses on convertible bonds — ATRRESF M E X 39,471 35613
Staff costs, including Directors’ emoluments ET &M - BIiFEEHM
Salaries, wages and other benefits* e TENREMBER 342,748 369,718
Contributions to defined contribution ERRBFURKR S 2 7R
retirement plans 14,927 16,565
Other items Hig B
Depreciation e
— assets held for use under operating leases — A EHERETRCEE 18,139 22,833
— other assets — HEth&EE 147,893 151,125
— right-of-use assets —EREEE 41,312 41,034
207,344 214,992
Impairment losses** BB E
— Property, plant and equipment — W% - BB &K 138,884 -
— Right-of-use assets —ERAEEE 34,382 -
— Programming library — EAE B 55,924 -
— Other related intangible assets — EfuiERAmE A E 5,138 -
— Contract acquisition costs — B HUBEERAR 6,526 -

240,854
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LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

Amortisation
— programming library***
— other intangible assets
— contract acquisition costs
Net loss allowance/(reversal of loss allowance)
on trade receivables
Carrying amount of inventories consumed
and sold
Write down of inventories
Rental expenses in respect of land and buildings
under short-term leases and low-value leases
not included in lease liabilities
Auditor’s remuneration
— audit services
— non-audit services
Net foreign exchange loss/(gain)
Rental income under operating leases
in respect of
— owned plant and machinery
Non-operating expense/(income), net
— net (gain)/loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
— gain on modification of lease contracts
— loss on redemption of financial assets
at FVTPL (Note 20(b))
— fair value losses/(net fair value gains)
on financial assets at FVTPL (Note 20(b))

EREEBAEBRLA

8. KRFBAIEE @

“ECCFFR

2022 2021
=== —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FAT
— EFETE 48,228 50,684
— HimEEE 4,064 4,040
— B AUEERAR 13,672 16,057
FEU & IR TR B TR BE,
(BEREBRR) F5E 7,087 (3,930)
ERAREEFEZREEAE
7,932 9,140
EASE 1,692 1316
TEIAHEAENEHEER
EEEHEE TN IR
B 9,529 9,227
1% E AN B &
— ZEAR T 2,784 2,560
— JEAEEARTS 1,118 819
SNEESIE,(Uas) F 58 700 (289)
maEERS WA
— BRI R Es (45,316) (53,841)
JELEERY () FEE
— HEME  BERE#E 2
(Wz),/ E1BF5E (96) 136
— BEHEEX 2 (13) (148)
—BREIE AR BE ABED
©EVAE 2 B8 (K7:F 200)) - 70
—EBEARBEFABENSREE
MARBEEBE (AREE
W % 58) (B 7% 20()) 55,655 (1,602)

*x

During the year ended 31 December 2022, subsidies of approximately *

HK$25,010,000 (2021: HKSNil) from the Employment Support Scheme under the
Anti-epidemic Fund set up by the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region were included in salaries, wages and other benefits.

The impairment losses of approximately HK$93,256,000, HKS77,145,000 and
HKS$70,453,000 were included within programming costs, network expenses
and selling, general and administrative and other operating expenses,
respectively, in the consolidated statement of profit or loss of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2022. The aggregate amount of the impairment losses
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2022 were amounted to
approximately HK$S240,854,000, primarily as a result of the Licence Termination
with effect from 1 June 2023, as well as management’s assessment of the
business prospect of the Group in light of the latest market environment.

Amortisation of programming library was included within programming costs
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss of the Group.

*¥

HE-_T-_—F+-A=1+—HIFE  EEEFTE
B FFaR 7 0y EE 2 I8 TRt E 5 BIIE AW BL AT
250100008 (ZFE=—4F : TFIL) Bt A#Hz T
A REMIEF

B 1B ET 18 49 93,256,000 78 T ~ 77,145,000 7T K% 70,453,000
BILAFIRAEFE E —F - —F+ - H=+—HIF
E a4 & 18 m &K A E AR B ZHERK A - #4#E B H R
B M TTBRAMEEER B2 T - —F+4_
H =1 —H1FFEHER R (B 5 18 48 58 4 240,854,000 /5
T FEHRE T =F N —ARKIIEE KR
B JE IR IR 5= 3T 75 IR 55 41 7N 52 [B 2 7 B = AT A

gﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁ@ﬁ%%ﬁ@ﬁéﬁﬁé%Zﬁﬁﬁ RUERA
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INCOME TAX

Hong Kong and other jurisdictions profits tax has been provided
at the rate of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) and at the rates of taxation
prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates

respectively.

(@) Income tax in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss represents:

AEBIHR

BB R FEEE RIS B S RIE 16.5%BLE (=
2= —fF ¢ 16.5%) RAEEEEHEAERE 2

RITHERERE -

(a) FEBBERAZABRBRERSE

2022 2021
—E-_=F —E-—F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET TET
Current income tax EHARRE
Provision for the year FEBHE 270 413
Deferred income taxation* (Note 26(b)) MEAE A BRIE * (15 26(b)) 187,357 11,024
Income tax ANBHIA 187,627 11,437
* During the year ended 31 December 2022, write down of previously recognised ~ * R T —F+A=+—HILFE EERLHIERNE

deferred tax assets of approximately HKS176,318,000 was recognised, primarily
as a result of the Licence Termination with effect from 1 June 2023, as well as
management’s assessment of the business prospect of the Group in the light of

the latest market environment.

(b) Reconciliation between the effective
income tax rate and the applicable tax
rate:

FEFETH B EM IR AT 17631800087 » EEHARE ZF==F X
B — AR IFHERE - U R EIEEBIRIERAT TS RIEH N EE

BHIR a1 o

(b) BMASBRRBEER R 2 AR :

Statutory income tax rate EEABE (16.5) (16.5)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR 2 T NS & 3.3 24
Tax effect of non-taxable income HEZRHRRANTRSTE (0.6) (0.8)
Tax effect of temporary differences RERN R EZENTSBEE

not recognised 3.0 0.1
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised AR 52 B A {3 A T A5 5 1B 49

RS & 12.9 189

Tax effect of previously unrecognised LA R IER IS B BRI R

tax losses now recognised Mg E (0.5) (1.1)
Tax effect of write down of previously S A 2 MR IR R 1R B E MUR Y

recognised deferred tax assets BiETE 25.3 -
Differential tax rate on subsidiaries’ income B ARIMARNREER - 0.2
Effective income tax rate ERABHE 26.9 32
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10. DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS AND INTERESTS 10. EEEANR A=
The following disclosures are made pursuant to section 383(1) of AT FRERBET R BB EFE 62 EFB(RT
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) and Part 2 to 4 1RO % 383(1) 1 R BB EDIE 6226 B R A (]
of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of BEENZIERDROAD 2E DR EIE
Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) are as follows: HanT -
Discretionary
bonuses
and/or
Salaries  Retirement performance
and other scheme related Total
benefits contributions bonuses emoluments
KgAK/
ek BASHE SREEET
we Hith2 R H3K AL 270 Pk
Name of directors HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT THT
2022 it Stk 3
Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry (Chairman, BREL(FE
Non-executive Director) FHTEFE) 60 - - - 60
Tan Sri Dato’ David CHIU (Vice-chairman, AEeEHES
Non-executive Director) (B|EfE  HHTEE) 60 - - - 60
Mr. TSANG On Vip, Patrick (Vice-chairman, BRERE(FER
Executive Director) HITEE) 60 - - - 60
Mr.LIE KEN JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng FEBLE
(Executive Director) (B77£E) 60 - - - 60
Mr. Andrew \Wah Wai CHIU ERERRAE
(Non-executive Director) (FEH7TEE) 60 - - - 60
Mr. HOONG Cheong Thard bikia-dia
(Non-executive Director) (FEHTEE) 60 - - - 60
Ms. NG Yuk Mui Jessica RBxzt
(Non-executive Director) (ESTEE) 60 - - - 60
Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey s LE
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUH#HTEE) 60 - - - 60
Dr. HU Shao Ming Herman TRERE L
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHHTEF) 60 - - - 60
Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger EESLE
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHHNTEE) 80 - - - 80
Mr. TANG Sing Ming Sherman BERLE
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUH#HTEE) 80 - - - 80
700 - - - 700
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10. DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS AND INTERESTS 10. EEEANR A &)

(Continued)

Discretionary
bonuses
and/or
Salaries Retirement  performance
and other scheme related Total
benefits  contributions bonuses  emoluments
& Rike £
ik i FTEIfR 4
Name of directors 1 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THIT THT THT THT
2021: —To—fF:
Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry (Chairman, BSR4l
Non-executive Director) (note (i) (£ HHTEE) (ML) 60 - - - 60
Tan Sri Dato’ David CHIU (Vice-chairman, B EMES
Non-executive Director) (note (i) (81L& - FHTEE) (W) 60 - - - 60
Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick (Vice-chairman, DRELE(FFE HITEE)
Executive Director) (note (i) & (i) (B it (i) % (i) 60 - - - 60
Mr.LIE KEN JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng FEBLE
(Executive Director) (note (i) (B77EE) (B3 i) 60 - - - 60
Mr. Andrew \Wah Wai CHIU R T
(Non-executive Director) (note (iv) (HH77EF) (K7t W) 60 - - - 60
Mr. HOONG Cheong Thard s E
(Non-executive Director) (FEHTEE) 60 - - - 60
Ms. NG Yuk Mui Jessica RBxzt
(Non-executive Director) (FFHTEE) 60 - - - 60
Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey s EE
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHHTEE) 60 - - - 60
Dr. HU Shao Ming Herman HEAELT
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUH#HiTEE) 60 - - - 60
Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger EESTE
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHRITEE) 80 - - - 80
Mr. TANG Sing Ming Sherman BERLE
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUIHITEE) 80 - - - 80
700 - - - 700
Notes: Bt -
(i) Tan Sri Dato’ David Chiu has been re-designated from the Chairman to a Vice- 0} ATESEBESC BT EHATBELE  BaE+

chairman, and Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry has been re-designated from the

Vice-chairman to the Chairman, with effect from 30 November 2021.

(ii) Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick has been appointed as a Vice-chairman with effect

from 30 November 2021.

(iii) Each of Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick and Mr. Lie Ken Jie Remy Anthony Ket Heng

has been re-designated from a non-executive Director to an executive Director

with effect from 30 November 2021.

(iv) Mr. Andrew Wah Wai Chiu has been re-designated from an executive Director

to a non-executive Director with effect from 30 November 2021.

RlGBIEFEHAERLE B-F-_—F+—HA=+HE
R

(ii) BRI RZERREE B-F-—F+—HA=+
HEAER

(i) — BREELERFHELLEEEHFHTEFFERNT
BEF goF - Ff—A=1HAELENK-

(v) EBEBFELCHPTEFAESIHNGTEE B-F
Z—F A= HEEY -
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10. DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS AND INTERESTS 10. EEEANR A &)

(Continued)

There was no compensation for loss of office and/or inducement
for joining the Group paid/payable to the directors of the
Company in respect of the years ended 31 December 2022 and
31 December 2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no retirement
benefits, payments or benefits in respect of termination of
directors’ services were paid or made, directly or indirectly, to the
directors; nor are any payable (2021: HKS$Nil). No consideration
was provided to or receivable by third parties for making
available directors’ services (2021: HKSNil). There are no loans,
quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of the directors, their
controlled bodies corporate and connected entities (2021:
None).

Save as disclosed in Note 30, during the years and at the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no Director had or has a
material interest, directly or indirectly, in any significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the
Company's business to which the Company was or is a party.

HE-_EZ-_—_F+-_A=+—-BR-_ZT=-—
+-A=t+—BIEFEIECN TEABEEEE
M/ RRENMAEBABFETARGNES -

HE-_T-—F+-_A=+—HILFE  #HE®
RIFEERBEZEREZERES I IRERK
B FREFaE: TEFAENRE(ZE
T F B WMEAEERUEREMAE
SHYNEENRE(ZE—F : ) o i
BUEE IREEFLVNEABRELREESR

BAXZANER  BUEFHEMARS(ZF
T—F 4E) e

BRISE30FMIEE  RAFERBE-ZS K
ZE I FF+ZA=+—HLFE BEEFEEHE
EMEREARBEFEBEEARR L ARE
AASERNEIMNEARS THERAHTHS
BAER o
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11. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS  11. R H AT RSHAEEEMS
AND EMOLUMENTS OF SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
(@) Five highest paid individuals (a) ANBEHFAT
The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the five BRAN(ZE-—F: Af) &eHATL
(2021: five) individuals with the highest emoluments are as B¢ EsEmT -
follows:

2022 2021
—E-_— —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TET
Salaries and other benefits Ha M EMERL 10,536 9,255
Retirement scheme contributions RIS ETEIHE R 460 335
Discretionary bonuses and/or performance BB TEAL N SIR EBEE T
related bonuses ZAEEL - -
Share options AR - -
10,996 9,590
The emoluments of the five (2021: five) individuals with A (ZE-—F: Al ZeFALZH
the highest emoluments are within the following bands: SR
2022 2021
—E-= —E_—4F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A AEL
1,500,001-2,000,000 1,500,001-2,000,000 3 4
2,000,001-2,500,000 2,000,001-2,500,000 1 1
2,500,001-3,000,000 2,500,001-3,000,000 - -
3,000,001-3,500,000 3,000,001-3,500,000 - -
3,500,001-4,000,000 3,500,001-4,000,000 1 -
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11. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
AND EMOLUMENTS OF SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Emoluments of senior management

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the emoluments
of the senior management of the Group, whose
biographical details are set out in the “Biographical Details
of Directors and Senior Management” section of this
annual report, were within following bands:

11.

BEEFATEREREEEME @

(b) BREEEMS

BE T+ -_A=+—HIFE "
AEBRSREEE (FEZBREFBIHNA
FRIZEERSREBEZ2EN] —F) 2

FEARRIAT -

“ECCFFR

Nil-1,000,000

1,000,001-1,500,000
1,500,001-2,000,000
2,000,001-2,500,000
2,500,001-3,000,000
3,000,001-3,500,000
3,500,001-4,000,000

0-1,000,000

1,000,001-1,500,000
1,500,001-2,000,000
2,000,001-2,500,000
2,500,001-3,000,000
3,000,001-3,500,000
3,500,001-4,000,000

2022 2021
—E=-=

—E-—F
Number of
individuals

Number of
individuals

A

12. LOSS PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

12. BREE

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of
approximately HK$885,718,000 (2021: approximately
HK$363,652,000) and the weighted average number of
7,134,623,520 ordinary shares of the Company (2021:
approximately 7,134,623,520 shares) in issue during the
year.

Diluted loss per share

The diluted loss per share for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021 equals to the basic loss per
share since the exercise of the outstanding share options
of the Company (the “Share Options”) granted under the
share option scheme of the Company adopted on 24 May
2018 (the “Share Option Scheme”) and conversion rights
attached to the unlisted long-term convertible bonds
would not have a dilutive effect on the loss per share.

a) BREXEE

FRENEETREAR D ARSI R EA
8518 498857180008 (=T = —F : 4
363,652,000/870) R FAR ARG D EHTER
% 2 AN HE 19 807,134,623,5200 8 (T — —

1 #971346235200%) 5T E o

(b) BREFER

HE_T-—_FR-ZZTE-_—F+ZA=+—
HItFEMNERE S8 ETREAKREIER
£ ARITERBEARGTRZE—NF
F A=+ H TR IR T ) ([ B AR AE AT
1)) iR 2 AR R ARITE AR ([ BB
W) RIE LT R RIRESFTHT 2 H R

TeHghERES EEYE -
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. Y% - BWERZRE

Leasehold land
and building in

Network assets Furniture, Hong Kongand
and television fixtures, other The People’s
production equipmentand Republic Leasehold
systems  motor vehicles of China  improvements

EBER

HEARLA

RREER HAE KB ZHELH
ERAEZR HMREBERAE kgF HENERE ag
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR Tt Tibit T Tt

Cost A
At T January 2021 R-E-—%—F—H 6,223,641 658,597 29,795 278241 7,190,274
Additions R 100490 12583 - 6,063 119,736
Disposals HE (15591) (10960) - - (26,551)
Exchange differences EHEH - 547 921 269 1737
At31 December 2021 RZEZ—F+ZA=1—H 6,308,540 660,767 30,716 285,173 7,285,19
Cost AR

At 1 January 2022 R-E-—%—F—H 6,308,540 660,767 30,716 285,173 7,285,196
Additions ®£R 93,760 13,111 - 6,703 113,574
Disposals HE (17,092) (2,297) - (3) (19,392)
Exchange differences ERZES - (1,670) (2,802) (818) (5,290)
At 31 December 2022 RZBE-—%+-A=1+-H 6,385,208 669,911 27914 291,055 7,374,088
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

13. %  BEEKRE @

Leasehold land

and building in
Network assets Furniture, Hong Kongand
and television fixtures, other The People’s
production  equipment and Republic Leasehold
systems  motor vehicles of China  improvements
ERER
FEARLA
BEEER HE %E. ZHEELTH
ERVEAR HRERSE kEF HEWERE ag
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT AT THT TAT AT
Accumulated depreciation ~ Z:HTE
At 1 January 2021 RZE-—%—F—H 5576383 634,581 15,720 259,286 6,485970
Charge for the year AEER 156,136 8904 1148 7,770 173,958
Written back on disposals HEREE (15,240) (10959) - - (26,199)
Exchange differences ERES - 547 516 264 1327
At 31 December 2021 RZE-_—%+-A=t-H 5717279 633073 17,384 267320 6,635,056
Accumulated depreciation and 23 HTERBEFE
impairment losses
At 1 January 2022 i R = 5,717,279 633,073 17,384 267,320 6,635,056
Charge for the year KEER 142,431 10,212 1,117 12,272 166,032
Impairment losses HEER 103,591 23,984 1,729 9,580 138,884
Written back on disposals HERRED (16,979) (2,297) - (3) (19,279)
Exchange differences ERES - (1,666) (1,699) (807) (4172)
At 31 December 2022 RZE--F+-fF=+-H 5,946,322 663,306 18,531 288,362 6,916,521
Net book value REFE
At 31 December 2022 RZE-__#+-A=t-H 438,886 6,605 9,383 2,693 457,567
At 31 December 2021 RZE_—%+-A=t-H 591,061 27,694 13332 17853 650,140

As at 31 December 2022, the net book value of plant and
equipment of the Group held for use in operating leases were

approximately HK$21,214,000 (2021:

HK$34,902,000).

approximately

RZE-_—F+-A=+—H AEBEFHEERAR
R HE BB Mk B BRTF (B 421,214,000 78
— 4 1 #934,902,000787T) °

T(ZEZ
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

In view of the rapidly changing media landscape in Hong Kong
and fierce competition among the global paid TV content
providers and pay TV operators, the Group obtained approval
from the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region on 14 February 2023 for the termination of the domestic
pay television programme service licence with effect from 1 June
2023. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the revenue
generated from the Pay TV business (the “Pay TV Revenue”)
contributed over one-third of the revenue of the Group. Due to
the future reduction of the Pay TV Revenue as well as
management’s assessment of the business prospect of the
Group in light of the latest market environment, impairment
losses in relation to a group of assets of Pay TV business and
certain assets of the remaining business were recognised.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, impairment losses of
property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$40,726,000
and programming library of approximately HK$16,484,000 were
recognised in relation to a group of assets of the Pay TV business.
The estimated recoverable amount of this group of assets was nil
value, since the estimated cash inflows from the Pay TV business
is lower than the estimated cash outflows of the Pay TV business
from 1 January 2023 to the effective date of the Licence
Termination.

Moreover, impairment losses of property, plant and equipment
of approximately HK$98,158,000, right-of-use assets of
approximately HK$34,382,000, programming library of
approximately HK$39,440,000 and other related intangible assets
of approximately HK$5,138,000, were recognised in relation to
the cash-generating unit to which the remaining assets of the
Group are allocated. The estimated recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit was its value in use, which was equal to the
carrying amount of these assets after the impairment as at 31
December 2022. Management determined the value in use of
the cash-generating unit with the assistance of an independent
professional valuer, which is measured using the discounted
cash flow projections. The cash flow projections are based on
financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by the
Board. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated
using a long term growth rate. The valuation method used was
consistent with the requirements prescribed by HKAS 36
“Impairment of Assets” and remained the same as that of last
year.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fm e MG RRE

Y - BB KRR )

%F%%ﬁhm%%%%L&“ mﬁ%%*
NEHER RREERLERHF sl - N
SEER-_T_=F_ H+EE% %%%ﬂﬂ
BERFIAES T - =FNA —BRK I
WEERHEARGER BE_FT_—F+_H
=+ ALEFE  REEREHELE WS (TR
BERWEG NEASESEBBE=22— AR

*X%%*ﬁ% DR AR EE B RIE & TS
REHAKEXHESONE  CHIAKEESR
XN —MHEEMBR ITEBNE TEEZ AR

BERE -

HE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HILFE BEREK
BERESH —HEERRYE BB MEER
1B 518 #740,726,00078 7T LA N 18 AR &6 B BB B 18
#916,484,000 87T © % B EMARIMGFT UL E & 5
MEBEAT  HERE-_Z-_=ZF—A—HEZE
RIFHRRAR A EIEEIR - B ERERAEET
RERABERNKBEEREFHETRESRL -

oh  EMAEBEB T EEENNRSELE
UHERME - BE REFEREBER 981580008
T F A R E R 1B 4 34,382,00078 7T © 1B
”Eﬁﬁ%%mwam%ﬁ&ﬁ@m%ﬁ%
AEREEEA51380008 T R T - —4F
+-—A=+—H8 ZREeELEE ummﬁT%@
SHAEFHER HERZSEERBEENE
HE - EREABYEXGHENNH TETR
SEABNNFEREE  HEAMRRESRERE
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13.

14.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

The key assumptions used in the cash flow projections included
forecast revenue at growth rates ranging from -25% to 18%
(2021: 9% to 14%) and forecast operating costs at rates ranging
from -13% to -2% (2021: -3% to 10%) over the five-year period,
which are determined by considering both internal and external
factors relating to the businesses; long term growth rate of 2.5%
(2021: 2.5%) which is consistent with the forecast of the
businesses and the expected market development; and the pre-
tax discount rate of 17.44% (2021: 14.55%) which reflects specific
risks relating to the businesses. Changes in assumptions from
previous year's reflected management’s latest business plans
and business prospect in light of the latest market environment.

LEASES

This note provides information for leases where the Group is a
lessee.

(@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows

the following amounts relating to leases:

13.

14.

ME - BMERRE @

ReRnsBARFROEERBBERAFHER
HIRERNF 20505 18%( —F = —F: 9% %
14%) 51 & B TE R e MR L BN F-13%FE -2%( =
T —F 3%E10%)FFEMTRRELKAE - T)
FREFEHREFEENANTIRINBAREE : K
B R R 250 (=T = —4F @ 25%) » HEKTEE
LIEHTISEE — B0 LA RBRTIATAAIR 2K 17.44%
(ZEZ—F 1 1455%) - ERBEZEKEBENE
TR -8 EF—FEHEL  BROZHRUERE
BRESFTISRIESEN SN EBTE RER

RIS °

HE
ARERGAREERRBANEELR -

(a) RGEUBRAREINEHE

REMBRAKR2IATRHEERBNE
L

2022 2021
—ZE__ —E-—F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET F&TT
Right-of-use assets EREEE
Properties LIES 9,655 74,231
Lease liabilities HESE
Current E 37,258 38,930
Non-current IERH 7,820 36,192
Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year ended HE_Z-—_F+-_A=+—RHILFE"

31 December 2022 were approximately HK$11,654,000
(2021: approximately HK$5,669,000).

ENE RS EX 116540008 T(—F=—
1 49566900078 7T) °
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14. LEASES (Continued) 14. HE @)
(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (b) RGEEBRXRERNEEH

statement of profit or loss

The consolidated statement of profit or loss shows the

following amounts relating to lease:

FAERKREINATEESERNSHE -

2022 2021
—E-—F B —4F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FBTT
Depreciation charge of ERAEEERE
right-of-use assets 53
Properties L ES 8 41,312 41,034
Impairment losses on right-of-use FREEED
assets RIEBE 8 34,382 -
Interest expense FE
(included in finance costs) GrABEZR) 8 3,519 5578
Expense relating to short-term leases 8242 HAFA & /& 2 fi % 8 9,100 80617
Expense relating to leases of low-value 3t K71 %8 ERFH & B B2
assets that are not shown above REBEEEHERM
as short-term leases 53 8 429 610

The total cash outflows for leases in 2022 was
approximately HK$54,156,000 (2021: approximately
HKS$52,181,000).

The Group leases a number of premises under operating
leases mainly for use as office premises, car parks and
warehouses. The terms of the leases vary and may be
renewable on a monthly basis or run for an initial period of
2 to 15 years (2021: 2 to 15 years), and certain leases have
an option for a 3-year term, to renew the lease after that
date at which time all terms are renegotiated. Lease
payments are usually adjusted every 2 to 3 years to reflect
market rentals. None of the leases includes contingent
rentals.

RZE-_—F HENRESTHBEEY
54,156,0008 7T ( —Z & = — 4 : 4952,181,00078
JC) °

rEBUKEREFABEETHE £
THRIENRAEYE FEEREE - L
1ERETHEE - AR AEMSVIIRER A2
EISF(ZE—F:2F815F) MET
MBHBE—EAHIFMRER  AIEZAR
BH ENERREENER- - BEN
R—BEF2E3FHAB N URBTISHE
o WERNTEERAES -
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14. LEASES (Continued)

(c) The Group’s leasing activities and how

they are accounted for

(i) Extension and termination options

Extension and termination options are included in a
number of property leases across the Group. These
terms are used to maximise operational flexibility in
terms of managing contracts. Approximately 73%
(2021: approximately 76%) of the total lease
payments made in 2022 were optional.

In determining the lease term, management
considers all facts and circumstances that create an
economic incentive to exercise an extension option,
or not exercise a termination option. Extension
options (or periods after termination options) are
only included in the lease term if the lease is
reasonably certain to be extended (or not
terminated). Potential future cash outflows of
approximately HK$62,070,000 (2021: approximately
HK$62,070,000) have not been included in the lease
liability because it is not reasonably certain that the
leases will be extended (or not terminated).

The assessment is reviewed if a significant event or
a significant change in circumstances occurs which
affects this assessment and that is within the control
of the lessee. During the year ended 31 December
2021, the financial effect of revising lease terms to
reflect the effect of exercising termination option
was a decrease in recognised lease liabilities and
right-of-use assets of approximately HK$2,696,000
and HKS$2,548,000, and there was no such event in

the year ended 31 December 2022.

14. HE (&)

(0 AEENHAEFHRAEIEKRLN

(i) ERRAILEERE
AEBNZOMERNBEERRE
1FEEE - ZEBRAEEZAREL
REEEANBGRNEEEEE - »
R - FEROEENRBRETY
73%(ZFE=—F : §376%) B iRE
HE -

RETHEHRRE EREgZRE
ETFRERIEER N TTHERIERE
R ESEEEOEEERE
Mo EREABEETERERO(HTR
LERA) T FetrEER (SR
IHEREREENEME) T ARER - A
REZAEBBRERNBE FER (A
W) - FHIE%) 620700008 T (=%
——4F : #962,070,0007 7T ) BB K
FHRSRLARBAARESE -

MEEAEZEZTHNEREFHEKXR
BERES - BB EEEAREAE
SlEE R - Al HZA EEE R -
HE_ZT-—4F+-HA=1+—HIHF
& BRI HEKRRARBITHER LR
ERNZENTBTE  BREERA
EBBELFARBREESAIRADH
2,696,000/ 7T M #92,548,0007% 7T ©
HE_ZT-_F+-HA=1+—HIHF
ENWMZEIR ©
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14. LEASES (Continued)

(c) The Group’s leasing activities and how
they are accounted for (Continued)

The Group leases out decoders to subscribers under
operating leases which are renewable on a monthly basis.
None of the leases includes contingent rentals.

The management of the Group undertook a review of
right-of-use assets to assess the respective recoverability.
As a result of the assessment, impairment losses of
approximately HK$34,382,000 were recognised during the
year (2021: HKSNil). For details of the impairment, please
refer to Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements
in this annual report.

14. HE (&)

()

FEENEEEHREIKAR
()

AEENGERELRBRATES - 1t
SEERATATH YT REAAES -

AEBEEEHFERRAELETEMN U
FES AT E Y - EFHE  FRE
R EE 18 4934,382,00008 L (Z T = — 4 ¢
THIL) - BRREFS  F2HAFRE
B BRERMEI3 -
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15. PROGRAMMING LIBRARY 15. fEAER
2022 2021
—EgE=-= —E_—4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&xT FHT
Cost R
At 1 January »w—HA—H 526,981 620,854
Additions B 47,236 47,787
Written off T (92,538) (141,660)
At 31 December R+-_A=+—H 481,679 526,981
Accumulated amortisation and Rt BERBEEE
impairment losses
At 1 January mn—H—H 458,990 549,966
Charge for the year REFZHE 48,228 50,684
Impairment losses WIEEE 55,924 -
Written off b6 (92,538) (141,660)
At 31 December R+—A=+—H 470,604 458,990
Net book value REFE
At 31 December R+=-—A=+—H 11,075 67,991
The management of the Group undertook a review of its AEEEEERBAEERSE  UIHESEZ
programming library to assess the respective recoverability. As a AT EIFREE - &R E 1% - FRAERREBIED
result of the assessment, impairment losses of approximately 559240008 L (ZE=—F : T¥IL) - BEREAE
HK$55,924,000 were recognised during the year (2021: HK$Nil). 15 BRHAFERESMISHRERWE 13 -

For details of the impairment, please refer to Note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. HtE\FEE
Computer
software Website
Club development development
debentures costs costs Total
B i
wEE MREMH BRE M Fob ol
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$ 000
FHET FHIT FHET FHET
Cost B
At 1 January 2021 RZZE-_—F—H—H 1,218 20,152 - 21,370
Additions TR - - 166 166
At 31 December 2021 N_E-_—F+-A=+—H 1218 20,152 166 21,536
Cost A
At 1 January 2022 and at RN-Z-_—F—A—-BRK
31 December 2022 N_EBE -
+=-A=+—8H 1,218 20,152 166 21,536
Accumulated amortisation ESE 1
At 1 January 2021 NZE-_—F—A—H - 5633 - 5633
Charge for the year REFEEHE - 4,030 10 4,040
At 31 December 2021 RZZE-_—F+-A=+—H - 9,663 10 9673
Accumulated amortisation R BHERBESR
and impairment losses
At 1 January 2022 W-ZE-—F—H—H - 9,663 10 9,673
Charge for the year REEZHR - 4,031 33 4,064
Impairment losses BEEE - 5,042 96 5,138
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+-A=+—H - 18,736 139 18,875
Net book value IREFE
At 31 December 2022 RZBE-_—_F+=-A=1+—8 1,218 1,416 27 2,661

At 31 December 2021 NZEBE-_—F+=-A=+—H 1218 10,489 156 11,863
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16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(0

(i)

The useful lives of the club debentures are indefinite.
Accordingly, no amortisation was charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss of the Group
during the current and prior years. The Group completed
its annual impairment test for the club debentures by
comparing the fair values less costs of disposal of the club
debentures to their carrying amounts as at the end of the
reporting period. No impairment loss was recognised
during the year (2021: HKSNIl).

The Group's computer software development costs and
website development costs are amortised using the
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives of 5
years. The management of the Group undertook a review
of its computer software development costs and website
development costs to assess the respective recoverability.
As a result of the assessment, impairment losses of
approximately HKS$5,138,000 were recognised during the
year (2021: HKSNil). For details of the impairment, please
refer to Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements
in this annual report.

17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(@) The following list contains only the particulars of the
Company’s principal subsidiaries and consolidated
structured entities.

17.

. HEEEE @)
i

SHEVERS - Al RAFERBEF
EARRGEBRR AL ETIREN - @
BERERRZ AN BEERLESHE 2K
AEFEZREEMRELL  AEBERE
SHEFERENR FRLEERRES
B(ZZEZ—F :T%) -

()

(i) AEBE EREHEHREERREUMEER
AHRAESRER S FErTEARNEE - X
SEEREEHATKERHRAEER AR
FEERETEN UFEZ2AaHNTRE
Mo ETHB FARRREBBEY
51380008 (ZF=—F : TFL) - BH
BEFE  BR2HEAFTREEMBHRENW
FE13 e

RTBR T ZRE
(@) TRERAAAALEMBLAARGEE
MRS -

Place of
incorporation/ Particular of issued Proportion of
Name of company operation Principal activities capital all fully paid ownership
&L
NCIEE e TEXK ERTRZEMERAK BAEERLH
Directly Indirectly
HE &
Fantastic Television Hong Kong Free television broadcasting HK$10,000 divided into 14.9% -
Limited ("FTL")** 9,999 ordinary shares and
1 non-voting preference share
AP ERERAA 30 REERER 10,0008 7T9 &
([&FYER]) 9,999 P 3 A K2
1 RERFEELR
HOY TV Limited** Hong Kong Advertising services and HKS1 divided into - 14.9%
(formerly known as HK Open programme production 1 ordinary share
TV Company Limited) and acquisition
HOY TV Limited** 30 &5 AR A B B BE R 1BTA R IREBR
(RITEBERRERERRR) R
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17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 17.

(@) The following list contains only the particulars of the
Company’s principal subsidiaries and consolidated

RHB AT 2RE @)
(@) THEEHAALAATIESHBATIREA L
BHEEIE - (8)

structured entities. (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/ Particular of issued Proportion of
Name of company operation Principal activities capital all fully paid ownership
AL
ACIECT RE T TEEHK ERTR2EBERE BEERLH
Directly Indirectly
E#E CiE:3
Hong Kong Cable News Express Hong Kong Advertising services HK$20 divided into - 100%
Limited 2 ordinary shares
ERRGHEREERLR &A BER% 08TTA 2R E R
Hong Kong Cable Television ~ Hong Kong Television and broadband HK$750,000,000 - 100%
Limited ("HKC") internet access divided into 750,000,000
ordinary shares
BRABRERARNAT B BERRFE L BRE 750,000,000 BT A &
([BHRER]) 750,000,000 #% & B A%
Hong Kong International Hong Kong Advertising services and HKS1 divided into - 14.9%
Business Channel Limited programme production 1 ordinary share
("HKIBCL")** and acquisition
Hong Kong International 7k SRS A KB B BE R 1B A1 IR
Business Channel Limited R
(THKIBCL]) **
Hong Kong OTT Company Hong Kong Content provision and HKS1 divided into - 100%
Limited programme production 1 ordinary share
Hong Kong OTT Company 7E WA K80 B B 1B A1 IRE R
Limited
i-CABLE Entertainment Limited  Hong Kong Programme production HK$10,000,000 divided into - 100%
and channel operation 10,000,000 ordinary shares
BRABREAR AT BB #ERERIRBRE 10,000,000 &5 &
10,000,000 F & 8 A
i-CABLE Finance Media Limited Hong Kong Content provision, HKS1 divided into - 100%
programme production 1 ordinary share
and channel operation
AR ERRARAR 0 VBT R REBR

AR - BB BUERIRE
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17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 17.

(@) The following list contains only the particulars of the
Company’s principal subsidiaries and consolidated

RHB AT 2RE @)
(@) THEEHAALAATIESHBATIREA L
BHEEIE - (8)

structured entities. (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/ Particular of issued Proportion of
Name of company operation Principal activities capital all fully paid ownership
ML
NCIEY RE T TEEHK EERTRZ2EHERAK BEERLH
Directly Indirectly
HiE CiE:3
i-CABLE Network Limited Hong Kong Network operation HKS$102 divided into - 100%
100 ordinary shares and
2 non-voting deferred shares
BRRARRERAR BE wreE 102B7TD A100R L BR K
URERFERTR
i-CABLE Network Operations ~ Hong Kong Network operation HK$500,000 divided into - 100%
Limited 500,000 ordinary shares
i-CABLE Network Operations &5 e 500,000 7T B
Limited 500,000 & A%
i-CABLE News Limited Hong Kong Programme production HK$10,000,000 divided into - 100%
and channel operation 10,000,000 ordinary shares
BRABHEARAT BB fiEBERIRBRE 10000000875 &
10,000,000 & & 38 %
i-CABLE Sports Limited Hong Kong Programme production HK$10,000,000 divided into - 100%
and channel operation 10,000,000 ordinary shares
BEERBEERRAA BB 5B RHERIRBEE 10,000,000 875 &
10,000,000 & 8 A
i-CABLE Telecom Limited Hong Kong Mobile service, mobile HKS1 divided into - 100%
agency service and 1 ordinary share
telephony
AREHEAFRAA 0 REBBARS - RBE: VBT R REBR
REBBREEED
i-CAN Digital Solutions Limited  Hong Kong Technology services HKS1 divided into - 100%
1 ordinary share
-CAN Digital Solutions Limited ~ &% ioAR™ 1B BT REER
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17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 17.

(@) The following list contains only the particulars of the

Company’s principal subsidiaries and consolidated
structured entities. (Continued)

Name of company

DRER

i-DATA Company Limited

i-DATA Company Limited

International Distribution
Limited ("IDL")**

EREREITARAR
([BBERET)) >

Sundream Motion Pictures
Limited ("SMPL")**

BHEZARNE
([BHEF])

The Force Production Company
Limited
ROEHERR AT

&N T R RS AR5
BRRA

&N T S AR AR 5
BRRA

Place of
incorporation/
operation

AL,
il

Hong Kong

B0

Hong Kong

B

Hong Kong

B

Hong Kong

BR

The People’s
Republic
of China

REAR
H#AE

Principal activities

TEEK

Technology services

B R

Programme licensing and
distribution

5 B Rt R 3

Film production, distribution
and licensing

BYAE  DHRISHE

Content provision and
programme production

RAE R RIE

Technical services

Rk

RHB AT 2RE @)
(@) THEEHAALAATIESHBATIREA L

BIEEEHE - (8)

Particular of issued
capital all fully paid

ERTREHARRE

HKS1 divided into
1 ordinary share

1BTDR1 RS R

HK$2 divided into
2 ordinary shares

2B B2 B

HK$300,000,000 divided into
300,000,000 ordinary shares
300,000,000 755 &
300,000,000 % & i A%

HKS1 divided into
1 ordinary share

BTSRRI IRERK

HK$34,600,000

34,600,000 78 7T

Proportion of
ownership

BERRESLH

Directly
B

Indirectly
CiE:3

100%

14.9%

14.9%

100%

100%
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17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(a)

The following list contains only the particulars of the
Company’s principal subsidiaries and consolidated
structured entities. (Continued)

* This entity is registered as a wholly foreign owned enterprise under the
People’s Republic of China law and is not audited by PwC.

** The Company holds 1 non-voting preference share and 1,489 class "A”
ordinary shares of FTL, which wholly owns the equity interests in IDL,
SMPL, HOY TV Limited and HKIBCL, while the remaining 4,255 class “B”
ordinary shares of FTL and 4,255 class “C" ordinary shares of FTL are
held by two independent trustees respectively. The entities are
consolidated by the Group in accordance with HKFRSs and the
principal accounting policies adopted by the Group as disclosed in
Note 3, as the Group is exposed to and has the rights to variable returns
from its involvement with the entities and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity, including, but not limited to:
(i) the Company’s nominated directors to the board of FTL pursuant to
the right attached to the class “A” ordinary shares of FTL held by the
Company provided in the articles of association of FTL, (ii) the
requirement of the presence of the Company as a quorum in any
general meeting of FTL; and (iii) veto rights over certain matters
attached to class "A” ordinary shares requiring the prior approval of all
holders thereof of FTL such as, the modification of any of the rights
attached to any of the shares of FTL, alteration to the articles of
association of FTL and the nature of the business of FTL,
commencement of new business or activity by FTL, or making of any
capital commitment by FTL. The Company, being the only preference
shareholder, is entitled to receive the first HKS1 billion profits generated
in any financial year and the ordinary shareholders of FTL shall be
entitled to receive any surplus dividends exceeding such amount of the
same financial year on a pro rata basis. For the year ended 31
December 2022, no non-controlling interests is recognised as
distributable profits of FTL did not surpass the threshold for the other

shareholders.

None of the Company’s subsidiaries or consolidated
structured entities had issued any debt securities at the
end of the year or during the year.

The above table lists the Company’s subsidiaries and
consolidated structured entities which, in the opinion of
the Directors, principally affected the results of the year or
formed a material portion of assets or liabilities of the
Group.

17. RMB R B 2RE (@)
(@) THREHEALATNIEWBATRES L
WUEEEE - (8)

*

ZRBIRIEHEARHAFIBERE LM B B
Bibz - WHhELHAEFE

KRAFE 1 IRERZEEFLIRR 1489RFYE
R(AE2EHBEEEERET - BEER - HOY
TV Limited X HKIBCL) 38 [AJ] B& + Hr 42558
YWEEEE[B] R X455 FY ERLZHEC)
R A B 7B T (5 5EA 2 BB o sl 2001 5 3 A7
WE A ERAANEBIRIE( BB EREE
Al ) R 2K 5 B AT IR AN F E & TR TIARE - U
T3 R B 1522 B R% B RS T R HE AT E1 3R Y
BB Z B A E EIRE T - WiBBRZE R
BN MBRENFEZZRT - 61 (BTER) :
() FY ERERMAIANGTE - ARAIIRIERE IS
WY ER [A] BB EBRIZEFIEEEFE
FYEREFS () AR Al EFY ERFMR
RASHWHEAIZTEABBGHT  Ri)FEZE
HEBANFLMENTY ER [A] FEBRATLE
BT FHEBEHRE  WHERFAFYERRGH
RET AT - (X FY ERERMAIRGTYE
REBNE  FYERBENER X ZE) A
YWERIEL T ELFIE o KL AJ(ERM—EE
R - 1R (o] B B FE A E R B
1,000,000,000% 7T F B + i1 & ¥ E1E 69 AR AR
G EREIZL BN ER [F]— BB F 8 1 3% % RE Y
(A ZEIRE - AR FY BRI S EFIEREE
S F A=t —HIFEANTHEBAER
AR R ATER AP - B N5 BR A MR IR

g2 -

RERKFR  ARAHNHBRARES
HRUEEEMERTTMERRES

EERR - ERIITHARFHER A
FARBUERBHEEXGEATER

N

&
B2 488 az

i3

BRASEEERBENEEL D
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18. INVENTORIES 18. 7&
2022 2021
—E-—F —E -4
HK$’000 HKS'000
FHBxT T
Spare parts and consumables for HEEREENTHER
repair and maintenance SRS 6,473 6,863
19. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT 19. EREXRRRSHVEE
ASSETS
2022 2021
—=E=-= T4
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET THTT
Trade receivables JEUR & HE AR R 107,711 98,806
Less: loss allowance (Note 19(b)) B BRI (AR 190)) (24,289) (17,328)
83,422 81,478
Contract assets BREE 22,797 26,553
106,219 108,031
(@ An ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of loss @ BHREEERERGOIREBERER) KRR
allowance), based on the invoice date is set out as follows: BEASWMHEHNT

2022 2021

—E=-= —E_—F

HK$’000 HKS'000

TFET THET

0to 30 days 0% 30H 47,462 42313
31 to 60 days 312 60H 11,332 12,963
61 to 90 days 61290 H 6,766 9,639
Over 90 days i@ o0 H 17,862 16,563
83,422 81,478

The Group's credit policy is set out in Note 5(a). REBZIEEBRENIMFESQ) ©
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT
ASSETS (Continued)

(b)

Loss allowance in respect of trade receivables are recorded
using an allowance account unless the Group is satisfied
that recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the
loss allowance is written off against trade receivables
directly (see Note 3(p)(i)).

The movement in the loss allowance during the year, is as
follows:

19.

BWEERFARENEE @)

b) BEEREEERCEBBEBEBLSNEE
B BRTAEBEREREZ R KSR
& Az RRBEEERREREE
R (R 3()0) °

FABRBBZECIEHNT

2022 2021

=== —E-—4F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET T

Balance at beginning of the year F)eRER 17,328 21,236

Net loss allowance/(reversal of loss allowance) FEUL & 28R 3k 2 Bl B (E518

on trade receivables BB E ) 358 7,087 (3930)
Written off pakic! (126) -
Reversal of written off paskicEcd - 22
Balance at end of the year FRERRE 24,289 17,328
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT
ASSETS (Continued)

(©)  The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to ()
measure ECL which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables. To measure the ECL,
trade receivables have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The
expected loss rates are based on the historical loss rates as

19. BREERRRENEE @)

AEBRB(EBMBHRE L) F B
FEERMERER  MARKEERR
REMEHEHBLEE - RFFERBE
AL BREXRFBRELARERRR
FehafB8nAE - BHERLE RS
EBRRUHLEREE  ZHFERBURR

adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking FERFEERKFBEENINEBEHL
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the
ability of the customers to settle the receivables.

PR ER B B R AT IEER -

Weighted

average

lifetime
expected Gross Lifetime Net
credit carrying expected carrying
loss rate amount credit loss amount

ik B

2HEH 2HRH
ERBRALE IREAE EREX RREFHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TET FET
At 31 December 2022 R-E-—F
+=A=+-8
Not yet due i Hp 0% 34,614 (103) 34,511
1to 30 days past due BE1E30H 1% 18,132 (176) 17,956
31 to 60 days past due #HEI3I =60 H 1% 9,976 (136) 9,840
61 t0 90 days past due w61 =90 H 5% 6,251 (339) 5912
Over 90 days past due BEIZ 90 A 61% 38,738 (23,535) 15,203
107,711 (24,289) 83,422
At 31 December 2021 RZZ=——4%
+-A=+—H

Not yet due K@ 0% 33,029 (62) 32,967
1to 30 days past due #E1E30R 0% 18,606 (87) 18,519
31 to 60 days past due #HEI31 =60 H 1% 10,949 (96) 10,853
61to 90 days past due #mHE61 =90 H 2% 6,967 (148) 6,819
Over 90 days past due B R 00 A 58% 29,255 (16,935) 12,320
98,806 (17,328) 81,478

The lifetime expected loss allowance for contract assets is

not material.

d AHNEEMNZHEREMBERALTEK -
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20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIRVALUE THROUGH  20.
PROFIT OR LOSS

(a) Classification of financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets measured at FVTPL include the following:

BARBESARSNEMEE
h)%ﬂﬁﬁﬁ#lﬁémﬁﬂﬁé

i

BARBEFABENEBEESBRENUT

K18 :
2022 2021
—E-—F — O — —%&E
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FET
Current asset REBEE

— Listed debt securities — FHEBKES 2,673 8,731

— Redemption option of long-term — RETBRRES 2
convertible bonds HE R 2 37,408 87,005
40,081 95,736

(b) Amounts recognised in profit or loss

During the year, the following items were recognised in
profit or loss:

(b) REBHBRZEH
ERT I B BRPHER -

2022 2021

—=-— —E-—4F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FERT FAT
Fair value (losses)/net fair value gains on BARBEFABENEMEE
financial assets at FVTPL ZAREBE(EE) AREE

Woas %58 (55,655) 1,602

Loss on redemption of financial assets at FVTPL F& [Bl1E A 72 BEET A8
TRMEECERE - (70)
(c) Risk exposure and fair value () FriEYEREBERAAEETE

measurements

Information about the Group's exposure to price risk is
provided in Note 5(e). For information about the methods
and assumptions used in determining fair value refer to
Note 5(g).

B B8 7 55 [ P IED S (B AR LB O B R B Y
S  BEREEAREBZIELMAR
RERHIEES() ©
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21. CASH AND BANK BALANCES . RERIBITEER
Cash and cash equivalents comprise: RERBSEEBYWEIE
2022
—=E=-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
Bank deposits and cash in the consolidated FEMBIRRAR ZBRITERR

statement of financial position Be 58,137 80,712
Less: restricted bank balances* W ZREIRITAE (16,550) (10,550)

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated ~ #FAIRERERZBEERES

statement of cash flows EEW 41,587 70,162
* The restricted bank balances represent deposits made by the Group to secure * RRENRITARIERNEFB S FEUBRNEFNE T
certain banking facilities granted to the Group. RITE B HIE(R -
22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22, ENEXERFNEMENT
2022 2021
—ZE__ B —fF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FATT
Trade payables FEAT & ZEARK 50,278 57,613
Accrued expenses TEIRE M 209,274 213,988
Other payables Efth BT R 38,042 39,184
Contract liabilities (receipts in advance) EHBE (FRRERR) 76,313 72,531
Customers’ deposits L S 41,498 42,682
415,405 425,998
As at 31 December 2022, contract liabilities of approximately RZBEZZF+ZA=T—H 6HBEYD
HK$76,313,000 (2021: approximately HK$72,531,000) will be 76,313,000 70 ( ZZF = —F : #972,531,00058 7T)
recognised as revenue in the next reporting period. Revenue R T —mEREERBRA - HEZT =
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2022 that was TZA=T—HIEFE  sFABVEHNEESER
included in the contract liabilities balance at the beginning of B HERK AL 725310008 (B - —F : 4
the period amounted to approximately HK$72,531,000 (2021: 82,443,000 7T) °

approximately HK$82,443,000).
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22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 22. BNERRRREAENR @
An ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice date TENEEBET ZERRIZEEADMHE N T :

is set out as follows:

2022 2021
HKS$’000 HKS'000
FHT FHIT
0to 30 days 02 30H 5,947 8,694
31 to 60 days 31260H 17,430 10,266
61 to 90 days 61290H 12,301 8,633
Over 90 days B0 H 14,600 30,020
50,278 57,613
23. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS 23. BHEE®X

2022
—g-= -F

— = =

Current Non-current Total Current  Non-current Total

i RS BT R N Y
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL  TER TR TER  TER AR

Bank loan (Note (a)) ROIEZ(HiEE) 295,000 - 295,000 295,000 - 295,000
Loans from Celestial Pioneer K& Celestial Pioneer Limited
Limited (Note (b)) ZER (M7 (b)) - 296035 296,035 - - -

Total borrowings ERaE 295,000 296,035 591,035 295,000 - 295,000

Note: Biat

(a) The carrying amount of bank loan denominated in Hong Kong dollar as at 31 (@) R-ZE-Z—F+-H=+—H BT EZRITEX
December 2022 was HK$295,000,000 (2021: HKS295,000,000), which is BR [ 18 /& 295,000,000% 7T ( = & = — 4F : 295,000,000,%
unsecured, carries interest at variable rates and repayable on demand. L) EAEEH - IR E R B AR B IEE -

(b) The carrying amount of the loans from Celestial Pioneer Limited (a company (b) R-ZZF-——4F+=H=+—H " ¥ B Celestial Pioneer
holding 72.0% of the total number of issued shares of Forever Top and wholly- Limited (5 7k FH B 27 THR (748 21 72.0% J 1 B F L 4t
owned by the director, Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry) denominated in Hong Kong B2 EHMEZANA) UBTAEZEHEEEY
dollar as at 31 December 2022 was approximately HK$296,035,000 (2021: 296,035,000 (ZE = —4F : T;E ;L) HAEHH -
HKSNil), which are unsecured, carry interest at fixed rates ranging from 2.5% to JZ[EEFFIEI T 25% 2 3.0%518 + W EIEEHE A hi
3.0% per annum and with a term of 3 years from the date of the respective loan H BT BRI 4F -

agreements.
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23. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (Continued)  23. #5582 & (@)

The maturity of interest-bearing borrowings was as follows:

Loans from Celestial

Bank loan Pioneer Limited
X B Celestial

BITEX Pioneer Limited 2 &3
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-= —E-—&F ZEB-C —E-—&F ZEB-C —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TR TR THAT THAT THAT
Within 1 year or on demand 1 FRRIRERER 295,000 295,000 - - | 295,000 295,000
After 1 year but within 5 years TEREEESER - - | 296,035 - | 296,035 -
295,000 295,000 296,035 - 591,035 295,000

24, CONVERTIBLE BONDS
(@) The2019LCS

On 25 January 2019, the Company entered into the
unlisted long-term convertible securities subscription
agreement with Forever Top, pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to issue, and Forever
Top has conditionally agreed to subscribe for the unlisted
long-term convertible bonds issued in June 2019 (the
“2019 LCS"). On 4 June 2019, the issuance of the 2019 LCS
with the principal amount of HK$568,000,000 to Forever
Top was completed. The 2019 LCS would be convertible
into 4,544,000,000 new ordinary shares of the Company
(the Share(s)") upon full conversion of the 2019 LCS based
on the initial conversion price of HK$0.125 per conversion
share. The initial conversion price represents a premium of
approximately 8.7% over the closing price of HK$0.115 per
Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 25 January
2019, being the date on which the terms of the 2019 LCS
were fixed. The coupon rate of the 2019 LCS is 2.0% per
annum and payable quarterly. The 2019 LCS is convertible
into ordinary Shares at any time during the period from
the date of the issue of the 2019 LCS up to the close of
business on the maturity date, subject to the conversion
restrictions. The maturity date of the 2019 LCS is the end
of the tenth year from date of the issue of the 2019 LCS
and all of the remaining outstanding 2019 LCS will be
redeemed by the Company at 100% of the outstanding
principal amount of the 2019 LCS together with any
interest accrued but unpaid thereon.

24, MBRRESH

(a)

—E-NEREPTHRRES
RZEBE—hWhE—A=-+HB  KAAFEK
FEIFELEMERARBRESRERZ
Bt ARREBERGREZEZETMARAD
BBEMRAZSRBR - LENABTY
FLEMERBABMKRES(ZE—LFRH
AR ER]D) - R-ZE—hEAMA
B SEAK A K FH 81T A8 % B8 /4 568,000,000 75 7T
M- NFRIAJRERES - RIREY
A HIBRE TR H IR 01258 T BB A 1R
—E-NEFERETRERESE T
F R BB AR B 5 1] 53R A 4,544,000,000 B%
RARFEBIR (ARG ) o 9118 LI ER
RZE—-NF—A-+HBE(EBEE=ZZ—N
FREATRIR B S GRE B ) B3 AT
MESRISETRELNS% s —FT—N,
FROPTBBESFZESEBTF20%
BEEIN - ERBBHIERT - —F— N1
FRBMBERESFTE S NLEREA
B EAETHRESN RS EEEE
RHEIME BEEELRATER  —T—h&F
RHHBRELFZHSBEA-ZS-NEER
TR RR B 55517 B BB AT T F A RS
FIEFRIGEARTE SN ERPATHRK
BEBHAQNAR T NFRETBERK
BEAREERSE 0% ERETME K5t
BRIMNZFBER -
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24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(a)

(b)

The 2019 LCS (Continued)

On the date of issuance of the 2019 LCS, the fair value of
liability component of approximately HK$343,719,000 was
recognised and the fair value of approximately
HKS$224,281,000, representing equity element, was
recognised and presented in equity heading “equity
component of convertible bonds” at initial recognition.
The effective interest rate of the liability component was
7.69% per annum. As at 31 December 2022, the carrying
amount of liability component of the 2019 LCS is
approximately HK$405,277,000 (2021: approximately
HK$386,387,000).

The relevant fair value measurement was carried out by an
independent qualified professional valuer not connected
to the Group.

The 2021 LCS

On 27 January 2021, the Company entered into the
unlisted long-term convertible securities subscription
agreement with Forever Top, pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to issue, and Forever
Top has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the unlisted
long-term convertible bonds issued in March 2021 (the
“2021 LCS"). On 31 March 2021, the issuance of the 2021
LCS with the principal amount of HK$200,000,000 with a
maturity of 10 years by the Company to Forever Top was
completed. The 2021 LCS would be convertible into
2,941,176,470 new ordinary Shares upon full conversion of
the 2021 LCS based on the initial conversion price of
HKS$0.068 per conversion share and the coupon rate of the
2021 LCS is 2.0% per annum and payable quarterly. The
Company may at any time on or after the date of issue of
the 2021 LCS by giving not less than 10 business days’
written notice to the holder(s) of the 2021 LCS to redeem
all or part of the 2021 LCS at the outstanding principal
amount of the 2021 LCS together with all accrued but
unpaid interest.

R ES (&)

(a)

(b)

—=—

NERBIRKRE S (@)

RET_E—NFREPIRKRESHE
#9343,719000 B LR B BEEK I D A EE
BIERR - M #9224,281,0008 L A 7t B E
(AR Ex)BEER - WK ERE
R IATRESNESART D | 27 54
o BEAKBAONERERNEF769% °

RZEZZF+-_A=+—H ' =ZZ—AN
FRTBERBFNHEBETOHOEREEED
405,277,000/ 70 ( —F ——4F : %7386,387,000
BIT) ©

AR EEFEREAKEHEREDN
B ABRBEMERMETT

—E-FRETERES
RZE-—F—A=-++H KAFHEK
FEIZIEEMERBATRRESRE R
Bt AR BB REREZEITM KA
HRERBR T -_—FZA%TMNIEL
mEHAARBES( 2T —FREAAKR

KESH])) RZE-Z—F=A=+—8"
$”ﬁanﬁﬂmﬂ¥ﬁ$éﬁﬁ
200000000 TTEFEAI0F 2 T = —
FRPMBRES RIBENGLIBES
A% R AR D 006878 LABE K — T - —F
RHABRESE  —S-—FREAKR
% 38 5 0] 3305 2941,176 470 E @M - B
—E - FREPVBRELF I EER AT
F20%  WEEEZM - RABAIRETZ

T FRPUBRBREFHFEHRZERER
M-_ZE-—FRATBERESFEEARD
FORIOEEXENERBAY K%
T FREABRELFNAEEASEE
B2IHE RHERMNF EMER 22 BH
R EREABRRKRE
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24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)
(b) The 2021 LCS (Continued)

On the date of issuance of the 2021 LCS, the fair value of
liability component of approximately HK$131,806,000 was
recognised, the fair value of approximately
HKS$144,610,000, representing equity element, was
recognised and presented in equity heading “equity
component of convertible bonds” and the fair value of the
redemption option of approximately HK$78,061,000 was
recognised as financial assets at FVTPL at initial
recognition. The effective interest rate of the liability
component was 6.88% per annum. As at 31 December
2022, the carrying amount of liability component and
redemption option of the 2021 LCS is approximately
HK$140,763,000 (2021: approximately HK$135,542,000)
and approximately HK$37,408,000 (2021: approximately
HK$87,005,000) respectively.

The relevant fair value measurement was carried out by an
independent qualified professional valuer not connected
to the Group.

25. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(@) Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group's consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s
individual components of equity between the beginning
and the end of the year are set out below:

24, TR ESF @)

(b)

—EC-FRETHRERES @
RET T —FRATRKRESH
#9131,806000 8 LR B BEHEK I D A ERE
BIERR - M#I144,610,00078 T A 7t EE
(Eﬂﬁéﬁﬁx%)a%ﬁﬁw I 1A W1 IR FE R B
fT?ﬁHQ{E#H’J%ﬁn%ﬁ;ﬂH 3] 25 A
T BB BRI RE A R 5 (B E 478,061,000
;‘%ﬁﬁéﬁ?ﬁiﬂlﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬂaﬁﬁﬁ;m
TREE - BEBINE ,T@%IJTZ%
688% - AT __—_F+_/f=+—8"
ES *ﬁﬁﬁﬂ—”ﬁﬂx EEMBER, LE
REEMIREESD 541407630004 7T
(: T — — 4 #9135542,00078 7T ) K A4
37,408,000 T ( =& = — 4 : #J87,005,000
BT o

E\I’ %

HEALREEFEREASEHERED
B ABREXMGERMET -

25. EX - REEKRE

(a)

ez Bk 1 2 B

AR B kR S R 1D ﬁ%&i%ﬁ%
ZHEEARERERERBR - K1
KBRS RR A I A RAF A K #IWT-
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25. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 25. EX - FRERKRE @
(Continued)
(@) Movements in components of equity (a) REZRHMEEE (&)
(Continued)

Capital and Reserves

BAR R

Equity
component of Total
Accumulated  Share option convertible equity/

Share capital losses reserve bonds (deficit)

TRRES 0/

Company i ZiEE  ERERE BR%s (E4)
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000

TR TR TRT  TER TER

Balanceat1January2021 R-B--F-fF—-Az&t 7928975 (6,986,313) 17468 24281 1,184411

Changesinequityfor2021: —Z-—FHEREH:
Loss and total comprehensive  FREERZ NS EE

income for the year - (343,076) - - (343,076)
Issue of convertible bonds BT BRES - - - 145809 145809
Transactions costsincurredin -~ FIARESEER T HHAR

respect of convertible bonds - - - (1,199) (1,199)

Balanceat 31 December2021 A-Z2--£+-A=+-AK
and 1 January 2022 —E-_C"E-R-Auis 7,928,975 (7,329,389) 17,468 368,891 985,945

Changesinequityfor2022: —E-—FHEZEEF:
Loss and total comprehensive  FREERZ NS EE
income for the year - (1,184,286) - - (1,184,286)

Transfer of reserve upon lapse of ~ FEIRE & MU R

share option - 17,468 (17,468) - -
Balance at31 December2022 R=Z-—#+-HA=+-H
k3] 7,928,975 (8,496,207) - 368,891 (198,341)
(b) Dividends (b) BRE
The Board does not recommend the payment of any EEeTERMBE_T_—_F+_H
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: —t+t—HLFEREAARE(ZZE=—

HKSNil). BT o
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25. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(Continued)

(c) Share capital

(i

(ii)

Issued share capital

25. EX - FRERERE @
N

()

(i)

EBITRA

2022 2021
—s-= ===
Number of Number of
shares HK$’000 shares HK$'000
B EE FET & EE T
Ordinary shares, issued and B #1T M2 2
fully paid: HOEAL
At 1 January n—HA—H 7,134,623,520 7,928,975 | 7,134623,520 7,928,975
At 31 December Rt+-A=+—H |7,134,623,520 7,928,975 | 7,134623,520 7,928,975

In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, the ordinary shares of the
Company do not have a par value.

The holders of ordinary shares of the Company are
entitled to receive dividends as declared from time
to time and are entitled to one vote per share at
shareholders’ meetings of the Company. All ordinary
shares of the Company rank equally with regard to
the Company’s residual assets.

Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme was adopted by the
Company on 24 May 2018 which shall be valid and
effective for a period of ten years from the date of
adoption.

On 15 June 2018, Share Options carrying the rights
to subscribe for a total of 279,200,000 Shares were
granted to certain eligible persons under the Share
Option Scheme at an exercise price of HK$0.210 per
Share.

(ii)

RIEBFBCRTHEDI) F 1351
AR R (A o

ZAN/N

AR EBERBEALZEREGAR
ATRAERRERRERAS L&
B — R R - 2ERA R EE B
RARRNHBEE LRTFE -

BB
ARAR-T-N\FRAA-+HBK
MERRERT R At BB B 8
REEH T FHRERR -

R=ZZ—NFRA+EAB  BIEER
AR WA EANRBRE S K
279,200,000 B i 7 = BE IR BE B IR 1T{E
BERRH2I0BTRTETAER
At
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25. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(c) Share capital (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The fair value of the Share Options granted at the
date of grant, 15 June 2018, was estimated at
approximately HK$20,771,000. The fair value is
determined by Binomial model using inputs,
including share price of HK$0.15 per Share, exercise
price of HK$0.21 per Share, volatility of 66%, risk-free
rate of 2.25% and dividend yield of 0%.

As a result of the Rights Issue (as defined thereafter),
the number of Shares issuable and the exercise
price per Share payable upon exercise of the
outstanding Share Options granted under the Share
Option Scheme were adjusted from 279,200,000 to
287,240,960 and from HK$0.210 to HK$0.204
respectively.

No Share Option was exercised during the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. During the
year ended 31 December 2022, Share Options
carrying the rights to subscribe 241,562,240 Shares
was lapsed (2021: Nil). As at 31 December 2022,
there were no outstanding exercisable Share
Options carrying the rights to subscribe Shares
(2021: 241,562,240 Shares).

Rights Issue

On 25 January 2019, the Company announced a
fund raising proposal comprising a rights issue on
the basis of three (3) new ordinary Shares of the
Company (the “Rights Shares”) for every four (4)
existing Shares then held at the subscription price
of HKS$0.1 per Rights Share (the "Rights Issue”). On 4
June 2019, the Company completed the Rights
Issue of 928,603,364 Rights Shares for gross
proceeds of approximately HK$92,860,000 (net
proceeds of approximately HK$84,503,000).

BRBHEBAEARAR —ZEFFRH
25. EXR - FERKRE @
(€ BRA @)
(i) BERFEE (@)
REHEHH -_ZE—N\FAAA+HER

(iii)

2 BE A A A (B{E{HET#9 20,771,000
BT ARNEESER-IBNELGE
B AR (B IERESRIZGD 01578
TC > ITEEERED 21T KE
b 2R 66% - 8 [ Rg ) 2 2.25% K g B 2%
0%) EEE °

R (EE R TX) - TERER
PR St B3R 0 B 1) R 7T 2 B8 A A 1 AT
FTERITOBRMHEE RENERITEE

5 Bl 27920000008 FH OB =
287240960 1% © M ERO0210B THERE
020487 °

BE_Z-—_FR-F-_—F+=A
=+—HILFE SEBRECET
F-HEz_T-_—_F+=-A=+—8H
LIEFE - B T 3R B 241,562,240 %
B (ZE=—F  #)NERED X
e M _ZT-_—_F+-_A=+—8 "

B AR TE 2 0] FATE M AR RR

BAD (T = —4F : 241,562,240 AR
7)) K BERRHE -

R

R-ZZE—-hhFE—A=-+HB XA F
EMEEERZ BREEEARERS

BHENGOBRIBERDERE =Q)BRA
NaF g B (TR, ) AR -
RBEATREKBR GBI H
) e R—T—AENAWABE AR
A) 58 AR 3517 928,603,364 AL i AL AL 17 2
MRS - TS SRR EE 492,860,000 75 7T
(P15 3R T8 FEA4) 84,503,000/8 7T ) ©
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25. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

Capital reserve

The capital reserve is non-distributable. In 2004, the
issued share capital of a subsidiary under the Group
was reduced (“Capital Reduction”) and the credit
arising from the Capital Reduction was applied to
eliminate the accumulated losses standing in the
statement of profit or loss of that subsidiary as at 30
September 2004. An undertaking was given to the
Court by the subsidiary in connection with the
Capital Reduction (the “Undertaking”). Pursuant to
the Undertaking, any future recoveries or reversals
of provisions and depreciation made by the
subsidiary in respect of certain assets (“relevant
assets”) held by the subsidiary as at 30 September
2004 to the extent that such recoveries exceed the
written down amounts of the relevant assets, up to
an aggregate amount of HK$1,958,524,266 (the
“Limit"), will be credited to a capital reserve. While
any debt or liability of, or claim against, the
subsidiary at the date of the Capital Reduction
remains outstanding and the person entitled to the
benefit thereof has not agreed, the capital reserve
shall not be treated as realised profits.

The Limit may be reduced by the amount of any
increase in the issued share capital of the subsidiary
or upon a capitalisation of distributable reserves.
The Limit may also be reduced after the disposal or
other realisation of the relevant assets by the
amount of the charge to provision or depreciation
made in relation to such asset as at 30 September
2004 less reversal as a result of such disposal or
realisation. In the event that the amount standing to
the credit of the capital reserve exceeds the Limit,
the subsidiary shall be at liberty to transfer the
amount of any such excess to the general reserves
of the subsidiary, which shall become available for
distribution. As at 31 December 2022, the Limit of
the capital reserve, as reduced by HK$109,589 (2021:
HK$2,078,387) related to recoveries and reversals of
provisions of the relevant assets, was
HK$756,183,055 (2021: HK$756,073,466), and the
amount standing to the credit of the capital reserve
was HK$13,984,483 (2021: HK$13,984,483).

25. EXR - RERRE @

d) RFEEZEERBEH

(i)

- ENC

§$ﬁﬁETTTﬁ/\/)§ \—7§EP;E|
FoAEEBET-MBARRFED
%ﬁ%$G§$ﬁﬁD §$ﬁﬁ§
B REREZNE AN _ZZ0

Eﬂﬂ:+a&ﬁmﬁwm%ﬁ%
B ZMBERARIERERNFIF—FM
VEBT VR H R ([FE ) o 1R RRARIE -
FABBEKKERESERITES R
ZWBARR_EZEWNFNA=1H
BENETEECREIHEEE
E) - E BB EELHRE 2
FREE © 7B A1 % 501,958,524,266 78
ﬁﬁﬁﬁnmiﬁﬁﬁﬁké$%ﬁ

c HZMBRARINAREENREANR

%EZE% BEXIRE RREA
AERBRERBERBESSEOE
Ao BRI EARFEE TR IEE ZRA
e

PR 28 A 2 [ /8 R B B 31T A A9 (E ]
AN Sk A 9 I RE 4 B T B AR B
R o BRERJN A gk B ok B IR AE
BEMBRLY  BLNESBEREZEER
—ZEENMFNA=THEFHR ZBE
%%%milﬁﬁimEEEZQ
e Bt ANBARBZ 2 HBHLR
BB AR BREGHBENEEE
BaH—MEBASIKRE - B =
T oF+-A=t+—H BARGHZ
FREEN IR AR B E 2 B kB &
BEEB1ER 109,589 L (ZE = —4 ¢
2,078,387 JT ) 2 756,183,055 7% T ( =
——4F : 75607346678 70) © Mat A
BARFE 22 A 5139844838 7T
TT - —4F 11398448378 7T) °
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25.

26.

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 25. BEX - EERKRE @

(Continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued) (d FEz2HEERBEN@E
(ii) Exchange reserve (i) IMEREE

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in Note 3(n).

(e) Distributability of reserves (e)

At 31 December 2022, the aggregate amount of reserves
of the Company available for distribution to equity
shareholders of the Company, as calculated under the
provisions of Part 6 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, was HKSNil (2021: HKSNil).

SMNE RS B IR TR MR E BN R
BMRELZINERIRERE - LHE
EAR IR 51 BB 3 3(n) B B R BUR B
2 e

EIRG: 3 S
RIB-Z—F+-A=+—8 ' ®EBA
AEMY 2 B6 B MRTFTE + AAFE A
HORFARAEZR Rz HERBEAS
BI(ZBZ—F  TBIT) °

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 26. MEMBEMRRERAZAERIE

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated (a)
statement of financial position represents:

The People’s Republic of China taxation hEE A RAFEFIE

géﬂzfﬁﬂﬁﬁiwziﬁﬁﬁﬁlﬁ’@

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—4F

HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT TR

92 81
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26. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 26. MEBBEMRRRAZAETE @)
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities (b) EERNELEHREBEEEREE !
recognised:
The components of deferred tax liabilities/(assets) FRRAEELEA M BARRRERNEL
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial MEEE(AE)NERSDS REZEH I
position of the Group and the movements during the year T

are as follows:

Depreciation

allowances in
excess of
the related
depreciation Tax losses
BHEESTRE
Deferred tax arising from EERENIR ZIMERHE REEE k)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT TAT THT
At1 January 2021 RZE-—-F—-F—H 49,994 (350,519) (300,525)
(Credited)/charged to the RigaEERT(GIA)/
consolidated statement of N (A2 9)
profit or loss (Note 9(a)) (3,125) 14,149 11,024
At 31 December 2021 R-E-—-F+-A=+—H 46,869 (336,370) (289,501)
At1 January 2022 RZE-_-F%—f—H 46,869 (336,370) (289,501)
Charged to the RiraBEHEET
consolidated statement of k& (K171 90@)
profit or loss (Note 9(a)) 3,397 183,960 187,357

At 31 December 2022 R-ZE-=—F+=-A=+-H 50,266 (152,410) (102,144)
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26. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities
recognised: (Continued)

26. MEFBEMRRRAZAETE @)

(b) ERINEEHREERER:

(%)

2022 2021
—E_—F B —4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHIT
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the RERE IR R ER 2
consolidated statement of financial position  ¥EIEFI 1B & B R E (102,144) (289,501)
(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised: () HARBANELEREEE :

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in
respect of unused tax losses amounting to approximately
HK$6,336,642,000 (2021: approximately HK$4,604,097,000)
and deductible temporary differences of approximately
HKS$54,115,000 (2021: approximately HK$23,447,000) due
to the uncertainty in utilising the unused tax losses in the
relevant entities. These unused tax losses have no expiry
date.

7RG B0 AR B AR A5 PR B S 5 1B 496,336,642,000
BIL(ZEZ—F 1 4946040970007 70) &
AR B M ZE R 49541150008 T (=&
% 1 #23447,00078 0 ERIELE T IEE
E -REAFTRAMEBEEENRGAMSE
BEATHEN ZEXAEAREEEL
#EEZIHA -
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27. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 27.
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities is

BMERBMELREZHER

BMEEBMELTRBZHERET

as follows:
Interest-
Convertible bearing
bonds Leases  borrowings Total
ARRES HE BEER e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT THT FET FAET
At 1 January 2021 R-Z-—%—A—H 368,881 109,586 295,000 773,467
Changes from cash flows Ben#s
Proceeds from issue of BT B S FTS RUA
convertible bonds 200,000 - - 200,000
Transaction costs upon issue of BITABIRE AR
convertible bonds R PR (1,645) - - (1,645)
Principal elements of HERFAEEHH
lease payments - (37,376) - (37,376)
Other changes Hib g
Interest expenses B 21,242 - - 21,242
Inception of leases AIVHAE - 5,669 - 5,669
Equity component of AR EFER DD
convertible bonds (144,610) - - (144,610)
Inception of redemption BN RBARRESD
option of long-term Empidyd
convertible bonds 78,061 - - 78,061
Lease modification HEEET - (2,757) - (2,757)
At 31 December 2021 and R-EB-_—-#+-A=+—-H
1 January 2022 E=—Z-—=—K—-HA—H 521,929 75,122 295,000 892,051
Changes from cash flows ReREH
Drawdown of RS EER
interest-bearing borrowings - - 300,000 300,000
Repayment of BEFEEN
interest-bearing borrowings - - (3,965) (3,965)
Principal elements of HENZARS I D
lease payments - (41,108) - (41,108)
Other changes HibE
Interest expenses AMBEZH 24,111 - - 24,111
Inception of lease HEM® - 11,654 - 11,654
Lease modification HEBET - (590) - (590)
At 31 December 2022 R-ZBE-=—F+=-A=+—H 546,040 45,078 591,035 1,182,153
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28. COMMITMENTS

(@) Capital commitments outstanding as at 31 December

(b)

2022 were as follows:

RZZEZZF+ZA=+—H REHE
B2 EAREENAT

2022 2021
—s-= T4
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FAT

Property, plant and equipment WE - B R
— Contracted but not provided for — BETHEHRETR 6,709 5335

Programming library

— Contracted but not provided for — BT E M RETR 5,301 16,214
12,010 21,549

At 31 December 2022, the total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases are

payable as follows:

RZE-_—F+-_A=+—H  FaHH
KEREE T 2 ARSERENKEBEA
AT EARR S 45

2022 2021

—E-—F —E -4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTERT FAT

— Within 1 year 780 1,642
— After 1 year but within 5 years — 1 F&MESFAN - 182
780 1,824

The operating lease commitment as at 31 December 2022
represents the total future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable short-term leases and low-value

leases which are not included in lease liabilities.

N-E-—F+-_A=+—HzZKEHE
AEARE A HEEHREEE N 2 AKX
BRAENFBBERATAEEABZEE
BERE -
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28. COMMITMENTS (Continued) 28. A& (@)
(c) Future operating lease income () BEKEHEURA

(d)

The total future minimum lease payments receivable in
respect of decoders under non-cancellable operating
leases are as follows:

Within 1 year

1FR

RETAHELEHENBBRERZ R
KEEMREMNRARLT

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—4F

HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TR

3,014 3973

Funding commitment under television
broadcasting licences are as follows:

(i)

(i)

Upon acceptance of the renewal of the domestic
pay television programme service licence of HKC on
29 May 2017 for the period of 12 years from 1 June
2017 to 31 May 2029, HKC has become subject to a
commitment of a 6-year investment plan of
HK$3,447 million from 2017 to 2023, comprising
HK$251 million of capital investment and HK$3,196
million of programming investment in content
including in-house channels containing self-
produced and/or acquired programmes as well as
in acquired channels.

Subsequently to the year end of 2022, the
Communications Authority of Hong Kong (the “CA")
has decided to waive the requirement for HKC to
comply with the 6-year investment plan for 2017 to
2023 under the domestic pay television programme
service licence.

In accordance with the terms of the domestic free
television programme service licence issued to FTL,
FTL should implement the investment plan for the
period form 31 May 2022 to 30 May 2028
amounting to approximately HK$ 1,330 million.

(d)

EREBERCESAENT

(i)

(i)

RZE—+tFRAZTNBHASE
BREEEN AN EERE B RGE
B(A-ZE—tFA—BE_Z
“NAFRA=+—HAHNF)%
BHERBRER_T—LFE2=F
= = F A HA 6 F 1R IE 3,447,000,000
THREE BREEAKRE
251,000000% 7t K & B #& &
3,196,000,0007% 7L (B IE A B 4EE (B
FEERKSKINEEE ) RINEIEE
ZRR)

R-TBZ_FR% BEBAEHE
BRIBABRDERERRERESR
ST AN U B AR AR B AR R IR IR
TELEFEFT-FIFRE
FHEIERTE ©

BEFETAYVEAN AN REER
&l EHE%%HEE”Z%?X SYERER
—ECFRAZFT—HEZZ =N
iﬂﬂ TtTHHEMETLSEY
1,330,000,000 8 T H I & 5T & -



28. COMMITMENTS (Continued)

(d) Funding commitment under television
broadcasting licences are as follows:
(Continued)

(iif)

In accordance with the terms of the Unified Carrier
Licence issued to FTL, FTL has issued a performance
bond in favour of the Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region and the balance
as at 31 December 2022 was HK$6,000,000 (2021:
HKSNil). Under the terms of the performance bond,
unless the CA otherwise approves or determines:

— within 9 months from the date on which the
CA granted the formal approval for FTL to
employ spectrum as an additional means of
transmission for its licensed domestic free
television programme service (the “Formal
Approval”), FTL should broadcast a new
channel for domestic free television
programme service (in addition to the two
designated integrated channels) each day;

— within 15 months from the date on which the
CA granted the Formal Approval, the licensed
domestic free television programme service
shall be available for reception by not less
than 99% population coverage of Hong Kong;

— within the first 12-month period after the
commencement date of the transmission of
the domestic free television programmes on
the designated integrated channels of FTL
through the spectrum assigned (being 1 April
2022), FTL shall incur not less than HK$100
million as the capital and operating
expenditure (including programming cost)
for providing the licensed domestic free
television programme services; and

ERRBBANERAT —TEZFFR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fm e MG RRE

28. F&IE (@)

d EREERERESHEENT:

(&)

(i)

BEEETHYEENGRAEEEE
BZIGER - TYPERDAEBEANT
BEBFELEHRE RZTE-_—
FH+ZA=+—H 2% /56000000
BT(ZZEZ—F T8 - BRIERE
WIRBEESK - BRIEBARSITHOE
gORE - BA

— REMBRBLEA#MEFTYERRE
RREERTEAL L EER
B R R RFIEEXT A (TE
RAEDEREFIBARN - &
PEREU AL EERE A
AR5 B2 f — (@ S8 28 (BR M fE 45
EfRE BN BRI

— RBIARBREBRHERAZ AR
FPISEAA A BEEE
REBREEANEEEERND
7 99% B9 A B HE L

— RERESEMBEETYE
548 E4r & HA 18 B 4R 16 AU b
REERHEAHEI =
FOMA—H)RBFEREARN -
AP EREHBERI M EES
REBRBNERAREERS
(BIEEN B 2IERA) BT LR
100,000,000 7T : &
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28. COMMITMENTS (Continued)

(d) Funding commitment under television
broadcasting licences are as follows:
(Continued)

(i) (Continued)

— within the second 12-month period after the
commencement date of the transmission of
the domestic free television programmes on
the designated integrated channels of FTL
through the spectrum assigned (being 1 April
2022), FTL shall incur not less than HK$100
million as the capital and operating
expenditure (including programming cost)
for providing the licensed domestic free
television programme services.

29. GUARANTEES

As at 31 December 2022, a corporate guarantee had been
provided by the Company to a bank of HK$400,000,000 (2021:
HK$400,000,000) in respect of the facility of borrowing up to
HK$400,000,000 (2021: HK$400,000,000) to a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, of which HK$295,000,000 (2021:
HK$295,000,000) was utilised by the subsidiary of the Company.
On 24 March 2023, the above-mentioned corporate guarantee
provided by the Company to a bank was revised from
HK$400,000,000 to HK$295,000,000 in respect of the renewed
facility of borrowing up to HK$295,000,000 to a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, of which HK$295,000,000 was utilised
by the subsidiary of the Company.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had made arrangements
with a bank to provide two separate performance bonds to the
counterparties amounting to HK$39,830,000 (2021:
HK$33,830,000), of which HK$9,830,000 (2021: HK$3,830,000) was
secured by bank deposits. The performance bonds are to
guarantee in favour of the counterparties the Group’s
performance in fulfilling the obligations under a contract and the
requirements as set out in the licence issued by a regulatory
body.

28.

29.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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TRIE ()

d EREBER2ESARNOT
()

iy ()

— REBRESENEEZEFYE
BRI E ,mAﬁEﬁ%ﬁﬁA%Eﬁmﬂm
REERHEBHEI =
imﬂ—a)tﬂraﬁ_mumﬂ
HER - %tl‘%ﬁﬁf 5 AR
e BEREBRFNERR
ggﬁﬂi(“%ﬁﬁ%{’ﬁﬁzﬁ)
B 100,000,000 7 JT ©

iR
R-ZE-_—F+-A=+—H8 AQFHR—HE2z
:éiBﬁJ* A FTIERR A A 25 % 400,000,000 8 7T (=
—4F 1 400,000,000 78 7T) B FIEE R — M
fﬁfﬂmfﬁ"71&*1%400000000/%75(_" %
400,000,000 7C) * AR AIMBAREBAEF
295,000,000/ 7L ( ZZF = —4F : 295,000,000 7T °
R-ZE-=ZF=ZA-+WH KRR IR
e Ay F it A 7] #& £R B3 400,000,000 7% JT & ;.T?%
29500000078 7% * MAAAR—HEEHR B A
& & & 29500000058 ;T B9 B X H EP
295,000,000 & LR AN A R B A RIB A ©

R-ZE-_—F+-_A=+—8 AEHEEFKIE
TR MY F 77 1R R IE 8 3 B 491R 75 39,830,000
B or( = F = — £ :338300008 L) H A
9830000/%75(_-=——¢ 3,830,000 78 7T ) LAR
TERERRT - BOREBEEAHFHRELRE
EEEITANE NETULRTAEERERERM
[RERFTERE ©
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30. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30. EBEA T 2HENEARS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere BEAEBGAMBHEREMMTIEZRIRZS
in the consolidated financial statements of the Group, the Group L& REBBE-_ZE-_—_F+-_A=1+—
entered into the following material related party transactions HIEFEANG2ETIBEBEALTZBHERR
during the year ended 31 December 2022: VR
2022 2021
—E=-= —TE — —%E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Finance costs paid to Forever Top ERFRkAZREEA 15,360 14,371
Finance costs paid to Celestial Pioneer Limited B {7 F Celestial Pioneer Limited 2
mEBH 4,528 _
Hardware maintenance paid to a company wholly B FHEZ2EHE 2 ABZ
owned by a director EIHHEE R 1,680 1,680
Rentals and related management fees on ENTEBEEARZMERS R
properties paid to a related company RS 883 963
Key management personnel remuneration FTEEBABZHME
Remuneration for key management personnel, including FEEBEABZHE (REEN THEI10FEE
amounts paid to the Company’s Directors as disclosed in Note ARNREERAEETEEEAB ZHMKEZ
10 and other members of key management of the Group, is as RIE) FF T -
follows:

2022 2021

=== —E-—4F

HK$'000 HKS$'000

FHET FATT

Short-term employee benefits RAE TREA 5,717 4,107
Post-employment benefits BB R R A 251 176

5,968 4,283
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31. COMPANY LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL  31. A @R RE

POSITION

2022 2021
—E-
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET TET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB REE 5 17
Investments in subsidiaries RSB AR ZIE 17(a) 3,000 3,000
Amounts due from subsidiaries Y= NGIE 5 1,333,449 2,104,543
1,336,454 2,107,560
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments and other receivables TE AT R N E A FE MR 1,703 1,363
Loan to a subsidiary A E AR ER 16,375 16,375
Financial assets at fair value through BARBEFABRN
profit or loss TRVEE 37,408 87,005
Restricted bank balances SR HIRITAE R 3,830 3,830
Cash and bank balances Be MIRTTES 13,488 27,825
72,804 136,398
Total assets HEE 1,409,258 2,243,958
EQUITY e
Capital and reserves B EE
Share capital R A 25(c) 7,928,975 7,928,975
Reserves ER 25(a) (8,127,316) (6,943,030)
Total (deficit)/equity (A R (198,341) 985,945
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31. COMPANY LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 31. 2 8B R T @)
POSITION (Continued)

2022 2021
—EBCfF —E-—4F
HK$'000 HKS1000
FET FAT
LIABILITIES =R
Non-current liability kRBAE
Convertible bonds AR E S 546,040 521,929
Current liabilities RENEE
Accrued expenses and other payables B3R & i &2 Hfih B~ 7% 3,110 3,541
Amounts due to subsidiaries FETHI B 2 RIBR X 1,058,449 732,543
1,061,559 736,084
Total liabilities waE 1,607,599 1,258,013
Total equity and liabilities mEZREE 1,409,258 2,243,958
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on REEFEN T -_—FZA-_T+HBRBNER
27 March 2023. RN o
Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick
WRAF L BRERE
Director Director

EE EF
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32. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

1.

On 9 January 2023, HKC (an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company), as the borrower, entered into
a loan agreement with Celestial Pioneer Limited (a
company holding 72.0% of the total number of issued
shares of Forever Top) as the lender, pursuant to which,
HKC obtained an unsecured loan with a principal amount
of HK$80,000,000 for a term of 3 years from the date of the
said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 5.0% per
annum.

In view of the rapidly changing media landscape in Hong
Kong, and fierce competition among global Pay TV content
providers and Pay TV operators, HKC submitted an
application for the Licence Termination to the Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. On 14
February 2023, the Chief Executive in Council has approved
the Licence Termination with effect from 1 June 2023.
Following the approval, HKC remains bound by the terms
and conditions of its Pay TV Licence until the Licence
Termination with effect from 1 June 2023, and thereafter
HKC will remain as a subsidiary of the Company and the
Group will continue to provide Free TV programme
services and other businesses as usual, including without
limitations broadband telecommunications services,
telephony services, network construction and mobile
services, allowing a more flexible utilisation and investment
of HKC's talents and resources. For details, please refer to
the Company’s announcement dated 14 February 2023.
Due to the Licence Termination, as well as the assessment
of the business prospect of the Group in light of the latest
market environment, the Group recognised the non-cash
write down of deferred tax assets and non-cash
impairment losses on programming library, property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets, other related intangible
assets and contract acquisition costs for the year ended 31
December 2022. For details, please refer to Note 7 and
Note 8 to consolidated financial statements.

. REHEEE

1.

NZZE-ZF—ANB  BRERERQA
M2 &N B AR (fEABRA)E Celestial
Pioneer Limited (3 Bk FHE 1T 1D 42 %
720% M)A (ERER AN L EFRE

Bt - B HEBRIVS AN £ §8 480,000,000 7

TTHEBIRE - 8 LA BRI B A
ARH=F FMER% -
ENEBREMSBBESRNRE RN

EESNDHENRKEEREERHE
Hz=Rzl - ﬁf&ﬁﬁaﬁ% SERIfTHE
HIFERFHRIEER - RZTE_=F_ A
+TMOA - THREE HﬁLBZA**ETtt/EE
TEC=FNA—HBEER - ERLE
ERE/MTEAWBERE RGN G
HAOR BEERZE_=FA—HKL
R HEERERDARAFNMER
Al MASBGEENERERBERGD
B AR R HEMER - ’E%1ﬂ$5ﬁﬁ@%ﬁ§5_
AR - BERT - MEER fﬁ@JLgﬂ
R - ERE ?ﬁﬁ’]/\ﬁ'&ﬁﬁ—fﬁ
ERAREE - ﬁ%@a¥|§§§%ﬁ$ﬁjﬁﬁﬁ
AT =F_ATHAMNQRE - HECZ
S FF AT —HLEFE  ARK
IEER - URRBSEFMSRREREER
EBAI =0 AEERRBELERIEE
ENFREMRAREREE  WE - &
EREHE TREEE HttBEBEREEA
ERGHAWERANIFERSFEEE - F
B IER 2 MR e S MR M a7 R HIFES -



EREEBAERLE —ZTZ-FFH 263
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AFMGIER

(Expressed in HKS million)
(ABEE&BTHIR)

Results E

Revenue WA 1,163 1,161 1,069 989 895

Operating expenses K B (1,652) (1,525) (1,303) (1,298) (1,483)
Loss from operations KL EE (489) (364) (234) (309) (588)
Interest income F B UL A 2 5 - 1 1

Finance costs A E R (10) (38) 41 (46) (56)
Non-operating income/ B (F)

(expenses), net F R 42 - - 2 (55)
Loss before taxation FRELRIES 1R (455) (397) (275) (352) (698)
Income tax ABIE m - m (1) (188)
Loss for the year FANEE (456) (397) (276) (363) (886)
Attributable to: FEfh -

Equity shareholders A THERIR

of the Company (456) (397) (276) (363) (886)
Loss from operations K EE (489) (364) (234) (309) (588)
Depreciation "o Y E (it 196 226 220 215 207
Amortisation of other Hib A & sy

intangible assets - 2 4 4 4
Impairment losses BB EE - - _ _ 241
Loss from operations before  RINERITE - Efth

depreciation, M EEEER

amortisation of other BEBER 2

intangible assets and K E R )

impairment losses o2 (293) (136) (10) (90) (136)
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AFMGIER

(Expressed in HKS million)
(ABEE&BTHIR)

Assets and Liabilities EERAE

Non-current assets ETEEE 1,335 1,350 1,237 1,135 621

Current assets mENEE 343 529 371 351 258

Total assets BEE 1,678 1,879 1,608 1,486 879

Share capital R A 7,844 7,929 7,929 7,929 7,929

Reserves s (7,120) (7,289) (7,564) (7,783) (8,669)

Total equity/(deficit) RARERRER

attributable to equity FE(RAERERS (E5AL)
shareholders
of the Company 724 640 365 146 (740)

Total liabilities #AaE 954 1,239 1,243 1,340 1,619

Total liabilities and equity waELER 1,678 1,879 1,608 1,486 879

Notes: Bt -

1. The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 “Leases” from 1 January 2019 retrospectively but has 1. REEE=F—NF—FA— BBV EHREEYFHREEL)
not restated comparatives for the previous reporting period, as permitted under the FEi69 [HE ] BIREZERIRI T BERKEAG  WHEE
specific transitional provisions in the standard. Depreciation of right-of-use assets I F—EHRRHER T R T - —F1+=-A=+—H
recognised during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 were R-F=Z—F+ZA=1+—HIFFEEREFREETE S
approximately HKS41.3 million and approximately HKS41.0 million respectively. FlI#941,300,000% 7T % #9 41,000,000 7T °

2. The Group presents the loss from operations before depreciation, amortisation of other 2. KEBZIRIGITE - B b E B EE R 55 R 5 (8 fE5 18 AT ATAS

intangible assets and impairment losses, a non-HKFRS financial measure, which is a
supplemental information in relation to the operating performance of the Group to
enable the stakeholders to evaluate and compare the performance across the same
industry.

EEIE - ERHFEBUMBERE LAY Bt B - JrH A FEEE
EREFTER RO ETHERICERF—TTHARE
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